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Message from the Chair
The Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service continues to be a 
leader in the delivery of quality health care. During the reporting period 
the service delivered safer care, more care, on time and closer to where our 
patients live.

Providing safe care is the most important consideration for a health 
service. I acknowledge this year’s achievements in patient safety and 
commit to delivering further improvements. Central Queensland Hospital 
and Health Service has a growing, and deserved reputation for providing 
services that can be trusted by patients, consumers and the community.

Our patient safety and patient access achievements were accomplished 
with a $6.3 million surplus.  This financial performance is a significant 
improvement from the $8.8 million deficit delivered in 2015-16. It was 
achieved while considerably increasing the investment in front-line staff 
employment which allowed us to deliver outstanding results. To support 
the delivery of our draft strategy, Destination 2030: Great Care for Central 
Queenslanders, our intent is to deliver efficiencies every year to enable 
investment in the future of our health services.  

Strategic planning will identify the most effective investment of surplus 
funds going forward to ensure continued improvement is achieved. In 
a climate of tightening fiscal policy, increasing community demand 
and higher costs, this funding is essential to ensure the future needs of 
communities in Central Queensland are met with sustainable, efficient and 
effective systems and facilities.

The financial year included the first full year of operation for the new 
specialist cancer and ophthalmology services, which have saved hundreds 
of trips to Brisbane for treatment and shortened the time taken to receive 
care. Together, they epitomise our aim of improving the quality of life and 
experience for our patients in a safe and sustainable environment, and 
highlight effective service delivery partnerships.

The Board continued its focus on delivering security of employment for 
its staff, included a successful initiative to convert casuals to permanent 
employees. The achievements of our health service belong to our staff.

Queensland Health’s 10 year vision: My Health, Queensland’s Future: 
Advancing Health 2026 highlights an ambitious plan to transform 
healthcare. This health service accepts its aims and aspirations, supports 
its principles and will be guided by its four strategic directions. We will 
improve the health of our communities.

I acknowledge the dedication and focus of my fellow Board members and 
the leadership of Jo Whitehead as acting Health Service Chief Executive 
through the first half of the financial year. I also recognise the strong 
leadership and strategic vision of our new Health Service Chief Executive 
Steve Williamson. Together, we have supported our 3500 individual 
employees to deliver a strong and enviable result for 2016-17.

Cr Paul Bell AM
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Message from the Chief Executive
I am proud of our staff who have delivered outstanding results for patients and 
consumers across Central Queensland.

The focus of developing great staff and a great place to work is improving the 
health outcomes for our community through high-quality expert care provided 
sooner and closer to home. 

The improvements in care have been delivered by a very dedicated and devoted 
staff of about 3500 whose actions and interactions reflect the values of our 
organisation’s values – care, integrity, respect and commitment. Improved skills, 
ability and stability across our organisational leaders at all levels is providing 
our staff the support they need to deliver great care.  Identifying just some 
of our outstanding staff and teams at the 2016-17 Staff Recognition Awards 
provided a snapshot of the great things we achieve every day.

Our results rank us among the best in Queensland. At the end of the financial 
year no patient was waiting longer than clinically recommended for a specialist 
outpatient appointment; the number waiting longer than recommended for a 
scope procedure (such as colonoscopy or endoscopy) had been cut from about 
200 to just 1 and there was a similar result for elective surgery. Access to our 
emergency departments was up with the best in Queensland and waiting times 
for an oral health appointment delivered significant wellbeing improvements 
for our patients. 

Most importantly, this timely care was delivered safely. With more than 100 
additional front-line staff – including an increase of 30 (almost 12%) medical 
officers and 56 more nurses, we delivered safer care and more care closer to home.

There will always be further improvements for our services and we strive to 
identify and implement those improvements. Our Hospital and Health Service 
undertook an accreditation survey during May. The results and assessment of 
the safety and quality of our services was outstanding. This is a great reflection 
of the efforts of our staff and services.

Our staff have proven their ability to deliver care they can be proud of and 
the community can trust, and we will continue to improve and grow. The 
ability, resilience and dedication of our staff, facilities and health service was 
highlighted in April. Tropical Cyclone Debbie, and the heavy associated rainfall, 
caused significant flooding and damage, but we continued to provide great care 
in challenging circumstances. 

Almost $80 million of capital projects will be underway or completed during 
2017-18 including the Rockhampton Hospital car park and Gladstone Hospital 
Emergency Department providing better access and greater resilience of health 
service provision.

Strategic planning is being finalised to identify future health service needs under 
Destination 2030:  Great Care for Central Queenslanders which will provide 
clarity to staff and the community about how our health service will meet the 
growing community needs into the future by developing a single, co-ordinated 
and supportive health service offered from multiple sites. Destination 2030 will 
be our blueprint for future capital investment, recruitment, training, research, 
service development and preventative health programs.

I recognise the valuable guidance of the Central Queensland Hospital and Health 
Board, the expert contribution of the Executive Management Team, and the 
outstanding performance of our employees.

Our health service is at the heart of Central Queensland and we aim to deliver 
the care we would expect a family member or friend would receive. We have a 
great team, a clear vision and an exciting future.

Steve Williamson
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Who we are
Vision: Healthier Central Queenslanders

Mission: Delivering quality, evidence-based integrated health services 
focused around the patient’s journey that are sustainable, effective, 
efficient and meet the needs of the community.

Values: CQ Health is committed to its guiding values: 

• Care – We are attentive to individual needs and circumstances
• Integrity – We are consistently true, act diligently and lead by 

example
• Respect – We will behave with courtesy, dignity and fairness in all 

we do
• Commitment – We will always do the best we can all of the time

These values, and the CQ Health strategic objectives as identified in its 
Strategic Plan 2016-2020, align with the Queensland Public Sector values 
and support the Queensland Government’s objective of:

• Delivering quality frontline services 
• Building safe, caring and connected communities 
• Creating jobs and a diverse economy 

The CQ Health Strategic Plan 2016-2020 aligns with, and is the health 
service’s contribution, to the ambitions of My health, Queensland’s future: 
Advancing health 2026 with the objectives:

• Safe, reliable services (Chapter 1)
• Excellent patient experience and healthcare outcomes (Chapter 2)
• Great place to work (Chapter 3)
• Sustainable, cost effective services (Chapter 5)
• Strong reputation (Chapter 6)
• Effective partner relationships (Chapter 7)

The health service has 2843 full-time equivalent (FTE) staff focused on 
patient safety and delivering public hospital and health services in an 
area of approximately 117,000 square kilometres - from Gladstone in the 
south, inland to the Southern and Central Highlands and north along the 
Capricorn Coast - serving a population of around 230,000.

In 2016-2017 the organisation treated more than 600,000 patients 
including 121,000 in our emergency departments and 341,000 through 
outpatient appointments, plus 252,000 oral health appointments. 

The geographic footprint of the health service is diverse, ranging from 
regional cities to remote townships in the west and beachside communities 
along the coast. 

The Chief Health Officer’s Health of Queenslanders Report 2016 identifies 
CQ Health as being home to 5% of the state’s population and covering an 
area equal to 6% of the state. The median age of death is 78 years, two 
years younger than the state average.

Other risk factors include:

• 17% of adults are daily smokers – 38% higher than the state
• 29% of adults are obese – 20% higher than the state
• 25% of adults are risky drinkers – 15% higher than the state
• Half of all Indigenous deaths occurred in people aged under 58years 

– half of all non-Indigenous deaths occurred in people aged under 
79 years
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CQ Health is responsible for providing public hospital and health services 
including medical, surgical, emergency, obstetrics, paediatrics, specialist 
outpatient, mental health, critical care and clinical support services.

It also provides mental health services, oral health services, offender health 
services and aged care services, with a number of facilities also providing 
community health services.

The health service is responsible for the direct management of facilities 
within its geographical boundaries including: 

• Biloela Hospital 
• Capricorn Coast Hospital 
• Emerald Hospital 
• Gladstone Hospital 
• Moura Community Hospital 
• Rockhampton Hospital. 

The health service also provides services from a number of Multi-Purpose 
Health Services (MPHS) and outpatient clinics. MPHS are located in: 

• Baralaba 
• Blackwater 
• Mount Morgan 
• Springsure 
• Theodore 
• Woorabinda. 

Outpatient clinics are located at: 

• Boyne Valley 
• Capella 
• Gemfields 
• Tieri.

Aged care facilities:

• North Rockhampton Nursing Centre

• Eventide Nursing Home
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Organisational snapshots

Treated 125,012 inpatients

Delivered 2052 babies

341,354 outpatient appointments

252,735 oral health treatments

Treated 121,742 in our EDs

Provided 7381 Telehealth sessions

ZERO waiting too long for specialist outpatient 
appointment on 30 June 2017.

Performed 12,703 surgeries

Performed 11,565 breast screens

$6.3 million surplus, a financial turn around from 
 $8.8 million deficit in the previous financial year

Almost $1 million daily wages spend

2843 FTE staff - up 123 more positions
1265 nursing/midwifery positions - up 56
287 doctor positions - up 30
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Safe reliable 
services

Chapter 1

New mum Kate Bellert thanks 
a large team of Rockhampton 
Hospital Staff for saving her life. 

Kate spent twelve weeks under 
the care of Rockhampton 
Hospital.

“I literally owe them everything.”

1. Safe reliable services



Page 2

Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service 
2016–2017 Annual Report
www.health.qld.gov.au/cq/

There is nothing more important than patient safety. It is foremost in our 
minds every time we make a decision. 

CQ Health has an unrelenting focus and commitment to make our services 
as safe as they can possibly be. Planning, documenting, monitoring, 
analysing, reviewing and training are all used to support and improve 
our clinical policies, procedures and practices. This work is supported by 
capital investment on our helipad, Intensive Care Unit and theatres to 
ensure our most seriously unwell patients receive the best possible care.

A dedicated Quality and Safety Unit leads the work in partnership with 
staff, but in CQ Health, safety is every employees business. Any safety 
incident is one incident too many and there is a philosophy on continual 
improvement that addresses issues and trends as they arise and support 
immediate change.

Our communities can have confidence and pride in the health services 
delivered in Central Queensland. Overall, there has been a notable 
decrease of 21% in the number of serious incidents referred to as Severity 
Assessment Code (SAC) 1 incidents year on year.  The number of SAC 2 
incidents also dropped by 16%. 

The CQ Health risk management practices and National Standards 1, 2, 
3 and 11-15 were the subject of an accreditation review in May 2017 
against the Australian Council on Healthcare Standards. Feedback from 
each of the surveyors was exceptionally positive with examples from every 
standard of outstanding practice. The culture and core values of CQ Health 
were praised by the survey team and an action with National Standard 2: 
Consumer Engagement, was recommended for a “Met with Merit”.

Clinical incident trends are analysed by the Quality and Safety Unit which 
recommends system-wide improvements, tracks those improvements and 
reports on progress to the Patient Safety, Quality and Risk Committee 
which then reports to the Board Safety and Quality Committee. Business 
units also under quality improvement work in collaboration with CQWay 
and Quality and Safety which can also inform wider learnings.

During 2016-2017, the Quality and Safety Unit:

• Established a robust suite of safety and quality reports to provide 
transparency, track performance and allow more effective analysis. 
The reports deliver a strong focus on the reduction of overdue 
investigations deliver an improvement focus supported by education 
and training to improve patient safety.

• Reviewed the incident management and analysis process delivering 
weekly and monthly reporting to monitor all levels of incidents to 
ensure effective and appropriate closure.

• Evaluated the internal committee structure as part of a continuous 
improvement cycle.

• Evaluated the paper based system of locum orientation resulting 
in the development of an innovative electronic locum and agency 
education portal which includes orientation modules.

• Reviewed the Consumer and Community Engagement Framework 
to ensure the health service delivers patient-centred care and is 
responsive to changing community needs.

• Facilitated education by external experts including: Central Coroner, 
Minter Ellison; Patient Safety and Quality Improvement Service 
early warning tool education and a Cognitive Institute program.
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• Reviewed the Clinical Incident Management Policy and Open 
Disclosure Policy to include role responsibility and accountability in 
policy review.

• Worked towards developing and improving its risk management 
practices to ensure the delivery of effective, appropriate and 
efficient risk management across clinical, corporate and governance 
environments.

• Continued to work closely with CQWay for quality improvement 
across the organisation.

• Improved enagement with consumers through the Community 
Consumer Advisory Committee. There are now nine consumers who 
sit on the committee and three consumers supporting the committee.
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Excellent patient 
experience 
and healthcare 
outcomes

Chapter 2

2. Excellent patient experience 
and healthcare outcomes

Madeline was the first 
Rockhampton child to receive a 
cochlear implant.

Cochlear implant sound mapping 
technology via telehealth now 
means Madeline can concentrate 
on her year 12 studies without 
regular trips to Brisbane for 
specialist appointments.
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Putting the patient at the centre of all we do delivers excellent patient 
experience and healthcare outcomes and ensure we provide timely, 
friendly, uncomplicated and appropriate care in comfortable surroundings.

CQ Health’s patient access performance continued to improve and is 
among the best in Queensland. Our access results include:

• 341,354 specialist outpatient appointments and no patient was 
waiting long than clinically recommended for an appointment in 
our outpatient departments on 30 June 2017

• 12,703 surgeries including 9160 elective surgeries with one patient 
waiting longer than recommended for elective surgery

• 3247 scopes with one patient waiting longer than recommended for 
a scope

• 121,742 people seen in our emergency departments and met the 
benchmark of discharging 80% within four hours

• 7381 Telehealth sessions – the second highest usage in Queensland

• 11,565 breastscreens

• 252,735 oral health treatments and no patient waited longer than 
recommended for an oral health appointment

• 125,012 inpatients

• 2052 babies delivered

CQ Health launched a staff engagement campaign highlighting the 
organisation’s values – Care, Integrity, Respect and Commitment – and the 
behaviours our staff are encouraged to live every day. (See Chapter 3) The 
organisational values guide every interaction staff have with each other, 
patients and carers, consumers, and the community.

Effective communication is essential when dealing with patients and 
consumers. CQ Health introduced mandatory Communication and Patient 
Safety Training to ensure each of the 3500 staff across Central Queensland 
is aware of their need to communicate effectively and has the practical 
tools to improve the safety and efficiency of communication in healthcare. 

CQ Health also introduced a voluntary project to provide staff with a 
“Hello my name is” badge. This simple gesture has been well received by 
staff, patients and visitors.

Navigating the health system can be difficult, particularly for those 
requiring a range of care from different providers. CQ Health now has 
nurse navigators in aged care, mental health and chronic disease with 
recruitment planned in maternity and cardiac and complex chronic 
diseases. 

Nurse navigators make it easier for patients and consumers by co-
ordinating care and creating partnerships. They deliver improved patient 
experience and outcomes and identify ways to improve health systems.

The input of our patients, consumers and community is essential to design 
and deliver appropriate health care. CQ Health has an extensive and 
growing consumer and community engagement program.

The Consumer and Community Engagement Framework was reviewed 
to ensure the health service delivers person-centred care, responds to 
changing local needs; and delivers new and innovative ways to connect 
with the community.
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CQ Health has an established Consumer and Community Advisory 
Committee that reviews and participates in service planning and delivery, 
providing an “external view”. Community Advisory Networks, established 
for each Multi-Purpose Health Service, local health action groups and 
consumer advocates are regularly engaged to provide specific or general 
feedback.

Patients and patient advocates provide feedback, attend forums and do 
presentations to clinical staff as part of CQ Health’s continual improvement 
program.

2.1. Closing the Gap

Delivering equitable healthcare outcomes is a key target for CQ Health. 
The results in Closing the Gap between Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander and non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people have been 
encouraging in some areas but minimal in others. There is more to do.

Half of all non-indigenous deaths occurred in people under 79 years of age 
compared with 58 for the indigenous community in Queensland.

The leading broad cause contributors to the health gap:

• 19% cardiovascular disease

• 16% mental disorders

• 14% diabetes mellitus

• 9% chronic respiratory disease

• 9% intentional injuries

Key indicators, comparing 2015-16 to 2016-17:

Indicator Year 2015-16 Year 2016-17
Discharge against medical 
advice

3.18% 3.58%

Low birthweight 7.92% 7.78%
Women who smoke after 20 
weeks gestation

42.8% 41.82%

Women who smoke at any 
time during pregnancy

48.8% 45.82%

Antenatal visits 90.98% 91.79%

As part of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Investment 
Strategy, CQ Health delivers a range of programs to support closing the 
gap initiatives, including:.

• Indigenous liaison service – improving the patient journey while 
navigating through the health system.

• New Endings Men’s Program – co-ordinating and supporting the 
needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander men to utilise health 
services and identify and take ownership of their own health.

• Gumma Gundo Indigenous Maternal and Infant Care Outreach – 
providing comprehensive, culturally appropriate and responsive 
community based antenatal, postnatal and infant care services to 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women to reduce mortality of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children aged 0 to 4 years.

• CQ Youth Connect – Providing improved, seamless and coordinated 
access to health services for young people, with a particular focus 
on improving access to sexual and reproductive health services.



Page 7

2.2. Local access to services

CQ Health is committed to delivering health care closer to where our 
patients and consumers live to provide a better experience and ensure as 
many patients as possible continue to receive the support of their family, 
friends and community during their treatment.

Technology is becoming increasingly important to link patients, consumers 
and clinicians with minimal travel when services cannot be sustained in 
rural or remote areas.

CQ Health also develops and maintains key partnerships to allow services 
to be delivered in Central Queensland such as the partnership with 
GenesisCare to deliver radiotherapy treatment and Vanguard Health 
to support the local delivery of ophthalmology and urology specialist 
services.

2.3. Telehealth

Central Queensland has embraced the use of Telehealth and it is saving 
residents time and money by having their medical consultations closer to 
home. The use of technology has become essential to improve access to 
patients in a health service that covers some 117,000 square kilometres.

Telehealth is a video hook-up that links patients and local teams with 
medical specialists from across the state, and country. CQ Health hosted 
almost 7400 Telehealth sessions – the second highest number for any 
health service in Queensland and up from 5647 in 2015-16.

Telehealth clinics are now offered routinely, and embraced by CQ patients 
who love the fact they don’t have to take a whole day off work to 
commute to Rockhampton for a medical appointment that is often less 
than half an hour long.

Telehealth services grew by more than 20% and plans are in place to grow 
by a further 20% during 2017-2018, including:

• Grow existing services at Rockhampton Hospital including 
cochlear implant clinics; gerontology with Sub-Acute and Geriatric 
Evaluation outpatient unit; post liver transplant clinic with Princess 
Alexandra Hospital Brisbane; supervised remote chemotherapy 
clinic; heart failure clinic with Emerald and Rockhampton maternity

• expanded renal service;

• new diabetic and endocrine clinic;

• Telehealth Emergency Management Support Unit education sessions, 
and 

• Telehealth with Corrective Services.

2.4. Radiotherapy treatment

CQ Health celebrated its first year of providing state-of-the-art, 
comprehensive cancer treatment to Central Queenslanders in June 2017. In 
an innovative partnership with specialist treatment provider GenesisCare, 
CQ Health significantly improved access to radiotherapy treatment for 
local patients with cancer.

More than 7500 treatments were provided to more than 400 patients since 
the radiotherapy service began in June 2016, saving long and expensive 
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trips to Brisbane away from support systems and, in many cases, long 
absences from work. Radiotherapy is a highly effective weapon in the 
fight against cancer, delivering more than 40% of all cures. Using a 
highly sophisticated linear accelerator; non-invasive radiotherapy delivers 
radiation beams to eradicate cancer cells.

2.5. Capital projects

2.5.1. Rockhampton car park

Plans for the construction of a multi-storey car park at Rockhampton 
Hospital were finalised and the new 597-bay facility will be completed 
by the end of 2018. Opening of the car park will solve a long-standing 
parking issue at the facility and improve patient and staff access to 
hospital services.

Woollam Constructions was announced as the successful tenderer on 23 
June 2017 to design and construct the car park. The main construction 
works will commence following final design approval on 29 August 2017 
toward an expected completion date of 1 August 2018.

2.5.2.  Gladstone emergency department 

The Gladstone Hospital has an exciting future as part of the Gladstone 
region. Construction of its new $43 million emergency department is to 
begin in April 2018 and is scheduled to be completed in August 2019.

The Gladstone emergency department already has one of the best patient 
access records in Queensland and the new facility will boast double the 
current number of treatment bays.

2.5.3. North Rockhampton Nursing Centre 

Several projects to upgrade the North Rockhampton Nursing Centre are 
underway. The first is the kitchen upgrade with a pre- tender estimate 
being compiled. Work is expected to begin in late 2017 and be completed 
in June 2018.

The second project is the $5 million Cec Pritchard Wing refurbishment. 
Design work is to be completed in August 2017 and the project is expected 
to be completed late 2018.

2.5.4. Step Up Step Down

Construction of the Step Up Step Down mental health facility at Gladstone 
will progress as a capital project for the next financial year.

Tenders for the construction of several similar facilities across the state will 
be recalled when the construction market returns to normal after repairs 
from Tropical Cyclone Debbie across the State are completed.
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Great place  
to work
3. Great place to work

Chapter 3

MedRecruit 2017 CQ Health Staff 
Recognition Awards winners 
celebrate with a very proud Board 
Chair Paul Bell and Health Service 
Chief Executive Steve Williamson.

The Awards recognise the 
remarkable contribution made by 
CQ Health staff.
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To deliver great care you need great staff, and our staff have excelled.

CQ Health is committed to delivering a great place to work and providing 
health services our staff are proud of.

A range of programs implemented across the health service are delivering 
cultural change. This was confirmed by the results of a new staff pulse 
survey.

Our staff of 3500 in 2843 full time equivalent (FTE) positions do great 
things for our patients every day and the reintroduction of our staff 
awards highlighted and publically recognised just some of the great staff, 
great teams and fantastic services.

Almost 200 nominations were received in the 10 categories of the 2017 
MedRecruit CQ Health Staff Recognition Awards. The winners, announced 
at a gala presentation night on 27 July 2017, were:

• Team of the Year - Biloela Hospital Operational Services team,

• Employee of the Year - Paediatric Nurse Educator Bree Walker

• Chief Executive’s Behind the Scenes Award - Business Assurance 
Analyst Sandi Brill

• Chairman’s Award for Outstanding Achievement - ICU Director Dr 
David Austin

• Clinical Excellence Award - Pharmacists Celia Anich and Anjela 
Pham-Nguyen

• Compassion Award - Biloela Midwife Maria Fogarty

• Community (People’s Choice) Award - Capricorn Coast Emergency 
Department

• CQ Health Values Award - Anne-Marie Rawson from Gladstone 
Pharmacy Department

• Improvement and Innovation Award - Rockhampton Hospital 
Surgical Unit

• Inclusion and Diversity Award - Woorabinda Health Service

These awards highlight the great work of staff across the health service. 

Across our footprint there were an extra 123 positions including 30 extra 
doctors and 56 extra nurses.

CQ Health Workforce FTE

18 June 2017
Medical including Visiting Medical 
Officers

287.19

Nursing 1267.67
Professional and Technical 294.23
Operational 478.3
Managerial and Clerical 503.85
Trade and Artisans 12

3.1. Culture and embedding the CQ Health 
values and behaviours

CQ Health committed to embed the organisational values of Care, 
Commitment, Respect and Integrity. 
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Results of the Working for Queensland Survey highlighted the need for 
a cultural change to deliver a great place to work. A Culture Change 
Working Group was established with the Health Service Chief Executive 
as the Chair. The quarterly staff pulse survey was developed to monitor 
progress.

Some of the key initiatives in 2016-2017 included:

• Leadership Development Program supported by Clinical Excellence 
Division, Queensland Health was implemented to improve the 
quality of our leaders, line managers and supervisors

• Workplace Equity and Harassment Officer network was reintroduced 
to provide peer support to our staff

• Staff Rewards and Recognition Program, including Length of Service 
awards and the CQ Health Staff Recognition Awards gala event held 
in July, which was identified as Employee Recognition Month.  

• Living our values…everyone everyday blueprint was launched, 
focussing on appropriate behaviours aligned with our values of 
Care, Integrity, Respect and Commitment

• Workplace Bullying and Harassment mandatory training was 
delivered in both face-to-face and online programs to ensure all 
staff could access this important training

3.1.1. Public Service Code of Conduct

CQ Health is committed to upholding the values and standards of conduct 
outlined in the Code of Conduct for the Queensland Public Service. The 
Code of Conduct applies to all employees of the health service and 
espouses four core principles:

• Integrity and impartiality

• Promoting the public good

• Commitment to the system of government

• Accountability and transparency

CQ Health follows the Code of Conduct for Queensland Public Service 
and the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 which forms a key element of the 
mandatory training requirements for all staff.

Code of Conduct training incorporates the principles of the Public Sector 
Ethics Act 1994 and was conducted on a regular basis for staff across the 
health service over the reporting period. It is a mandatory requirement for 
staff and refresher training must be completed every 2 years. 

The Code of Conduct for Queensland Public Service, Workforce procedures, 
polices and links to the Department of Health information and resources 
are available via the health service intranet site.

Code of Conduct training and staff orientation covers the appropriate 
requirements with a focus on:

• operation of the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994

• application of ethics principles and obligations to the public officials

• contents of the entity’s approved code of conduct

• rights and obligations of the officials in relation to contraventions 
of the approved code of conduct.

Regular reviews of all human resource policies are conducted in line with 
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the schedule of renewal and documents are updated as required. Additional 
updates are undertaken as necessary due to changing legislation. All 
documents are developed using the current templates and style guides and 
are in line with content guidelines.

3.2. Leadership

A key commitment of the Health Service Chief Executive was to deliver 
stable leadership. Since January 2017 CQ Health has successfully recruited 
long term appointments against:

• Executive Director Rockhampton Hospital

• Executive Director Workforce

• Executive Director Rural and District-Wide Services

• Chief Finance Officer

• Executive Director Quality and Safety as part of the Nursing and 
Midwifery portfolio

Along with providing stable and consistent leadership, CQ Health 
focussed on improving leadership capability and investing in our leaders.  
Through support from Queensland Health’s Clinical Excellence Division, a 
significant leadership development program was implemented and a suite 
of programs was delivered to a wide cross section of staff.  These programs 
targeted non-clinical and clinical areas and many of our staff participated 
in and benefited from these programs. The leadership development 
programs included:

• Promoting Professional Accountability clinical program

• Mentoring program

• Executive team building and planning

• 360 degree feedback offered to over 100 staff

• Leadership In Action program

• Mastering Safer and Reliable Practice Workshop

• Leading Reliability Improvement for Safer Healthcare

In addition, there were four leadership summits with more than 100 staff 
attending in June 2017.  The key focus areas for these Leadership Summits 
were:

• September 2016 – Launched our values program - Living our 
values…everyone every day.  

• November 2016 – Developing our Leadership Capabilities…2017 and 
beyond,  showcasing leadership styles and the launch of our “Hello 
my name is …“ initiative

• March 2017 –  Future strategic directions for CQ Health, with a 
focus on our commitment to cultural reform embedding our values 
and strategic planning

• June 2017 – Rising to the challenge – spotlight on success, focusing 
on our Accreditation outcomes and transformational leadership, 
with a workshop on our pulse survey outcomes – Great people. 
Great place to work
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3.3. Staff health, safety and wellbeing 

CQ Health takes a holistic approach to staff health, safety and wellbeing and aims to deliver 
support. Providing a safe workplace is an essential element of creating a great place to work.

A range of initiatives and achievements over the past year, included:

• Occupational Violence Risk Assessments were completed for a majority of CQ Health 
facilities.

• CQ Health Fitness Passport Program was launched in August 2016 and in less than 12 
months over 300 staff and 580 family members enjoyed low fees and convenient access 
to 11 gyms and pools in the Rockhampton and Gladstone regions. 

• Reduced the WorkCover premium from $3,147,696 in 2015/16 to $2,984,389 in 2016/17.  

• Reduced WorkCover statutory claims costs from $603,332 in 2015/16 to $479,372 in 
2016/17, this in turn will result in a significant premium reduction of approximately 
$600,000 in 2017/18. 

• Supported Line Managers through the provision of quality case management activities.  
Managing over 300 rehabilitation cases and closing 215 for the financial year.

• Trained approximately 1500 staff across the 5 modules of Aggressive Behaviour 
Management (ABM) training.

• In response to the ‘Not Now, Not Ever: Putting an End to Domestic and Family Violence 
in Queensland’ report, CQ Health guided implementation of Department of Health policy 
and guidelines with support and training for managers and case management of complex 
domestic and family violence matters.

3.4. Strategic Workforce Plan 

As part of our planning for the future, CQ Health developed a 5-year Strategic Workforce Plan 
and Strategy. This identifies short and mid-term staffing needs and results in projections for 
hiring and developing talent.

The development of a Medical Workforce Plan – Moving Towards 2020, focussed on acute 
services across all facilities and was released for consultation.  The analysis highlighted pending 
shortages of medical practitioners across all specialities projected by 2024 with reliance on 
agency and international medical graduates in rural and regional Queensland.  

3.5. Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment 

No redundancy/early retirement/retrenchment packages were paid during the period.
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4.2. Board of Directors 

Cr Paul Bell AM 

Board Chair, Central Queensland Hospital and Health Board 

Date of original appointment: 25 September 2015 

Current term of office: 18 May 2017 - 17 May 2020 

Cr Paul Bell AM was appointed as Board Chair of Central Queensland 
Hospital and Health Board, following his appointment as a member in 
September 2015. Cr Bell has been a Central Highlands councillor since 
1985, and has a strong history of board leadership including the health, 
energy, rail, superannuation and community service sectors. 

An electrical fitter/mechanic by trade, Cr Bell is Chair of the Central 
Highlands Healthcare Ltd Board and a director of the Central Highlands 
(Qld) Housing Company Ltd.

He has been a director of Ergon Energy Corporation (1999-2005), 
Queensland Rail (2000-2008), Local Government Association of 
Queensland (2000-2012), Australian Local Government Association (2004-
2008), and LG Super (2004-2014). 

He has a strong belief in the public sector and its ability to deliver, given 
the right leadership and clear objectives. 

Cr Bell was awarded a Member (AM) in the General Division, in the 
Australia Day Awards 2005. He has a Bachelor of Business Administration 
and is a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Mr Graeme Kanofski PSM

Board Member (Deputy Chair), Central Queensland Hospital and Health 
Board 

Date of original appointment: 18 May 2013 

Current term of office: 18 May 2017 - 17 May 2019 

Mr Graeme Kanofski has 36 years of experience in local government 
in Queensland, including five years as Chief Executive Officer of the 
Gladstone Regional Council. He holds a Bachelor of Business degree and 
has served as President of Local Government Managers Australia. 

Mr Kanofski is a well-respected local who has an extensive career history 
in local government and associated organisations in the Gladstone region. 
He has studied local government management in El Segundo City in 
the USA and in the United Kingdom and has a wealth of experience in 
local government organisations, including: the State Emergency Service, 
Council Disaster Response Management, Local Government Managers 
Australia, Gladstone Regional Council, Calliope Shire Council, Director – 
Gladstone Economic and Industry Development Board, Port Curtis Alliance 
of Councils and Australian Airport Owners Association. 

Mr Kanofski has received a number of awards for his contributions to local 
government and the public service and has owned and operated small 
businesses in the Gladstone region. Mr Kanofski retired in 2011 and now 
resides in Calliope. 
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Mr Frank Houlihan 

Board Member, Central Queensland Hospital and Health Board 

Date of original appointment: 9 November 2012

Current term of office: 18 May 2016 – 17 May 2019 

Mr Frank Houlihan is a Partner and Managing Director in HHH Partners a 
chartered accountancy firm he established in Emerald in 1986. 

Graduating with a Bachelor of Commerce from James Cook University, Mr 
Houlihan has more than 30 years of experience working with businesses 
in Central Queensland. He is currently the Managing Director of a four 
partner accountancy firm based in Central Queensland. 

Mr Houlihan is also a Director of the Central Queensland Rural Health 
and a Director of Central Queensland Rural Health Management. 
Both organisations are focused on providing health services to rural 
communities in Central Queensland. 

His current professional affiliations are: Chartered Accountants Australia 
and New Zealand and CPA Australia.

Professor Leone Hinton 

Board Member, Central Queensland Hospital and Health Board 

Date of original appointment: 29 June 2012 

Current term of office: 18 May 2016 – 17 May 2019 

Professor Leone Hinton is now the Director, Corporate Strategy and 
Planning at CQuniversity. Professor Hinton’s expertise in this area was 
recognised when in 2010 she was awarded the Australian Institute of 
Management Central Queensland Professional Manager of the Year. 
Her previous positions include Dean, School of Nursing, Midwifery and 
Social Sciences and Deputy Dean (Learning and Teaching).  Her interests 
are in organisational culture, evaluation, strategic planning and risk 
management. 

Professor Hinton began her career as a Registered Nurse working at the 
Mater Children’s and Rockhampton Hospitals before changing career paths 
to nursing training, education and research at the CQUniversity. Leone is a 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Leaders and Managers and Fellow of 
the Australian Institute of Governance. 

Professor Hinton is a Doctor of Professional Studies (Transdisciplinary), 
Masters of Education (Education Administration) and Graduate Diploma 
Education (Tertiary Education). 

Ms Karen Smith 

Board Member, Central Queensland Hospital and Health Board 

Date of original appointment: 18 May 2013 

Current term of office: 18 May 2017 - 17 May 2019

Ms Karen Smith is the Nurse Unit Manager for the Intensive Care Unit at 
Rockhampton Hospital and has held that position since 1993. She has an 
extensive career in intensive care units across Australia and is an active 
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member of the Rockhampton community. 

Ms Smith began her nursing career as a student nurse at Rockhampton 
Hospital and chose to specialise in Intensive Care nursing soon thereafter. 
She has worked at Royal Melbourne Hospital, various Brisbane hospitals 
and at Rockhampton Hospital. She is a member of a number of specialist 
groups, including: the Australian College of Critical Care Nurses, the 
Central ICU Clinical Network and the Paediatric Intensive Care Advisory 
Group. 

Ms Smith is a Registered Nurse and has a postgraduate Certificate in 
Critical Care Nursing from the Royal Melbourne Hospital. She is an active 
member of the local equestrian community. 

Ms Elizabeth Baker 

Board Member, Central Queensland Hospital and Health Board 

Date of original appointment: 18 May 2013

Current term of office: 18 May 2017 - 17 May 2019

Ms Elizabeth Baker is an experienced commercial/corporate lawyer with 
experience in Australian and international business conventions. 

Ms Baker has a Bachelor of Law, Masters of Law, Graduate Certificate of 
Employment Relations and has published numerous papers on various 
topics relevant to employment relations. 

She has served on a number of community boards, including the 
Gladstone District Health Council and was previously the Director of the 
Gladstone Airport Corporation. Ms Baker’s professional memberships 
include: Queensland Law Society, Queensland Industrial Relations Society, 
Australian Corporate Lawyers Association and Resources and Energy Law 
Association. 

Ms Baker is currently employed as general counsel for Queensland 
Alumina Limited at Gladstone and is an active member of the Gladstone 
community. 

Dr Poya Sobhanian 

Board Member, Central Queensland Hospital and Health Board 

Date of original appointment: 17 May 2016

Current term of office: 18 May 2017 – 17 May 2021 

Affectionately known as “PJ” by his local patients, Dr PJ Sobhanian’s 
passion is a healthier CQ. PJ is a University of Queensland (UQ) 
trained Dentist, who completed his placement at the local hospitals of 
Rockhampton, Yeppoon and Emerald. He later served at Gladstone Oral 
Health Services before establishing Sunvalley Dental P/L in Gladstone, 
where he remains the Managing Director. 

PJ has extensive Board, advisory and oversight committee experience, 
including currently, the Gladstone Regional Council Business Improvement 
Committee (Internal Audit) and previously on the UQ Academic Board and 
the UQ Faculty of Health and Sciences Board of Studies. 



Page 18

Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service 
2016–2017 Annual Report
www.health.qld.gov.au/cq/

PJ strongly believes in caring for our community and working together 
to achieve sustainable and sound outcomes for our community. These 
principles led him to be elected as a Councillor on the Gladstone Regional 
Council. PJ was recently Chair of the GRC Commercial Services Committee, 
overseeing Council commercial enterprise, such as the Gladstone Airport 
Corporation and the Gladstone Entertainment and Convention Centre, in 
addition to Council’s major business services of sewerage, waste and water. 

In his spare time PJ enjoys watching football with family and friends. He 
currently resides in Boyne Island. 

Dr Anna Vanderstaay 

Board Member, Central Queensland Hospital and Health Board 

Date of original appointment: 17 May 2016

Current term of office: 18 May 2017 – 17 May 2021

Dr Anna Vanderstaay is a local GP and has worked in a number of rural 
and remote areas of Queensland. Born and raised in Rockhampton, 
Dr Vanderstaay has worked in a number of hospitals throughout the 
State, across a number of clinical specialties, and brings valuable health 
knowledge to the Board. She is also an active member of the local primary 
healthcare team. 

Ms Lisa Caffery 

Board Member, Central Queensland Hospital and Health Board 

Date of original appointment: 17 May 2016

Current term of office: 18 May 2017 – 17 May 2021

Ms Lisa Caffery has extensive experience at a senior level in both the 
public and private sectors, specialising in rural and regional community 
development. Ms Caffery is currently a self-employed consultant who 
provides strategic counsel in community engagement, stakeholder relations 
and communications. 

She is an active member of her local community and a dedicated consumer 
advocate for families in rural and regional areas. Lisa is particularly 
committed to improving health services and outcomes for people who live 
outside major cities. 

She brings strong governance and strategic experience from a range of 
board appointments including Chair of the Central Highlands Science 
Centre Inc. and non-executive director of the Central Highlands (QLD) 
Housing Company Ltd. 

Ms Caffery holds a Bachelor of Arts (Journalism) and a Masters of Public 
Relations. 

Member: Ms Bronwyn Christensen 

Board Member, Central Queensland Hospital and Health Board 

Term of office: 29 June 2012 - 17 May 2017 

Originally appointed to the Central Queensland Hospital and Health Board 
on 29 June 2012, Ms Bronwyn Christensen retired from the Board at the 
conclusion of her most recent tenure, which expired on 17 May 2017.
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4.3. Committees 

The Central Queensland Hospital and Health Board has met 11 times since 
July 2016 and meets monthly. During this financial year one special meeting 
was held.

The Board has four committees – Executive Committee, Finance and 
Resource Committee, Safety and Quality Committee and Audit and Risk 
Committee. 

Whilst committees are required to meet on a quarterly basis the Finance and 
Resource Committee has met on a monthly basis and the Safety and Quality 
Committee has moved to meeting bi-monthly towards the end of 2016 in 
anticipation of the ACHS survey visit.

The out-of-pocket expenses recorded during this period was $18,124.85.

Executive Committee

Chaired by Mr Graeme Kanofski, the Executive Committee is responsible for 
supporting the Central Queensland Hospital and Health Board in its role of 
overseeing the strategic direction of CQ Health. The Committee’s scope is to 
work with the Health Service Chief Executive to progress the strategic issues 
identified by the Board. The committee therefore works in close cooperation 
with the Health Service Chief Executive to strengthen the relationship 
between the Board and the Health Service Chief Executive and to ensure 
accountability in the delivery of services by the health service. 

Finance and Resource Committee 

Chaired by Mr Frank Houlihan, the Finance and Resource Committee is 
responsible for monitoring and assessing the financial management and 
reporting obligations of the health service. It oversees resource utilisation 
strategies including monitoring the service’s cash flow and its financial and 
operating performance. The committee is also responsible for bringing the 
attention of the Board to any unusual financial practices. The Finance and 
Resource Committee works in close cooperation with the Health Service Chief 
Executive and Chief Finance Officer. 

Safety and Quality Committee 

Chaired by Professor Leone Hinton, the Safety and Quality Committee is 
responsible for advising the Board on matters relating to the safety and 
quality of health services provided by the service, including the service’s 
strategies to address the maintenance of high quality, safe and contemporary 
health services to patients. The committee works in close cooperation 
with the Health Service Chief Executive, Executive Director Nursing and 
Midwifery, Quality and Safety, and the Director Shared Services. 

Audit and Risk Committee 

Members of the Audit and Risk Committee as at 30 June 2017 comprised: 

• Chair: Ms Elizabeth Baker 

• Dr Poya Sobhanian, Board Member 

• Mr Frank Houlihan, Board Member 

• Cr Paul Bell AM (ex-offico as Board Chair) 

• Steve Williamson (standing rights of attendance as Health Service 
Chief Executive) 

• Muku Ganesh (standing rights of attendance as Chief Finance Officer) 
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• Sandy Munro (standing rights of attendance as Executive Director 
Quality and Safety) 

• Lee Peters and Christopher O’Brien (standing rights of attendance as 
Internal Audit) 

• Josh Langdon, Megan Ormes and Steve Stavrou (standing rights of 
attendance as External Audit) 

• Colin Bartlem, (invited as Director Financial Accounting and 
Administration) 

• Ms Meryl Forno (invited as Director Budget and Performance) 

• Ron Willett (invited as Project Officer – Audit and Monitoring) 

Mr John Wallace was an external nominee with relevant experience 
appointed to the Committee in February 2016 for the term of a year ending 
in February 2017.

As members of the Board Mr Houlihan and Dr Sobhanian and Ms Baker 
are remunerated for their services to the committee. 

The Audit and Risk Committee has observed the terms of its charter and 
had due regard to the Audit Committee Guidelines. The Audit and Risk 
Committee considered recommendations made by the Queensland Audit 
Office including performance audit recommendations. 

The Audit and Risk Committee met five times during the 2016-2017 period 
and followed an approved work plan reflecting the committee’s charter. 

The role of the committee is to provide independent assurance and 
assistance to the Board in the areas of: 

• Risk, control and compliance frameworks, 

• external accountability responsibilities as prescribed in the Financial 
Accountability Act 2009, the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011, 
the Hospital and Health Boards Regulation 2012 and the Statutory 
Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982; and 

• integrity framework. 

The functions and responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Committee as 
contained in its charter and linked to the committee’s work plan cover the 
areas of: 

Financial statements 

• Reviewing the appropriateness of the accounting policies adopted by 
the health service and ensure they are relevant to the health service 
and its specific circumstances. 

• Reviewing the appropriateness of significant assumptions and 
critical judgements made by management, particularly around 
estimations which impact on reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses in the financial statements. 

• Reviewing the financial statements for compliance with prescribed 
accounting and other requirements. 

• Reviewing, with management and the external auditors, the results 
of the external audit and any significant issues identified. 

• Exercising scepticism by questioning and seeking full and adequate 
explanations for any unusual transactions and their presentation in 
the financial statements. 

• Analysing the financial performance and financial position and 
seek explanation for significant trends or variations from budget or 
forecasts. 
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• Ensuring that assurance with respect to the accuracy and 
completeness of the financial statements is given by management. 

• Integrity oversight and misconduct prevention. 

• Providing oversight, direction and guidance on the health service’s 
integrity framework to ensure it is functioning appropriately. 

• Overseeing the health service’s Lobbyists Contact Register reporting 
and any significant integrity issues arising. 

• Monitoring the effectiveness of the health service’s Public Interest 
Disclosure process. 

• Ensuring the health service complies with relevant integrity 
legislation (e.g. Crime and Misconduct Act 2001, Public Sector 
Ethics Act 1994, Public Interest Disclosure Act 2010, Integrity Act 
2009) and whole of government policies, principles and guidelines 
(including the Code of Conduct for the Queensland Public Service). 

• Providing advice and recommendations on integrity issues to the 
Board and Executive Management, as necessary. 

• Monitoring health service misconduct trends and prevention 
approaches and address any gaps in dealing with integrity issues in 
relation to misconduct (including fraud and corruption). 

• Ensuring the health service complies with any Crime and 
Misconduct Commission requirements and recommendations to 
improve misconduct prevention and response. 

Risk management 

• Reviewing the risk management framework for identifying, 
monitoring and managing significant risks, including fraud. 

• Satisfying itself that insurance arrangements are appropriate for the 
risk management framework, where appropriate. 

• Liaising with management to ensure there is a common 
understanding of the key risks to the health service. These risks 
are clearly documented in a risk register which will be regularly 
reviewed to ensure it remains up to date. 

• Assessing and contributing to the audit planning processes relating 
to the risks and threats to the health service. 

• Reviewing effectiveness of the health service’s processes for 
identifying and escalating risks, particularly strategic risks. 

Internal control 

• Reviewing, through the internal and external audit functions, the 
adequacy of the internal control structure and systems, including 
information technology security and control. 

• Reviewing, through the internal and external audit functions, 
whether relevant policies and procedures are in place and up to date, 
including those for the management and exercise of delegations, 
and whether they are complied with. 

• Reviewing, through the Chief Finance Officer and the System 
Manager assurance certifications, whether the financial internal 
controls are operating efficiently, effectively and economically. 
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Performance management 

• Reviewing the health service’s compliance with the performance 
management and reporting requirements of the Financial 
Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance 
Management Standard 2009 and the Annual Report Requirements 
for Queensland Government Agencies. 

• Reviewing whether performance management systems in place 
reflect the health service’s role/purpose and objectives (as stated in 
its strategic plan). 

• Identifying that the performance reporting and information uses 
appropriate benchmarks, targets and trend analysis. 

Internal audit 

• Reviewing the budget, staffing and skills of the internal audit 
function. 

• Reviewing and approving the internal audit plan, its scope and 
progress, and any significant changes to it, including any difficulties 
or restrictions on scope of activities, or significant disagreements 
with management. 

• Reviewing the proposed internal audit strategic plan and annual 
plan to ensure they cover key risks and that there is appropriate co-
ordination with the external auditor. 

• Reviewing the findings and recommendations of internal audit and 
the response to them by management. 

• Reviewing the implementation of internal audit recommendations 
accepted by management. 

• Ensuring there is no material overlap between the internal and 
external audit functions. 

External audit 

• Consulting with external audit on the service’s proposed audit 
strategy, audit plan and audit fees for the year. 

• Reviewing the findings and recommendations of external audit 
(including from performance audits) and the response to them by 
management. Reviewing responses provided by management to 
ensure they are in line with the health service’s risk management 
framework.  

• Reviewing the implementation of external audit recommendations 
accepted by management and where issues remain unresolved 
ensuring that satisfactory progression is being made to mitigate the 
risk associated with audit’s findings. 

Compliance 

• Determining whether management has considered legal and 
compliance risks as part of the health service’s risk assessment and 
management arrangements. 

• Reviewing the effectiveness of the system for monitoring the health 
service’s compliance with relevant laws, regulations and government 
policies. 

• Reviewing the findings of any examinations by regulatory agencies, 
and any auditor observations. 
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Reporting 

The Audit and Risk Committee submits minutes to the Board outlining 
relevant matters that have been considered by it as well as the Committee’s 
opinions, decisions and recommendations.

The Audit and Risk Committee circulates minutes of the committee 
meetings to the Board, committee members and standing invitees as 
appropriate.

The Audit and Risk Committee submits a summary of its activities for 
inclusion in the Health Service Annual Report.

4.4. Internal audit 

The Central Queensland, Sunshine Coast and Wide Bay hospital and health 
services have established a hub and spoke internal audit function to ensure 
effective, efficient and economical operation of the function. The function 
provides independent assurance and advice to the Board Audit and Risk 
Committee and executive management. It enhances the health service’s 
corporate governance environment through an objective, systematic 
approach to evaluating internal controls and risk assessment.

The role, operating environment and reporting arrangements of the 
function are established in the Internal Audit Charter that has been 
approved by the Hospital and Health Board Chair. The Charter is consistent 
with the Institute of Internal Auditors Professional Practices Framework 
and the Audit Committee Guidelines.

The internal audit function is independent of management and the 
external auditors. The function has:

• discharged the responsibilities established in the Internal Audit 
Charter by executing the annual audit plan prepared as a result of 
risk assessments, materiality, contractual and statutory obligations, 
as well as through consultation with executive management

• provided reports on the results of audits undertaken to the Health 
Service Chief Executive and the Audit and Risk Committee

• monitored and reported on the status of the management’s 
implementation of audit recommendations to the Audit and Risk 
Committee.

• liaised with the Queensland Audit Office to ensure there was no 
duplication of ‘audit effort’

• supported management by providing advice on corporate 
governance and related issues including fraud and corruption 
prevention programs and risk management

• allocated audit resources to areas on a risk basis where the work of 
internal audit can be valuable in providing positive assurance or 
identifying opportunities for positive change.

The audit team are members of professional bodies including the Institute 
of Internal Auditors, CPA Australia and ISACA. The health services 
continue to support their ongoing professional development.
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4.5. Our management team 

Chief Executive 
Steve Williamson

Steve Williamson was appointed Health Service Chief 
Executive effective from 9 January 2017.

Mr Williamson moved from the United Kingdom where he had an extensive 
background at the Executive level in the National Health Service, including 
roles as Chief Executive, Group Deputy Chief Executive, and Chief Operating 
Officer. 

He also worked for some time in the equivalent of local government, and as 
an Area Director in the UK’s legal court system. Previously, Mr Williamson 
was an officer in the UK’s Royal Navy, and spent much of this time as a Diver 
and Bomb Disposal Officer, including commanding a counter terrorism bomb 
disposal service.

Executive Director Medical Services Dr Tim 
Smart 

Responsible for provision of medical leadership and 
support throughout CQ Health. 

Chief Finance Officer 
Muku Ganesh 

Responsible for the provision of strategic advice on 
budget allocations, auditing and performance monitoring 
against the Service Level Agreement. Responsible for 
capital development program, asset management and 
maintenance programs of equipment and buildings, fleet 
and accommodation management. 

Executive Director of Nursing and Midwifery, 
Quality and Safety  
Sandy Munro 

Responsible for nursing and midwifery practice, strategic 
nursing and midwifery workforce, nursing and midwifery 
standards of practice, workload processes and education. 
Responsible for the quality and safety systems and 
clinical governance across the health service. 

Executive Director Rural and District Wide 
Services  
Kieran Kinsella 

Responsible for health service delivery in rural areas of 
Central Queensland, and the delivery of health services 
in the community, Rockhampton Correctional Centre, 
residential aged care facilities, Mental Health Alcohol 
and Other Drugs Service. 
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Executive Director Rockhampton Hospital 
Wendy Hoey 

Responsible for health service delivery at Rockhampton, 
Capricorn Coast and Mt Morgan hospitals. 

Executive Director Gladstone and Banana 
Jo Glover

Responsible for health service delivery at Gladstone and 
Banana region hospitals.

Executive Director Workforce 
Peter Patmore

Responsible for human resources, organisational 
development and workplace health and safety.

Director of Operations and Innovations 
Steve Parnell 

Responsible for organisational improvement through 
the systematic application and development of lean 
approaches to quality improvements in the health service 
known locally as the CQ Way. Steve is responsible for the 
development and leadership of this program.

4.6. External scrutiny 

CQ Health’s operations are subject to regular scrutiny from external oversight 
bodies. These include Queensland Audit Office, Crime and Corruption 
Commission, Office of the Health Ombudsman, Australian Council on 
Healthcare Standards, Aged Care Standards and Accreditation Agency, National 
Quality Management Committee of BreastScreen Australia, Postgraduate 
Medical Education Council of Queensland, Australian College of Accreditation, 
National Association of Testing Authorities, Queensland Ombudsman, the 
Coroner and others. 

During 2016-2017 the Queensland Audit Office tabled a number of cross-service 
audits in Parliament relevant to CQ Health, including:

• Efficient and effective use of high value medical equipment

• Hospital and Health Services: 2015-2016 results of financial audits

• Queensland public hospital operating theatre efficiency

Having considered the findings and recommendations contained in these 
reports, actions have commenced to implement recommendations or address 
issues raised.
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Risk management 

The health service continues to work towards developing and improving 
its risk management practices across the region, enabling the delivery of 
effective, appropriate and efficient risk management across the clinical, 
corporate and governance environments. During the year our risk 
management practices were subject to an internal audit from which a 
number of improvements were identified and adopted for implementation 
in the coming year. Within those environments, the health service 
undertakes to assess risk in alignment with the Risk Management - 
Principles and Guidelines Standard AS/NZS ISO 31000: 2009, which 
includes strategic risk, departmental, divisional, program and operational 
risk. 

The health service Risk Management Policy was established to ensure all 
staff will have knowledge of their level of accountability and responsibility 
in risk identification, assessment, reporting, treatment / control of risks 
as well as participate in management of risks across the organisation. 
Education on the risk management framework continues to be rolled 
out; as the framework is further refined during annual reviews. Aligning 
with AS/NZS ISO 31000: 2009 Australian/New Zealand Standard - Risk 
Management and the Queensland Health Policy on Integrated Risk 
Management, the procedure describes risk escalation and reporting 
procedures to ensure risk is appropriately managed at all health service 
sites. 

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for establishment and 
maintenance of a single risk register to capture all high-level risk and 
reports and escalates risks to the health service Board. In accordance 
with the health service Risk Management Policy, health service risks are 
systematically raised, concluded or escalated as required. Procedurally, 
all risks are reported through to the Executive Management Team. 
Clinical risks are then reported through to the Board’s Safety and Quality 
Committee. Human resource related risks are reported through to the 
Board’s Finance and Resource Committee and corporate and financial risks 
are reported to the Audit and Risk Committee. 

4.7. Information systems and recordkeeping 

There have been no changes to our functions, responsibilities or regulatory 
requirements to require changes to our recording-keeping systems, 
procedures and practices. The health service has a formal policy in place 
detailing the roles and responsibilities of staff for records management 
function and activities. Training for staff in the making and keeping of 
public records in all formats, including emails, is available online. 

Whilst the health service has a whole of HHS policy regarding the 
management of public records, in all formats, the health service is working 
towards a whole of organisation recordkeeping program. Audits are 
being conducted and procedures recorded to demonstrate that records 
contained in business systems and databases are being managed and kept 
appropriately. As the health service works towards a whole of organisation 
record keeping program, opportunities for transitioning from paper to 
digital records, for example, changes to business processes to support 
increased digital recordkeeping, is being considered. 
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In 2017 CQ Health began the implementation of HPE Records Manager as 
its electronic document management system (EDRMS). As at 30 June 2017 
The EDRMS is fully operational within executive services. The retention 
and disposal of paper-based records and the transition from paper to 
digital records is being actioned in accordance with the General Retention 
and Disposal Schedule (GRDS) with the transfer of permanent records to 
the Queensland State Archives in process.

No serious breaches of the public authority’s information security have 
been identified. No records have been lost due to disaster or other reasons 
and records are being retained as long as they are required.

4.8. Public Interest Disclosure

In accordance with section 160 of the Hospital and Health Boards Act 
2011, CQ Health is required to include a statement in its Annual Report 
detailing the disclosure of confidential information in the public interest. 
There were no disclosures under this provision during 2016-17.
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Sustainable, cost 
effective services
5. Sustainable, cost effective services

Chapter 5

Working together for our 
community’s health needs.

CQ Health representatives 
collaborate with key health 
partners and discuss strategies 
to ensure the preparedness of 
services during the 2017 flood.



Page 29

CQ Health addressed a range of factors impacting on the sustainability and 
cost effectiveness of health services and turned its financial performance 
from an $8.8 million deficit to a $6.3 million surplus.

CQ Health continued to grow and now injects more than a million 
dollars a day into the Central Queensland economy through wages alone 
and increased its workforce by 4.5% to 2843 full-time equivalent (FTE) 
positions.

Delivering a surplus while growing the health service was achieved 
through effective budget and organisational planning and management – 
not cost cutting. Initiatives that contributed to this objective include:

Improved safety systems

• 21% reductions in the number of Severity Assessment Code 1s and 
16% reduction in Severity Assessment Code 2s

• 18% reduction in the number of workplace injuries

Financial management

• Monthly budget reviews

• monitoring of budget position and analysis to identify areas 
requiring immediate action

Recruitment and retention

• recruitment campaigns targeting medical, nursing and midwifery 
vacancies aimed at increasing the number of permanent 
appointments, increasing patient safety and reducing the financial 
impact of locum and contract premiums

• initiatives to develop great people and a great place to work

• staff rewards and recognition program

• visible, stable and consistent executive leadership

• structured development of leadership skills

Disaster management planning

• highlighted by the management of Tropic Cyclone Debbie and the 
associated flooding

Increased activity

• despite the activity level at 7% over budget impacting on the 
financial position, it has placed CQ Health in a good position for 
2017-2018

• no patient waiting longer than clinically recommended for an 
outpatient or oral health appointment, a single patient for a scope 
and an elective surgery procedure and emergency department access 
met benchmark 

Continuous improvement and innovation

• CQ Way philosophy supporting targeted improvement opportunities

• leadership development to encourage and support innovation

As CQ Health builds on its successes to create sustainable services it will 
reduce the financial impact of inefficiencies.
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5.1. Our performance overview

5.1.1. Financial highlights

CQ Health reported an operating surplus of $6.287 million for the 2016 - 
2017 financial year.

Our revenue from clinical activity increased together with corresponding 
increases in both labour and non-labour costs such as clinical supplies.

There is a continuing challenge related to the permanent recruitment 
to clinical positions and CQ Health is impacted by the premium costs 
associated with the contracting of medical locums and agency nurses.  

In 2016-2017 the total assets administered by the health service reduced by 
$64.383 million to $490.38 million mainly due to revaluation decrements 
associated with the buildings portfolio.

The building valuations including land improvements for 2016-17 resulted 
in a net decrement of $46.949 million to the carrying amounts of buildings 
and land improvements comprehensively revalued.  The revaluation of 
land for 2016-17 resulted in a net increment of $0.382 million (Nil in 
2016) to the carrying amount of land.

Cash and cash equivalents increased due to the surplus and increase in 
revenue from clinical activity.  

Key financial highlights are outlined in Table 1, including results for the 
previous year.

Table 1. Key Financial Results

Measure 
2016-2017 
Actuals

2015-16 
Actuals

2014-2015 
Actuals

$’000s $’000s $’000s
Income 571,077 518,068 491,754
Expenses 564,790 526,948 493,974
Operating Surplus/(deficit) 6.287 (8,880) (2,220)
Net land revaluation movement 
on land and buildings

(46,567) 30,213 34,380

Cash and cash equivalents 14,107 15,246 36,881
Total Assets 490,380 554,763 553,194
Total Liabilities 27,820 29,262 31,162
Total Equity 462,560 525,501 522,033
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Sources of funding
The health service’s predominate source of income continues to be funding 
received in accordance with service agreements with the Department of Health. 
The Department purchases the provision of health services based on nationally 
set funding and efficient pricing models. In addition, the health service also 
raises own source revenues such as fees from the provision of services to private 
patients. 

How the money was spent
The health service is responsible for the delivery of public hospital and health 
services in line with government priorities.  Expenditure on the provision of 
these services increased in 2016-2017 over 2015-2016. 

Key variations in expenditure from the previous year were a result of:

• Salaries and wages for staff increased by $19,734 million as result of 
an increase in staffing and the effect of enterprise bargaining increases 
during the year. 

• Payables have decreased by $2.756 million in relation to the original 
budget. This predominately relates to lower than expected accrued 
expenses for several creditors including outsourced radiology services 
and pharmaceuticals.  Although expenditure for medical imaging services 
increased to $13.893 million.  

• Patient travel costs decreased reflecting increased access and availability 
of services to Central Queensland residents requiring medical services.
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5.1.2. Tier 1 Key Performance Indicators

Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service 2016-17 Target/est. 2016-17 Est. Actual 2016-17 Actual 

Service Standards - Effectiveness Measures 

Percentage of patients attending emergency departments seen within recommended timeframes 

•	 Category 1 (within 2 minutes) 100% 97% 96%

•	 Category 2 (within 10 minutes) 80% 88% 87%

•	 Category 3 (within 30 minutes) 75% 86% 85%

•	 Category 4 (within 60 minutes) 70% 89% 87%

•	 Category 5 (within 120 minutes) 70% 98% 93%

•	 All categories .. 89% 87%

Percentage of emergency department attendances who 
depart within 4 hour of their arrival in the department >80% 84% 84%

Percentage of elective surgery patients treated within clinically recommended times:

•	 Category 1 (30 days) >98% 100% 100%

•	 Category 2 (90 days) >95% 100% 100%

•	 Category 3 (365 days) >95% 100% 100%

Rate of healthcare associated Staphylococcus aureus 
(including MRSA) bloodstream (SAB) infections/10,000 
patients acute public hospital patient days 

<2 0.5 0.5

Rate of community follow-up within 1-7 days following 
discharge from an acute mental health inpatient unit >65% 69.9% 69.9%

Proportion of readmissions to an acute mental health 
inpatient unit within 28 days of discharge <12% 13.3% 13.3%

Percentage of specialist outpatients waiting within clinically recommended times:

•	 Category 1 (30 days) 75% 87% 100%

•	 Category 2 (90 days) 85% 89% 100%

•	 Category 3 (365 days) 95% 96% 100%

Percentage of specialist outpatients seen within clinically recommended times:

•	 Category 1 (30 days) New measure 92% 92%

•	 Category 2 (90 days) New measure 88% 88%

•	 Category 3 (365 days) New measure 94% 92%

Median wait time for treatment in emergency departments 
(minutes) 20 10 10

Median wait time for elective surgery (days) 25 42 42

Service Standards - Efficiency measure

Average cost per weighted activity unit (WAU) for Activity 
Based Funding facilities $4,904 $5,112 $5,109

Service Standards - Other measures 

Number of elective surgery patients treated within clinically recommended times

•	 Category 1 (30 days) New measure 1,753 1,770

•	 Category 2 (90 days) New measure 1,727 1,793

•	 Category 3 (365 days) New measure 1,823 1,820

Number of telehealth outpatient occasions of service events New measure 6,955 7,381

Total weighted activity units:

•	 Acute Inpatient 37,551 40,613 41,961

•	 Outpatients 10,105 9,191 10,208

•	 Sub-acute 3,955 4,523 4,796

•	 Emergency Department 14,306 13,938 14,463

•	 Mental Health 3,130 3,563 4,472

•	 Prevention and Primary Care 2,982 3,289 3,156

Ambulatory mental health service contact duration (hours) >38,352 37,002 37,002
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5.1.3. Commentary – changes to 2016-17 Est/Actual

Effectiveness measures 
Percentage of patients attending emergency departments seen within recommended timeframes:

• The results for each of the triage categories 1 to 5 and the overall result  have been updated to reflect the 
results published in the SPR Central Queensland HHS performance Report Month 12: as at end of June 2017.

Percentage of specialist outpatients waiting within clinically recommended times:

• There were no special outpatients waiting outside the clinically recommended times for each of the three 
categories.

Percentage of specialist outpatients seen within clinically recommended times:

• The result for category 3 was updated to reflect the published results in the SPR Central Queensland HHS 
performance Report Month 12: as at end of June 2017.

Efficiency measure
Average cost per weighted activity unit (WAU) for Activity Based Funding facilities:

• The minor movement is a reflection of the changes to dollar expenditure and QWAU activity changes to the 
CQHHS ABF facilities.

Other measures 
Number of elective surgery patients treated within clinically recommended times:

• The results for each of the triage categories 1 to 3 have been updated to reflect the results published in the 
SPR Central Queensland HHS performance Report Month 12: as at end of June 2017.

Number of telehealth outpatient occasions of service events:

• The telehealth outpatient service events have been updated to reflect the results published in the SPR Central 
Queensland HHS performance Report Month 12: as at end of June 2017.

Total weighted activity units:

• The weighted activity units for CQHHS have been updated to reflect the results as per DSS Necto as at 1st 
September 2017. A combination of above forecasted activity for the June 2017 quarter and the continuous 
chart auditing for admitted patients at the ABF facilities has resulted in the improved weighted activity for 
the District.
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Strong reputation

6. Strong reputation

Chapter 6

CQ Health staff spread the word 
with a strong presence at the CQ 
Health 2017 Sports and Health 
Expo.
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The development of a strong reputation for CQ Health was targeted through 
internal and external initiatives. 

Externally, our success delivering safe, sustainable and timely health services 
closer to where our patients live have contributed strongly - supported by 
visibility in our communities through strong health education, health education 
and engagement campaigns.

Internally, the key focus was guided by the philosophy that the delivery of great 
care demands great people and a great place to work.

Many of our achievements and successes are highlighted in the first three 
chapters: Safe, reliable services; Excellent patient experience; and Great place to 
work.

6.1. External 

CQ Health celebrated its ongoing successes and service delivery performance 
with pride through traditional media and social media platforms, and by 
maintained strong relationships, based on trust and support, with media outlets 
across the region.

Direct engagement with the communities and community representatives also 
delivered performance transparency and valuable community input to service 
design and delivery. The Consumer and Community Advisory Committee, health 
action groups such as those in Gladstone, Biloela and Moura, Community 
Advisory Networks at each of the Multi-Purpose Health Services, auxiliaries 
including those at Capricorn Coast and Gladstone were among those engaged.

Many other valuable partners were also consulted or informed including: local 
authorities, State and federal members of parliament, unions, universities and 
other education organisations; business and industry and their representative 
organisations, private and non-government service providers and Primary 
Health Network.

CQ Health was increasingly visible in the community delivering expert advice, 
supporting health initiatives and our service delivery partners. 

The CQ Health Rockhampton Health and Sports Expo, Relay for Life, Emergency 
Services Day, NAIDOC week celebrations, AgGrow, Emerald Show, Callide Valley 
Show, Gladstone Parenting Connections Child and Family Expo, and Romp 
in the Park are just a few of the community and sporting events our teams 
attended by a range of service areas including:

• BreastScreen 

• Bowel Screening 

• DonateLife 

• Alcohol and Other Drugs Service 

• CQ Youth Connect (Sexual Health Service) 

• Women’s Health 

• Prostate Cancer Nurse 

• Emergency Planning and Preparedness 

• Sub Acute Chronic Care Rehabilitation 

• Public Health
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6.2. Internal

Great people and a great place to work will deliver great care and a strong 
reputation. Initiatives that drive the workplace environment include:

• Delivering employment stability and security

• Developing strong visible leadership and growing leadership skills

• Delivering a values-based organisation

• Providing a safe working environment

• Highlighting successes and achievements and developing pride in 
the services delivered

• Promoting our identity, and

• Encouraging and supporting innovation

Our staff were regularly engaged and informed through a range 
of initiatives and projects and their active participation in service 
improvement delivered results. 

CQ Health uses the knowledge and expertise of those who deliver our 
services to identify improvement and innovation opportunities and 
implement continuous improvement. Our staff are encouraged to reform 
and improve to create excellence.

Targeted improvement opportunities are identified and supported through 
the CQ Way.

The CQ Way is CQ Health’s improvement methodology based on the 
philosophy that those that do the work improve the work. The CQ Way 
team is a group of specialist facilitators trained in Lean methodology who 
have the skills to help our staff improve their services.

Notable projects include the district-wide maternity project and the patient 
flow project. 

Maternity 

An analysis of the maternity services across CQ Health highlighted 21 
possible service-wide projects. A steering committee identified the five 
priority projects as:

• Antenatal referral process review

• Health service communications review

• Women’s health assessment centre

• Safety based birthing model

• Post-partum haemorrhage

A solution design phase has been completed and a project plan developed 
for each project and the project teams will help to implement the 
improvements.

Rockhampton Hospital Emergency Department

The patient flow project following patient journeys from emergency 
department presentation, admission to the medical ward then to discharge. 
Fourteen projects were identified and are in the solution design phase.

Rockhampton Hospital Medical Ward

Thirty projects were identified and 12 have been priorities including six 
in the ward and six in the emergency department. The work has delivered 



Page 37

some remarkable results including a significant reduction in the time 
taken for patients to receive discharge summaries, improved discharge 
lounge utilisation, less time waiting for a bed on the ward, more patients 
discharged before 10am and an overall increase in the average number of 
patients discharged each day. 

Patient Travel Services.

The CQ Way team reviewed patient travel process across the region to 
streamline the processes, and ensure there was a consistent process across 
the health service.  Project success has made it easier for patients who 
need to travel and for staff who organise the travel assistance.

The project success was presented to the Patient Travel Subsidy Scheme 
State-wide forum and CQ Health will pilot a State-wide online travel 
application. Since the project was started the backlog of claims in 
Emerald was cut from 3000 to zero with the number of monthly bookings 
increasing from less than 900 to almost 1400.
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Effective partner 
relationships
7. Effective partner relationships

Chapter 7

CQ Health partners with University 
providers to provide hands on 
clinical placement experience 
for students resulting in highly 
employable, confident and work 
ready graduates.
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CQ Health provides many acute care and specialised health services, 
however this is only a small band of services in the total health care 
spectrum.

As a provider of acute care in our hospitals - and a range of out-of-
hospital services including mental health, aged care, community health 
and offender health – CQ Health must work with other public, private and 
non-government organisations to deliver holistic health care management.

From General Practitioners delivering primary care, education 
organisations and facilities delivering and developing skill and knowledge, 
to the delivery of highly specialised care such as radiation oncology, 
effective partnerships are essential to coordinate care and support patient 
and consumer services.

Our most important partnership is that between the organisation and its 
staff. Clinical and non-clinical staff involvement in the planning, design 
and delivery of their workplace and their health service is recognised as 
vital.

Some of CQ Health’s partners who improve clinical service delivery for 
Central Queenslanders include:

CQ Radiology

• delivering access to expert opinion and improved patient access to 
key diagnostic tools across the health service.

GenesisCare 

• addressing issues regarding recruitment of highly specialised 
expertise to deliver radiation oncology services for Central 
Queensland.

Vanguard Health

• overcoming longstanding inability to recruit ophthalmology and 
urology specialists to deliver care in Rockhampton and address 
extensive waiting lists

• stabilising the medical workforce at Capricorn Coast Hospital 
ensuring safe and sustainable service delivery on the Capricorn 
Coast

Mercy Health and Aged Care and Hillcrest Hospital

• to coordinate and support care delivery and, in instances, create a 
sufficient pool of patients to support delivery of specialised services

Central Queensland University

• delivery of sub-acute chronic care rehabilitation service and 
supervised training of allied heath students

• placement of students across the health service

University of Queensland

• hosting medical students from the rural clinical school during their 
final two years

Primary Health Network

• delivering co-ordinated primary and acute care
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CQ Health has a range of other essential partnerships including:

Unions

• developing initiatives that support and protect our staff, deliver 
statutory requirements and  meet government objectives

Mental health, disability, education and other community service 
providers

• supporting access to community-based services, support and 
information

Every Child CQ

• helping to improve life outcomes for kids

7.1. National Disability Insurance Scheme

The introduction of the National Disability Insurance Scheme will be 
a major change in funding arrangements in Australia. CQ Health will 
develop and deliver transitional interventions to assist children, families 
and adults to identify and access appropriate services and supports from 
the disability, education and other sectors.

7.2. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health

CQ Health has made progress in supporting Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities in Central Queensland, and have partnered with 
these communities to improve the proportion of our Indigenous population 
who access healthcare to almost 100%. CQ Health has much more to do 
to strengthen our links with Indigenous communities to further address 
the health and life expectancy gap for Indigenous people living in Central 
Queensland.

In partnership with communities CQ Health will support earlier diagnosis, 
earlier treatment and intervention, targeted public health programs and 
continue to shape and develop our services to be responsive to, and 
reflective of, the needs of Indigenous communities in order to close 
the gap. CQ Health will work to incorporate traditional approaches to 
wellbeing and health, ensuring a service that provides interventions for the 
whole person, not just medical diagnosis.

As one of the largest employers in Central Queensland we will work 
to improve the employment opportunities for Indigenous communities 
and will partner with education and university providers to create new 
opportunities and targeted development programs to provide better 
pathways for the Indigenous population in health care. We will monitor 
our workforce to ensure we employ staff who reflect the population of 
Central Queensland.
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8. Our direction

Chapter 8

Great Care for Central 
Queenslanders, wherever and 
whenever we deliver it.

Our patients and consumers are 
at the heart of how we deliver and 
design our services. Our clinical 
outcomes and our patient and 
consumer experience will be 
among the best in Australia

CQ Health will be the best place 
in Queensland for health staff to 
work.

Our strategy to deliver Great Care for Central Queenslanders,  
improve health, and shape the future of healthcare across our region.

Destination

Great Care for Central Queenslanders
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CQ Health is developing a strategic blueprint that identifies solutions 
to meet the growing community demands for health services. The Our 
Destination 2030: Great Care for Central Queenslanders strategy will shape 
the future of healthcare across Central Queensland, and support the aim for 
Central Queenslanders to be amongst the healthiest in the world. 

The vision and strategy for the next decade and beyond are established 
and the blueprint which provides a clear vision for the future and the 
key milestones for 2020, 2025 and for 2030 that will be used to measure 
progress.  The ambition is Great Care for Central Queenslanders, wherever 
and whenever it is delivered. Patients and consumers will be at the heart 
of service design and delivery, clinical outcomes and patient and consumer 
experience will be amongst the best in Australia, and CQ Health will be the 
best place in Queensland for health staff to work. 

In delivering this vision, there are significant challenges for our 
communities and our hospital and health service, together with a 
rapidly changing context for health services across the country and 
internationally. The Destination 2030 strategy sets out these challenges 
and that changing context and also the ambitious plans to address 
these challenges, improving the care, experience, clinical outcomes and 
ultimately helping to improve the health of the population across Central 
Queensland.

By 2030, all our clinical and staff information will be digital with real-
time access anywhere and anytime to clinical information to improve the 
care we deliver. We will digitally connect to our General Practitioners 
and other health partners to provide seamless care every time to patients 
and consumers. Our services will be designed and delivered around the 
needs of our consumers. Fewer patients will need to travel out of Central 
Queensland as we develop high quality specialist services at our regional 
hospital in Rockhampton. Expanded Telehealth and a regional clinical 
network approach will help us deliver even more care locally at our 
hospitals across Central Queensland. We will provide great care everywhere 
we deliver it. 

In partnership with our regional universities we will excel in regional 
clinical research which is rapidly translated into improvements in our 
services locally; meaning better clinical care and better outcomes for 
our patients. CQ Health will also provide one of the best learning and 
development environments for health staff across Queensland. Our 
partnerships across Central Queensland will help us to improve life 
expectancy for Central Queenslanders and to tackle the significant health 
challenges facing our communities now. We will work closely with our 
Indigenous communities to close the gap and to deliver services that are 
responsive and effective. 

We will invest in and develop our regional hospital at Rockhampton to 
provide a broader range of important specialist services for our patients 
across Central Queensland and beyond so that our residents don’t need 
to travel to Brisbane as often, and we will deliver care sooner where this 
will help to improve health. We will invest in our hospital in Gladstone, 
not only building an exceptional new emergency department, but also 
investing in surgical and ambulatory care support to provide better 
services to residents of the Gladstone and Banana regions. 
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We will invest in developing Biloela and Emerald hospitals as larger 
centres supporting a broader range of hospital and health services 
for Banana and Central Highlands, and we will support the important 
role our network of hospitals and multi-purpose health services across 
Central Queensland play in providing health care to our rural and remote 
communities. 

Our out-of-hospital services have critical roles to play in supporting 
our patients and consumers to receive their care at home and in the 
community rather than in hospital wherever possible; and we will develop 
and expand these roles to have even greater impacts on the health of our 
residents. The transformation of public health, mental health, community 
health, dental health, aged care and other health services will reduce 
emergency department visits and hospitalisations.

Our strategy sets out a clear direction for CQ Health, and outlines how we 
will use the strategic direction to work in partnership with communities, 
other health providers, and the community to address some of the 
significant health inequities facing our communities including the health 
impacts of high smoking rates, high levels of obesity and diabetes, high 
levels of smoking and drinking and mental health issues. We will work 
with our partners to address these issues for Central Queensland and will 
increase our focus on initiatives to close the gap for Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander communities.

CQ Health has an exciting future.
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Chapter 9

9. Financial Statements



Page 45

Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service

The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 2

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 30 June 2017

2017 2016
OPERATING RESULT Notes $'000 $'000

Income from Continuing Operations
User charges and fees B1-1 45,027 36,756
Funding public health services B1-2 504,457 459,941
Grants and other contributions B1-3 17,741 17,913
Other revenue 3,852 3,458
Total Revenue 571,077 518,068

Total Income from Continuing Operations 571,077 518,068

Expenses from Continuing Operations
Employee expenses B2-1 46,169 40,948
Health service employee expenses B2-2 290,861 271,127
Supplies and services B2-3 189,504 176,030
Depreciation C3-1 31,264 29,689
Revaluation decrement - 419
Other expenses B2-4 6,992 8,735
Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 564,790 526,948

Operating Results from Continuing Operations 6,287 (8,880)

Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be reclassified to Operating Result
Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus C5-2 (46,567) 30,213
Total other comprehensive income for the year (46,567) 30,213

Total comprehensive income for the year (40,280) 21,333

9.1. Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2017
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Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service

The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 3

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2017

2017 2016
Notes $'000 $'000

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents C1 14,107 15,246
Receivables C2-1 18,503 13,644
Inventories 3,804 3,843
Other 2,126 1,871
Total Current Assets 38,540 34,604

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment C3-1 451,840 520,159
Total Non-Current Assets 451,840 520,159

Total Assets 490,380 554,763

Current Liabilities
Payables C4 27,820 29,262
Total Current Liabilities 27,820 29,262

Total Liabilities 27,820 29,262

Net Assets 462,560 525,501

Equity
Contributed equity 369,986 392,647
Accumulated surplus 9,650 3,363
Asset revaluation surplus C5-2 82,924 129,491
Total Equity 462,560 525,501

9.2. Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017

Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service

The accompanying notes form part of these statements. 4

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 30 June 2017

Accumulated 
surplus

Asset 
revaluation 

surplus
Contributed 

equity
Total 

equity
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 July 2015 12,243 99,278 408,229 519,751

Operating Result   
Operating result from continuing operations (8,880) - - (8,880)
Other Comprehensive Income

Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus - 30,213 - 30,213
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year (8,880) 30,213 - 21,333

Transactions with Owners as Owners:
Net assets received (transferred during year via machinery-of-
Government change) (Note C5-1) - - 5,129 5,129
Equity injections - minor capital works - - 8,978 8,978
Equity withdrawals - Depreciation funding - - (29,689) (29,689)
Net Transactions with Owners as Owners - - (15,582) (15,582)

Balance at 30 June 2016 3,363 129,491 392,647 525,501

Balance as at 1 July 2016 3,363 129,491 392,647 525,501

Operating Result
Operating result from continuing operations 6,287 - - 6,287
Other Comprehensive Income

Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus - (46,567) - (46,567)
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 6,287 (46,567) - (40,280)

Transactions with Owners as Owners:
Equity injections - minor capital works - - 8,603 8,603
Equity withdrawals - Depreciation funding - - (31,264) (31,264)
Net Transactions with Owners as Owners - - (22,661) (22,661)

Balance at 30 June 2017 9,650 82,924 369,986 462,560
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2017

2017 2016
Notes $'000 $'000

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents C1 14,107 15,246
Receivables C2-1 18,503 13,644
Inventories 3,804 3,843
Other 2,126 1,871
Total Current Assets 38,540 34,604

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment C3-1 451,840 520,159
Total Non-Current Assets 451,840 520,159

Total Assets 490,380 554,763

Current Liabilities
Payables C4 27,820 29,262
Total Current Liabilities 27,820 29,262

Total Liabilities 27,820 29,262

Net Assets 462,560 525,501

Equity
Contributed equity 369,986 392,647
Accumulated surplus 9,650 3,363
Asset revaluation surplus C5-2 82,924 129,491
Total Equity 462,560 525,501
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 30 June 2017

Accumulated 
surplus

Asset 
revaluation 

surplus
Contributed 

equity
Total 

equity
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 July 2015 12,243 99,278 408,229 519,751

Operating Result   
Operating result from continuing operations (8,880) - - (8,880)
Other Comprehensive Income

Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus - 30,213 - 30,213
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year (8,880) 30,213 - 21,333

Transactions with Owners as Owners:
Net assets received (transferred during year via machinery-of-
Government change) (Note C5-1) - - 5,129 5,129
Equity injections - minor capital works - - 8,978 8,978
Equity withdrawals - Depreciation funding - - (29,689) (29,689)
Net Transactions with Owners as Owners - - (15,582) (15,582)

Balance at 30 June 2016 3,363 129,491 392,647 525,501

Balance as at 1 July 2016 3,363 129,491 392,647 525,501

Operating Result
Operating result from continuing operations 6,287 - - 6,287
Other Comprehensive Income

Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus - (46,567) - (46,567)
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 6,287 (46,567) - (40,280)

Transactions with Owners as Owners:
Equity injections - minor capital works - - 8,603 8,603
Equity withdrawals - Depreciation funding - - (31,264) (31,264)
Net Transactions with Owners as Owners - - (22,661) (22,661)

Balance at 30 June 2017 9,650 82,924 369,986 462,560

9.3. Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2017
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 30 June 2017

2017 2016
Notes $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows
User charges and fees 46,094 32,814
Funding public health services 467,304 433,427
Grants and other contributions 17,749 17,913
GST input tax credits from ATO 12,339 12,417
GST collected from customers 463 402
Other receipts 3,805 3,352

Outflows
Employee expenses (45,760) (40,560)
Health service employee expenses (289,260) (272,291)
Supplies and services (193,394) (175,723)
GST paid to suppliers (12,701) (12,408)
GST remitted to ATO (488) (408)
Other (6,259) (7,182)
Net cash used in operating activities CF-1 (108) (8,246)

Cash flows from investing activities
Inflows
Sales of property, plant and equipment 93 62

Outflows
Payments for property, plant and equipment (9,728) (22,429)
Net cash used in investing activities (9,635) (22,367)

Cash flows from financing activities
Inflows
Equity injections 8,604 8,978
Net cash provided by financing activities 8,604 8,978

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,139) (21,635)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 15,246 36,881
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year C1 14,107 15,246

9.4. Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2017
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 30 June 2017

2017 2016
Notes $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows
User charges and fees 46,094 32,814
Funding public health services 467,304 433,427
Grants and other contributions 17,749 17,913
GST input tax credits from ATO 12,339 12,417
GST collected from customers 463 402
Other receipts 3,805 3,352

Outflows
Employee expenses (45,760) (40,560)
Health service employee expenses (289,260) (272,291)
Supplies and services (193,394) (175,723)
GST paid to suppliers (12,701) (12,408)
GST remitted to ATO (488) (408)
Other (6,259) (7,182)
Net cash used in operating activities CF-1 (108) (8,246)

Cash flows from investing activities
Inflows
Sales of property, plant and equipment 93 62

Outflows
Payments for property, plant and equipment (9,728) (22,429)
Net cash used in investing activities (9,635) (22,367)

Cash flows from financing activities
Inflows
Equity injections 8,604 8,978
Net cash provided by financing activities 8,604 8,978

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,139) (21,635)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 15,246 36,881
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year C1 14,107 15,246

Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service
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NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
CF-1 RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS TO NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CF-1 Reconciliation of surplus to net cash from operating activities

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Operating surplus/(deficit) 6,287 (8,880)

Non-cash items included in operating result:
Depreciation 31,264 29,689
Funding for depreciation (31,264) (29,689)
Net gain on disposal of non-current assets (53) (68)
Net Loss on disposal 175 1,016
Decrement on land - 419

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in receivables 1,487 (3,563)
(Increase)/decrease in funding receivables (5,959) 5,455
(Increase)/decrease in GST receivables (362) 9
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 40 (728)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (256) (836)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable (3,539) (3,696)
Increase/(decrease) in accrued contract labour 1,602 2,252
Increase/(decrease) in revenue received in advance 79 (8)
Increase/(decrease) in accrued employee benefits 416 388
Increase/(decrease) in GST payable (25) (6)

Net cash used in operating activities ( 108) ( 8,246)
CF-2 NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
CF-2 Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities

Assets and liabilities received or donated/transferred by the Hospital and Health Service to agencies outside of the Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities are recognised as revenues (refer Note B1-3) or expenses (refer to Note B2-4) as applicable. 

9.5. Notes to the statement of cash flows



Page 50

Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service 
2016–2017 Annual Report
www.health.qld.gov.au/cq/

Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service
Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 30 June 2017

7

SECTION A

GENERAL INFORMATION
The Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service (CQHHS) was established on the 1st of July 2012 as a statutory body under the Hospital 
and Health Boards Act 2011. CQHHS is responsible for providing primary health, community and public health services in the area assigned 
under the Hospital and Health Boards Regulation 2012.

The Hospital and Health Service is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent. 

The head office and principal place of business of CQHHS is: 
    Rockhampton Hospital Campus
    Canning Street
    Rockhampton QLD 4700 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
CQHHS has prepared these financial statements in compliance with section 62 (1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and section 43 of the 
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009.

CQHHS is a not-for-profit statutory body and these general purpose financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis (except for the 
Statement of Cash Flow which is prepared on a cash basis) in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations applicable 
to not-for-profit entities. 

In addition, the financial statements comply with Queensland Treasury’s Minimum Reporting Requirements for the year ending 30 June 2017,
and other authoritative pronouncements. 

New accounting standards applied for the first time in these financial statements are outlined in Note D5.

THE REPORTING ENTITY
The financial statements include the value of all revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity of CQHHS.

MEASUREMENT
The historical cost convention is used unless fair value is stated as the measurement basis. 

PRESENTATION MATTERS
Currency and Rounding

Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and rounded to the nearest $1,000 or, where that amount is $500 or less, 
to zero, unless disclosure of the full amount is specifically required.

Comparatives

Comparative information reflects the audited 2015-16 financial statements.

Current/Non-Current Classification

Assets and liabilities are classified as either 'current' or 'non-current' in the Statement of Financial Position and associated notes.

Assets are classified as 'current' where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date. Liabilities are 
classified as 'current' when they are due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date, or where CQHHS does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement to beyond 12 months after the reporting date.

All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.

AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE
The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Chairman of the Hospital and Health Service Board, the Health Service Chief Executive 
and the Chief Finance Officer at the date of signing the Management Certificate.

.

9.6. Notes to the financial statements
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SECTION A

GENERAL INFORMATION
The Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service (CQHHS) was established on the 1st of July 2012 as a statutory body under the Hospital 
and Health Boards Act 2011. CQHHS is responsible for providing primary health, community and public health services in the area assigned 
under the Hospital and Health Boards Regulation 2012.

The Hospital and Health Service is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent. 

The head office and principal place of business of CQHHS is: 
    Rockhampton Hospital Campus
    Canning Street
    Rockhampton QLD 4700 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
CQHHS has prepared these financial statements in compliance with section 62 (1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and section 43 of the 
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009.

CQHHS is a not-for-profit statutory body and these general purpose financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis (except for the 
Statement of Cash Flow which is prepared on a cash basis) in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations applicable 
to not-for-profit entities. 

In addition, the financial statements comply with Queensland Treasury’s Minimum Reporting Requirements for the year ending 30 June 2017,
and other authoritative pronouncements. 

New accounting standards applied for the first time in these financial statements are outlined in Note D5.

THE REPORTING ENTITY
The financial statements include the value of all revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity of CQHHS.

MEASUREMENT
The historical cost convention is used unless fair value is stated as the measurement basis. 

PRESENTATION MATTERS
Currency and Rounding

Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and rounded to the nearest $1,000 or, where that amount is $500 or less, 
to zero, unless disclosure of the full amount is specifically required.

Comparatives

Comparative information reflects the audited 2015-16 financial statements.

Current/Non-Current Classification

Assets and liabilities are classified as either 'current' or 'non-current' in the Statement of Financial Position and associated notes.

Assets are classified as 'current' where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date. Liabilities are 
classified as 'current' when they are due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date, or where CQHHS does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement to beyond 12 months after the reporting date.

All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.

AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE
The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Chairman of the Hospital and Health Service Board, the Health Service Chief Executive 
and the Chief Finance Officer at the date of signing the Management Certificate.

.
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NOTES ABOUT OUR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCESECTION B

REVENUEB1

Note B1-1: User charges and fees
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme 18,738 12,611
Sales of services 3,580 2,628
Hospital fees 22,709 21,517
Total 45,027 36,756

Accounting Policy – User charges and fees
User charges and fees are recognised as revenues when the 
revenue has been earned and can be measured reliably with a
sufficient degree of certainty. This occurs when services provided
to customers are completed, at which time invoices are raised.
Accrued revenue is recognised if the revenue has been earned but 
not yet invoiced.

Accounting Policy – Funding public health services

Note B1-2: Funding public health services
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

National Health Reform
Activity based funding 311,303 285,811
Block funding 66,098 59,647
Teacher Training funding 9,656 9,434
General purpose funding 117,400 105,049

Total 504,457 459,941

Funding revenue is received and recognised in accordance with 
service agreements with the Department of Health Queensland
(the Department). Larger hospitals are funded on an activity unit 
basis whereas funding for smaller hospitals is based on block 
funding and other funding models. The service agreement is 
reviewed periodically and updated for changes in activities and 
prices of services delivered by the CQHHS. At the end of the 
financial year, a financial adjustment may be required where the 
level of services provided is above or below the agreed level.
Activity based funding may include an accrual estimate to 
recognise the patient revenue for which no funding has yet been 
received at year end.
The service agreement between the Department and CQHHS 
specifies that the Department funds CQHHS’s depreciation and 
amortisation charges via non-cash revenue. The Department of 
Health Queensland retains the cash to fund future major capital 
replacements. This transaction is shown in the Statement of 
Changes in Equity as a non-appropriated equity withdrawal.

Note B1-3: Grants and other contributions
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Australian Government grants
Nursing home grants 10,868 11,339
Specific purpose grants 3,686 3,253

Total Australian Government grants 14,554 14,592 
Other grants

Other grants 3,187 3,321
Total 17,741 17,913

Accounting Policy – Grants and other contributions
Grants and other contributions that are non-reciprocal in nature are 
recognised as revenue in the year in which CQHHS receives the 
grant. Where grants are received that are reciprocal in nature, 
revenue is progressively recognised as it is earned in accordance 
with the terms of the funding arrangements. 
Contributed assets are recognised at their fair value. Contributions
of services are recognised only if the services would have been 
purchased if they had not been donated and their fair value can be 
measured reliably. Where this is the case, an equal amount is 
recognised as revenue and an expense. 
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EXPENSESB2

Note B2-1: Employee expenses
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Employee benefits
Wages and salaries 39,231 34,948
Annual leave levy 2,486 2,303
Employer superannuation contributions 2,917 2,567
Long service leave levy 817 712
Termination benefits 359 115

Employee related expenses
Workers compensation premium 92 90
Other employee related expenses 267 214

Total 46,169 40,948

2017 2016
No. No.

Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Employees at 30 
June 104 101

*FTEs are reflective of the minimum obligatory human resource 
information (MOHRI).

Note B2-2: Health service employee expenses
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Department of Health Queensland - health 
service employees 290,861 271,127
Total 290,861 271,127

2017 2016
No. No.

Full-Time Equivalent Health Service employees 
at 30 June 2,681 2,554

* FTEs are reflective of the minimum obligatory human resource 
information (MOHRI).

As CQHHS is not a prescribed employer, only certain employees 
can be contracted directly by CQHHS. Employee expenses 
represent the cost of engaging board members and the 
employment of health executives including those engaged as a 
contractor, senior medical and visiting medical officers who are 
employed directly by CQHHS.
On the other hand, the average minimum obligatory human 
resource information full time equivalent (MOHRI FTE) count does 
not include board members, executives engaged as a contractor,
or employed under an award. CQHHS has engaged Health 
Service employees who are contracted by the Department through 
service arrangements.

Accounting Policy – Employee benefits
Salaries and wages, rostered days-off, sick leave, annual leave 
and long service leave levies and employer superannuation 
contributions are regarded as employee benefits.
CQHHS pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland in respect of 
its obligations for employee compensation. 
Workers’ compensation insurance is a consequence of employing
employees, but it is not counted in an employee’s total 
remuneration package. It is not an employee benefit and 
recognised separately as an employee related expense. 
Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date, are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at current salary 
rates. As CQHHS expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 
12 months of reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at
undiscounted amounts. 
Accounting Policy – Sick leave
Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each 
reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is 
expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely 
that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees 
and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As
sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave 
as it is taken.
Accounting Policy - Annual leave and long service leave
Under the Queensland Government’s Annual Leave Central 
Scheme and Long Service Leave Scheme, a levy is made on 
CQHHS to cover the cost of long service leave for employees. The 
levies are expensed in the period in which they are payable. 
Amounts paid to employees for annual leave and long service 
leave are claimed from the scheme quarterly in arrears. 
Accounting Policy - Superannuation 
Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the 
superannuation scheme for Queensland Government employees, 
at rates determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the State 
Actuary. 
Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or 
payable following completion of the employee’s service each pay 
period. CQHHS’s obligations are limited to those contributions
paid to QSuper. The QSuper scheme has defined benefit and 
defined contribution categories. The liability for defined benefits is 
held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in those 
financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government 
and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.
Board members and visiting medical officers are offered a choice 
of superannuation funds and CQHHS pays superannuation 
contributions into a complying superannuation fund. Contributions 
are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable. 
CQHHS’s obligations are limited to those contributions paid to 
eligible superannuation fund. 
Therefore no liability is recognised for accruing superannuation 
benefits in the CQHHS financial statements.
Key management personnel remuneration benefits disclosures 
and related party transactions are detailed in Note G1 and G2 
respectively.

Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service
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B2 Expenses (continued)

Note B2-3: Supplies and services
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Consultants and contractors 43,612 38,199
Electricity and other energy 6,613 6,042
Patient travel 26,841 27,006
Other travel 1,116 1,131
Building services 2,621 3,745
Computer services 2,029 2,125
Motor vehicles 367 350
Communications 4,492 4,437
Repairs and maintenance 7,671 7,030
Minor works including plant and equipment 1,081 408
Operating lease rentals 3,656 3,929
Inventories consumed

Drugs 22,923 18,222
Clinical supplies and services 18,493 17,314
Catering and domestic supplies 6,280 5,969

Outsourced service delivery
Medical imaging 13,893 11,952
Medical 5,947 7,314
Other services 2,274 635

Pathology, blood and parts 13,195 12,792
Other 6,400 7,430
Total 189,504 176,030

Accounting Policy – Distinction between grants and 
procurement
For a transaction to be classified as supplies and services, the 
value of goods or services received by the CQHHS must be of 
approximately equal value to the value of the consideration 
exchanged for those goods or services. Where this is not the 
substance of the arrangement, the transaction is classified as 
other grants in Note B2-4.

Accounting Policy - Operating lease rentals
Operating lease payments, being representative of benefits 
derived from the leased assets, are recognised as an expense in 
the period in which they are incurred.

Note B2-4: Other expenses
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

External audit fees 165 165
Other audit fees 24 334
Insurance 5,000 5,116
Insurance premiums - other 221 137
Losses from disposal of non-current assets 176 1,016
Special payments - ex gratia payments 6 -
Other legal costs 274 611
Advertising 178 211
Grants distributed 408 404
Interpreter fees 33 54
Impairment losses on trade receivables 434 380
Other expenses 73 307
Total 6,992 8,735

Accounting Policy – Other expenses
The external audit fee for 2017 is $165,000; $165,000 for 2016.
The Department insures property and general losses above a 
$10,000 threshold through the Queensland Government Insurance 
Fund (QGIF). Health litigation payments above a $20,000 
threshold and associated legal fees are also insured through 
QGIF. QGIF charges an annual premium from insured agencies 
intended to cover the cost of claims occurring in the premium year. 
The Insurance Arrangements for Public Health Entities enables 
Hospital and Health Services to be named ‘insured parties’ under 
the Department’s policy. For the 2016-2017 policy year, the 
premium was allocated to CQHHS according to the underlying risk 
of an individual insured party.
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EXPENSESB2

Note B2-1: Employee expenses
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Employee benefits
Wages and salaries 39,231 34,948
Annual leave levy 2,486 2,303
Employer superannuation contributions 2,917 2,567
Long service leave levy 817 712
Termination benefits 359 115

Employee related expenses
Workers compensation premium 92 90
Other employee related expenses 267 214

Total 46,169 40,948

2017 2016
No. No.

Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Employees at 30 
June 104 101

*FTEs are reflective of the minimum obligatory human resource 
information (MOHRI).

Note B2-2: Health service employee expenses
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Department of Health Queensland - health 
service employees 290,861 271,127
Total 290,861 271,127

2017 2016
No. No.

Full-Time Equivalent Health Service employees 
at 30 June 2,681 2,554

* FTEs are reflective of the minimum obligatory human resource 
information (MOHRI).

As CQHHS is not a prescribed employer, only certain employees 
can be contracted directly by CQHHS. Employee expenses 
represent the cost of engaging board members and the 
employment of health executives including those engaged as a 
contractor, senior medical and visiting medical officers who are 
employed directly by CQHHS.
On the other hand, the average minimum obligatory human 
resource information full time equivalent (MOHRI FTE) count does 
not include board members, executives engaged as a contractor,
or employed under an award. CQHHS has engaged Health 
Service employees who are contracted by the Department through 
service arrangements.

Accounting Policy – Employee benefits
Salaries and wages, rostered days-off, sick leave, annual leave 
and long service leave levies and employer superannuation 
contributions are regarded as employee benefits.
CQHHS pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland in respect of 
its obligations for employee compensation. 
Workers’ compensation insurance is a consequence of employing
employees, but it is not counted in an employee’s total 
remuneration package. It is not an employee benefit and 
recognised separately as an employee related expense. 
Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date, are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at current salary 
rates. As CQHHS expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 
12 months of reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at
undiscounted amounts. 
Accounting Policy – Sick leave
Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each 
reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is 
expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely 
that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees 
and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As
sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave 
as it is taken.
Accounting Policy - Annual leave and long service leave
Under the Queensland Government’s Annual Leave Central 
Scheme and Long Service Leave Scheme, a levy is made on 
CQHHS to cover the cost of long service leave for employees. The 
levies are expensed in the period in which they are payable. 
Amounts paid to employees for annual leave and long service 
leave are claimed from the scheme quarterly in arrears. 
Accounting Policy - Superannuation 
Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the 
superannuation scheme for Queensland Government employees, 
at rates determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the State 
Actuary. 
Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or 
payable following completion of the employee’s service each pay 
period. CQHHS’s obligations are limited to those contributions
paid to QSuper. The QSuper scheme has defined benefit and 
defined contribution categories. The liability for defined benefits is 
held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in those 
financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government 
and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.
Board members and visiting medical officers are offered a choice 
of superannuation funds and CQHHS pays superannuation 
contributions into a complying superannuation fund. Contributions 
are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable. 
CQHHS’s obligations are limited to those contributions paid to 
eligible superannuation fund. 
Therefore no liability is recognised for accruing superannuation 
benefits in the CQHHS financial statements.
Key management personnel remuneration benefits disclosures 
and related party transactions are detailed in Note G1 and G2 
respectively.
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B2 Expenses (continued)

Note B2-3: Supplies and services
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Consultants and contractors 43,612 38,199
Electricity and other energy 6,613 6,042
Patient travel 26,841 27,006
Other travel 1,116 1,131
Building services 2,621 3,745
Computer services 2,029 2,125
Motor vehicles 367 350
Communications 4,492 4,437
Repairs and maintenance 7,671 7,030
Minor works including plant and equipment 1,081 408
Operating lease rentals 3,656 3,929
Inventories consumed

Drugs 22,923 18,222
Clinical supplies and services 18,493 17,314
Catering and domestic supplies 6,280 5,969

Outsourced service delivery
Medical imaging 13,893 11,952
Medical 5,947 7,314
Other services 2,274 635

Pathology, blood and parts 13,195 12,792
Other 6,400 7,430
Total 189,504 176,030

Accounting Policy – Distinction between grants and 
procurement
For a transaction to be classified as supplies and services, the 
value of goods or services received by the CQHHS must be of 
approximately equal value to the value of the consideration 
exchanged for those goods or services. Where this is not the 
substance of the arrangement, the transaction is classified as 
other grants in Note B2-4.

Accounting Policy - Operating lease rentals
Operating lease payments, being representative of benefits 
derived from the leased assets, are recognised as an expense in 
the period in which they are incurred.

Note B2-4: Other expenses
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

External audit fees 165 165
Other audit fees 24 334
Insurance 5,000 5,116
Insurance premiums - other 221 137
Losses from disposal of non-current assets 176 1,016
Special payments - ex gratia payments 6 -
Other legal costs 274 611
Advertising 178 211
Grants distributed 408 404
Interpreter fees 33 54
Impairment losses on trade receivables 434 380
Other expenses 73 307
Total 6,992 8,735

Accounting Policy – Other expenses
The external audit fee for 2017 is $165,000; $165,000 for 2016.
The Department insures property and general losses above a 
$10,000 threshold through the Queensland Government Insurance 
Fund (QGIF). Health litigation payments above a $20,000 
threshold and associated legal fees are also insured through 
QGIF. QGIF charges an annual premium from insured agencies 
intended to cover the cost of claims occurring in the premium year. 
The Insurance Arrangements for Public Health Entities enables 
Hospital and Health Services to be named ‘insured parties’ under 
the Department’s policy. For the 2016-2017 policy year, the 
premium was allocated to CQHHS according to the underlying risk 
of an individual insured party.
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NOTES ABOUT OUR FINANCIAL POSITIONSECTION C

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSC1

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Imprest accounts 6 7
Cash at bank 11,481 13,352
QTC cash funds 2,620 1,887
Total 14,107 15,246

Accounting Policy – Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position and the 
Statement of Cash Flows, cash assets include all cash and 
cheques receipted but not banked at 30 June as well as deposits 
at call with financial institutions.

Disclosures about cash and cash equivalents
CQHHS’s bank accounts form part of the Whole-of-Government 
(WoG) banking arrangement with the Commonwealth Bank of 
Australia and does not earn interest on surplus funds. Any interest 
earned on the fund accrues to the Consolidated Fund. 
The general trust bank account and term deposits do not form part 
of the WoG banking arrangement and as such incur fees as well 
as earn interest. Cash deposited with Queensland Treasury 
Corporation earns interest, calculated on a daily basis reflecting 
market movements in cash funds. Rates achieved throughout the 
year range between 2.43% to 2.93% (2015-16; 2.80% to 3.87%).

RECEIVABLESC2

Note C2-1: Receivables
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Trade debtors 7,785 9,235
Less: Allowance for impairment (434) (397)

7,351 8,838

GST receivable 1,485 1,123
GST payable (10) (35)

1,475 1,088

Funding public health services 9,677 3,718
Total 18,503 13,644

Accounting Policy – Receivables 
Trade debtors are recognised at their carrying value less any 
impairment. Trade receivables are generally settled within 120 
days, while other receivables may take longer than twelve months.

Disclosure – Credit risk exposure of receivables
The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date is equal to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset, inclusive of any 
allowance for impairment.
No collateral is held as security and no credit enhancements relate 
to receivables held by CQHHS. In terms of collectability, 
receivables will fall into one of the following categories:
• within terms and expected to be fully collectible
• within terms but impaired
• past due but not impaired
• past due and impaired

Note C2-2: Ageing of trade receivables

2017 2016

Gross 
Receivables

Allowance 
for 

Impairment
Carrying 
Amount

Gross 
Receivables

Allowance 
for 

Impairment
Carrying 
Amount

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Less than 30 days 16,118 (34) 16,084 10,351 (51) 10,300
30 to 60 days 1,110 (15) 1,095 1,078 (30) 1,048
60 to 90 days 486 (16) 470 895 (12) 883
Greater than 90 days 1,223 (369) 854 1,717 (304) 1,413
Total outstanding 18,937 (434) 18,503 14,041 (397) 13,644
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C2 RECEIVABLES (continued)

Disclosure - Movement in allowance for 
impairment for impaired receivables

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 397 294
Amounts written off during the year (398) (276)
Amounts recovered during the year 2 1
Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in 
operating result 433 378
Balance at 30 June 434 397

Accounting Policy - Impairment of receivables
CQHHS assesses whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Objective 
evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, changes in
debtor credit ratings and current outstanding accounts over 120
days. The allowance for impairment reflects CQHHS’s assessment 
of the credit risk associated with receivables balances and is 
determined based on historical rates of bad debts (by category) 
over the past three years and management judgement. 
If CQHHS determines that an amount owing by such a debtor does 
become uncollectible (after appropriate range of debt recovery 
actions), that amount is recognised as a bad debt expense and 
written off against receivables. The amount written off in the 
current year regarding receivables is $398 thousand (2016: $276 
thousand).
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NOTES ABOUT OUR FINANCIAL POSITIONSECTION C

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSC1
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C2 RECEIVABLES (continued)

Disclosure - Movement in allowance for 
impairment for impaired receivables
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATIONC3

Note C3-1: Property, Plant and Equipment - Balances and Reconciliations of Carrying Amount

Land Buildings
Plant and 

equipment
Capital works 

in progress Total
30 June 2017 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Gross 17,523 741,686 53,328 8,024 820,561
Less: Accumulated depreciation - (338,339) (30,382) - (368,721)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2017 17,523 403,347 22,946 8,024 451,840

Represented by movements in carrying 
amount:
Carrying amount at 1 July 2016 17,141 474,977 25,564 2,477 520,159
Acquisitions - 961 2,386 6,382 9,729
Disposals - (31) (186) - (217)
Transfers between classes - 835 - (835) -
Net revaluation increments/(decrements) 382 (46,949) - - (46,567)
Depreciation expense - (26,446) (4,818) - (31,264)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2017 17,523 403,347 22,946 8,024 451,840

Land Buildings
Plant and 

equipment
Capital works 

in progress Total
30 June 2016 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Gross 17,141 829,299 55,108 2,477 904,025
Less: Accumulated depreciation - (354,322) (29,544) - (383,866)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2016 17,141 474,977 25,564 2,477 520,159

Represented by movements in carrying 
amount:
Carrying amount at 1 July 2015 17,660 449,719 24,258 4,986 496,623
Transfers in from other Queensland 
Government entities - 5,194 35 - 5,229
Acquisitions - 2,148 6,064 11,099 19,311
Disposals - (859) (151) - (1,010)
Transfers out to other Queensland Government 
entities (100) - - - (100)
Transfers between classes - 13,300 308 (13,608) -
Net revaluation increments/(decrements) (419) 30,213 - - 29,794
Depreciation expense - (24,739) (4,950) - (29,689)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2016 17,141 474,977 25,564 2,477 520,159
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATIONC3
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C3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION (continued)

Note C3-2: Accounting Policies

Basis of Capitalisation and Recognition thresholds

Items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value equal to, or more than the following thresholds, and with a useful life of more 
than one year are recognised at acquisition. Items below these values are expensed on acquisition.

Class Threshold
Buildings and Land Improvements* $10,000
Land $1
Plant and Equipment $5,000

*Land improvements undertaken by the CQHHS are included in the building class.

Acquisition of assets

Historical cost is used for the initial recording of all property, plant and equipment acquisitions in accordance with Queensland Treasury’s Non-
current Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector (NCAP). Historical cost is determined as the value given as consideration plus costs 
incidental to the acquisition, including all other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use. Items or components that form an integral part 
of an asset are recognised as a single (functional) asset. 

Major health infrastructure projects are managed by the Department of Health on behalf of CQHHS. These assets are assessed at fair value on 
practical completion by an independent valuer. They are then transferred from the Department of Health to CQHHS via an equity adjustment.

Where assets are received free of charge from another Queensland Government entity, the acquisition cost is recognised as the gross carrying 
amount in the books of the other agency immediately prior to the transfer together with any accumulated depreciation. Assets acquired at no 
cost or for nominal consideration, other than from another Queensland Government entity, are recognised at their fair value at the date of 
acquisition.

Consideration of adjusted carrying amounts when measuring asset values

Expenditure relating to repairs and maintenance is only added to an asset’s carrying amount if it increases the service potential or useful life of 
the existing asset.  Maintenance expenditure that merely restores the original service potential (lost through ordinary wear and tear) is 
expensed. Carrying amounts, repairs and maintenance of a capital nature are considered when determining the value at cost or the fair value. 

Measurement of property plant and equipment using cost 

Plant and equipment is measured at historical cost net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses in accordance with 
NCAP. The carrying amounts for plant and equipment at cost should not materially differ from the asset’s fair value. 

Impairment of non-current assets

Key judgement and estimate: All non-current assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis. If an indicator of possible 
impairment exists, management determines the asset’s recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell). Any amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is considered an impairment loss. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is 
offset against the asset revaluation surplus of the relevant class to the extent available. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
amount. However, the increased carrying amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

When an asset is revalued using a market or income valuation approach, any accumulated impairment losses at that date are eliminated 
against the gross amount of the asset prior to restating the revaluation.

Depreciation of property plant and equipment

Key judgement: Buildings, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis reflecting the progressive and even consumption of 
future economic benefits over their useful life to CQHHS. Annual depreciation is based on fair values and CQHHS’s assessments of the useful 
remaining life of individual assets. Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life. 

Assets under construction (work-in-progress) are not depreciated until they reach service delivery capacity. Service delivery capacity relates to 
when construction is complete and the asset is first put to use, or is installed ready for use, in accordance with its intended application. 

Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and the new depreciable amount is 
depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset. The depreciable amount of improvements to leasehold land is allocated progressively 
over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the unexpired period of the lease. The unexpired period of leases includes 
any option period where exercise of the option is probable.
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C3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION (continued)
Key estimate: For each class of depreciable assets, the following ranges of depreciation rates were used: 

Class Depreciation rates 
Buildings comprised of components

• Shell 2-3%
• Fit out 2-5%
• Services 3-5% 

Other buildings including residential
Land improvements

2-10%
1-5%

Plant and equipment 5-20%
Componentisation of complex assets
Where assets comprise of separately identifiable components, subject to regular replacement, components are assigned useful lives distinct 
from the asset to which they relate and depreciated accordingly. In accordance with NCAP, CQHHS has determined all specialised health 
service buildings are complex in nature and warrant componentisation (separate useful lives assigned to component parts). These buildings
comprise three components:

 Shell
 Fit out
 Services including plant integral to the asset

Useful lives for assets revalued are amended progressively as assets are reviewed by the independent valuers.
Measurement of property plant and equipment using fair value
Key estimate and judgement: Fair value measurement in relation to property, plant and equipment valuation may be quite sensitive to 
valuation inputs selected. Valuation standards are used to guide any required judgements.
Fair value is the price that would be received or paid for an asset at arm’s length between willing market participants under current market 
conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly derived from observable inputs or estimated using another valuation 
technique. Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the assets/ liabilities being valued, and 
include, but are not limited to, published sales data for land and residential dwellings. 
Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available publicly, but are relevant to the characteristics of the 
assets/liabilities being valued. Significant unobservable inputs used by the CQHHS include, but are not limited to, subjective adjustments made 
to observable data to take account of the specialised nature of health service buildings and on hospital site residential facilities, including 
historical and current construction contracts (and/or estimates of such costs), and assessments of physical condition and remaining useful life. 
Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and reliable observable inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities. 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefit by using the 
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
All CQHHS assets for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the following fair value 
hierarchy, based on the data and assumptions used in the most recent specific appraisals: 

Level 1 represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets;
Level 2 represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other than quoted prices included within 

level 1) that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable inputs

None of CQHHS’s valuations of assets are eligible for categorisation into level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 

Categorisation of valuations in the fair value hierarchy is as follows: 
Level 2 Unrestricted land
Level 3 Reserved land
Level 3 Buildings

Land and buildings are measured at fair value in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment, AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement
and in consideration of NCAP.
Plant and equipment are reported at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of valuation, less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses where applicable.  Separately identified components of assets are measured on the same basis as the 
assets to which they relate.
Revaluation of property plant and equipment at fair value
Land and building classes measured at fair value are assessed on an annual basis either by comprehensive valuations, desktop valuations or 
by the use of appropriate indices undertaken by independent professional valuers/quantity surveyors.
Comprehensive revaluations are undertaken at least once every five years. However, if a particular asset class experiences significant and 
volatile changes in fair value, then that class is subject to specific appraisal in the reporting period, where practical, regardless of the timing of 
the last specific appraisal. Where assets have not been specifically appraised in the reporting period, their previous valuations are materially 
kept up-to-date via the application of relevant indices. CQHHS uses indices to provide a valid estimation of the assets fair values at reporting 
date.
Materiality is considered in determining whether the differences between the carrying amount and the fair value of an asset is material (in which 
case revaluation is warranted). The fair values reported by CQHHS are based on appropriate valuation techniques that maximises the use of 
available and relevant observable inputs and minimises the use of unobservable inputs.
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C3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION (continued)
Land
Land is measured at fair value each year using independent market valuations or indexation by the State Valuation Service (SVS) within the 
Department of Natural Resources and Mines.
In 2016-17, CQHHS’s land was valued by SVS using independent market valuation or market indices.  The effective date of valuation was 30 
June 2017.  Management has assessed the valuation provided by SVS as appropriate for CQHHS and accepted the result of the independent 
valuation.
The fair value of land was based on physical inspection and publicly available data on sales of similar land in nearby localities. SVS indicated 
that they used observable inputs from market transactions data and therefore these inputs fall into level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. Five of 
the land holdings are classified as ‘reserves’ and are valued using unobservable inputs due to the absence of market transactions data, hence 
classified as level 3 within the fair value hierarchy.  In determining the values, adjustments were made to the sales data to take into account the 
location of CQHHS’s land, its size, street/road frontage and access and any significant restrictions. The extent of the adjustments made varies in 
significance for each parcel of land.
The revaluation of land for 2016-17 resulted in a net increment of $0.382 million (Nil in 2016) to the carrying amount of land.
Buildings
The CQHHS has adopted a refined methodology for building valuation as outlined below to value buildings at Current Replacement Cost in 
place of the Depreciated Replacement Cost methodology previously used. The rationale for the change is to ensure that the carrying value of 
building assets better reflects fair value. For accounting purposes, this change is treated as a change in estimates, thereby impacting on future 
depreciation expense and the asset carrying balances as at 30 June 2017. 
In 2016-17 CQHHS engaged AECOM as the independent valuers/quantity surveyors to undertake building revaluation in accordance with the 
fair value methodology. AECOM performed an independent valuation of 19 buildings and indexation of the residual building portfolio previously 
valued in prior financial years. The effective date of the valuation was 30 June 2017. 
The valuation methodology for the independent valuation uses historical and current construction contracts. The replacement cost of each 
building at the date of valuation is determined by taking into account location factors and comparing against current construction contracts. The 
valuation is provided for a replacement building of the same size, shape and functionality that meets current design standards, and is based on 
estimates of gross floor area, number of floors, building girth and height and existing lifts and staircases.
This method makes an adjustment to the replacement cost of the modern day equivalent building for any utility embodied in the modern 
substitute that is not present in the existing asset (e.g. mobility support) to give a gross replacement cost that is of comparable utility (the 
modern equivalent asset). The methodology makes further adjustment to total estimated life taking into consideration physical obsolescence 
impacting on the remaining useful life to arrive to the current replacement cost via straight line depreciation.
This method addresses each form of obsolescence referred to by AASB 13 as follows:
Physical deterioration – Where the condition of a building has declined significantly over the course of a year, the impact is on the estimate of 
total useful life and future maintenance costs rather than the benefits provided by the building during the year. If a component’s current condition 
is better (or worse) than previously anticipated, its estimated total useful life is extended (reduced), resulting in higher (lower) fair value.
Functional (technological) obsolescence – This form of obsolescence is captured either via the gross replacement cost (because the modern 
equivalent asset of comparable utility by definition excludes functional obsolescence) or through a decrease in the component’s total useful life 
(if the component will be replaced early because it is functionally obsolete).
Economic (external) obsolescence – This method measures any permanent surplus capacity by basing the modern equivalent asset of 
comparable utility on the required service capacity rather than the service capacity of the existing asset. If an entity will replace a component 
earlier than anticipated because of economic obsolescence, it captures the resulting reduction in fair value by decreasing the component’s 
estimated total useful life.
Indices used are also tested for reasonableness by applying the indices to a sample of assets, comparing the results to similar assets that have 
been valued by an independent professional valuer or quantity surveyor, and analysing the trend of changes in values over time. Through this 
process, which is undertaken annually, management assesses and confirms the relevance and suitability of indices provided based on 
CQHHS’s own particular circumstances.
The building valuations including land improvements for 2016-17 resulted in a net decrement of $12.413 million (30.2%) to the carrying amounts 
of buildings and land improvements comprehensively revalued. While an index of 0% was recommended by AECOM to be applied to buildings 
not comprehensively revalued during 2016-17, further analysis of the potential impact on fair values of the buildings was undertaken in view of 
the size of the decrement for the comprehensively revalued buildings. This review identified a number of buildings that had features similar to 
the buildings comprehensively revalued by AECOM which is likely to experience a similar decrement. It was estimated that the fair value 
decrement for the residual buildings, in addition to the $12.413 million decrement applied to those buildings comprehensively valued, would be 
$34.536 million.
Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the asset revaluation surplus of the appropriate class, except to 
the extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense. In that case, it is recognised as income.  A 
decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus 
relating to that asset class.

Note C3-3: Categorisation of Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value
Level 2 Level 3 Total Carrying Amount

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Land 16,957 16,583 566 558 17,523 17,141
Buildings - - 403,347 474,977 403,347 474,977
Total 16,957 16,583 403,913 475,535 420,870 492,118
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C3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION (continued)
Key estimate: For each class of depreciable assets, the following ranges of depreciation rates were used: 

Class Depreciation rates 
Buildings comprised of components

• Shell 2-3%
• Fit out 2-5%
• Services 3-5% 

Other buildings including residential
Land improvements

2-10%
1-5%

Plant and equipment 5-20%
Componentisation of complex assets
Where assets comprise of separately identifiable components, subject to regular replacement, components are assigned useful lives distinct 
from the asset to which they relate and depreciated accordingly. In accordance with NCAP, CQHHS has determined all specialised health 
service buildings are complex in nature and warrant componentisation (separate useful lives assigned to component parts). These buildings
comprise three components:

 Shell
 Fit out
 Services including plant integral to the asset

Useful lives for assets revalued are amended progressively as assets are reviewed by the independent valuers.
Measurement of property plant and equipment using fair value
Key estimate and judgement: Fair value measurement in relation to property, plant and equipment valuation may be quite sensitive to 
valuation inputs selected. Valuation standards are used to guide any required judgements.
Fair value is the price that would be received or paid for an asset at arm’s length between willing market participants under current market 
conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly derived from observable inputs or estimated using another valuation 
technique. Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the assets/ liabilities being valued, and 
include, but are not limited to, published sales data for land and residential dwellings. 
Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available publicly, but are relevant to the characteristics of the 
assets/liabilities being valued. Significant unobservable inputs used by the CQHHS include, but are not limited to, subjective adjustments made 
to observable data to take account of the specialised nature of health service buildings and on hospital site residential facilities, including 
historical and current construction contracts (and/or estimates of such costs), and assessments of physical condition and remaining useful life. 
Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and reliable observable inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities. 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefit by using the 
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
All CQHHS assets for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the following fair value 
hierarchy, based on the data and assumptions used in the most recent specific appraisals: 

Level 1 represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets;
Level 2 represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other than quoted prices included within 

level 1) that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable inputs

None of CQHHS’s valuations of assets are eligible for categorisation into level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 

Categorisation of valuations in the fair value hierarchy is as follows: 
Level 2 Unrestricted land
Level 3 Reserved land
Level 3 Buildings

Land and buildings are measured at fair value in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment, AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement
and in consideration of NCAP.
Plant and equipment are reported at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of valuation, less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses where applicable.  Separately identified components of assets are measured on the same basis as the 
assets to which they relate.
Revaluation of property plant and equipment at fair value
Land and building classes measured at fair value are assessed on an annual basis either by comprehensive valuations, desktop valuations or 
by the use of appropriate indices undertaken by independent professional valuers/quantity surveyors.
Comprehensive revaluations are undertaken at least once every five years. However, if a particular asset class experiences significant and 
volatile changes in fair value, then that class is subject to specific appraisal in the reporting period, where practical, regardless of the timing of 
the last specific appraisal. Where assets have not been specifically appraised in the reporting period, their previous valuations are materially 
kept up-to-date via the application of relevant indices. CQHHS uses indices to provide a valid estimation of the assets fair values at reporting 
date.
Materiality is considered in determining whether the differences between the carrying amount and the fair value of an asset is material (in which 
case revaluation is warranted). The fair values reported by CQHHS are based on appropriate valuation techniques that maximises the use of 
available and relevant observable inputs and minimises the use of unobservable inputs.
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C3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION (continued)
Land
Land is measured at fair value each year using independent market valuations or indexation by the State Valuation Service (SVS) within the 
Department of Natural Resources and Mines.
In 2016-17, CQHHS’s land was valued by SVS using independent market valuation or market indices.  The effective date of valuation was 30 
June 2017.  Management has assessed the valuation provided by SVS as appropriate for CQHHS and accepted the result of the independent 
valuation.
The fair value of land was based on physical inspection and publicly available data on sales of similar land in nearby localities. SVS indicated 
that they used observable inputs from market transactions data and therefore these inputs fall into level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. Five of 
the land holdings are classified as ‘reserves’ and are valued using unobservable inputs due to the absence of market transactions data, hence 
classified as level 3 within the fair value hierarchy.  In determining the values, adjustments were made to the sales data to take into account the 
location of CQHHS’s land, its size, street/road frontage and access and any significant restrictions. The extent of the adjustments made varies in 
significance for each parcel of land.
The revaluation of land for 2016-17 resulted in a net increment of $0.382 million (Nil in 2016) to the carrying amount of land.
Buildings
The CQHHS has adopted a refined methodology for building valuation as outlined below to value buildings at Current Replacement Cost in 
place of the Depreciated Replacement Cost methodology previously used. The rationale for the change is to ensure that the carrying value of 
building assets better reflects fair value. For accounting purposes, this change is treated as a change in estimates, thereby impacting on future 
depreciation expense and the asset carrying balances as at 30 June 2017. 
In 2016-17 CQHHS engaged AECOM as the independent valuers/quantity surveyors to undertake building revaluation in accordance with the 
fair value methodology. AECOM performed an independent valuation of 19 buildings and indexation of the residual building portfolio previously 
valued in prior financial years. The effective date of the valuation was 30 June 2017. 
The valuation methodology for the independent valuation uses historical and current construction contracts. The replacement cost of each 
building at the date of valuation is determined by taking into account location factors and comparing against current construction contracts. The 
valuation is provided for a replacement building of the same size, shape and functionality that meets current design standards, and is based on 
estimates of gross floor area, number of floors, building girth and height and existing lifts and staircases.
This method makes an adjustment to the replacement cost of the modern day equivalent building for any utility embodied in the modern 
substitute that is not present in the existing asset (e.g. mobility support) to give a gross replacement cost that is of comparable utility (the 
modern equivalent asset). The methodology makes further adjustment to total estimated life taking into consideration physical obsolescence 
impacting on the remaining useful life to arrive to the current replacement cost via straight line depreciation.
This method addresses each form of obsolescence referred to by AASB 13 as follows:
Physical deterioration – Where the condition of a building has declined significantly over the course of a year, the impact is on the estimate of 
total useful life and future maintenance costs rather than the benefits provided by the building during the year. If a component’s current condition 
is better (or worse) than previously anticipated, its estimated total useful life is extended (reduced), resulting in higher (lower) fair value.
Functional (technological) obsolescence – This form of obsolescence is captured either via the gross replacement cost (because the modern 
equivalent asset of comparable utility by definition excludes functional obsolescence) or through a decrease in the component’s total useful life 
(if the component will be replaced early because it is functionally obsolete).
Economic (external) obsolescence – This method measures any permanent surplus capacity by basing the modern equivalent asset of 
comparable utility on the required service capacity rather than the service capacity of the existing asset. If an entity will replace a component 
earlier than anticipated because of economic obsolescence, it captures the resulting reduction in fair value by decreasing the component’s 
estimated total useful life.
Indices used are also tested for reasonableness by applying the indices to a sample of assets, comparing the results to similar assets that have 
been valued by an independent professional valuer or quantity surveyor, and analysing the trend of changes in values over time. Through this 
process, which is undertaken annually, management assesses and confirms the relevance and suitability of indices provided based on 
CQHHS’s own particular circumstances.
The building valuations including land improvements for 2016-17 resulted in a net decrement of $12.413 million (30.2%) to the carrying amounts 
of buildings and land improvements comprehensively revalued. While an index of 0% was recommended by AECOM to be applied to buildings 
not comprehensively revalued during 2016-17, further analysis of the potential impact on fair values of the buildings was undertaken in view of 
the size of the decrement for the comprehensively revalued buildings. This review identified a number of buildings that had features similar to 
the buildings comprehensively revalued by AECOM which is likely to experience a similar decrement. It was estimated that the fair value 
decrement for the residual buildings, in addition to the $12.413 million decrement applied to those buildings comprehensively valued, would be 
$34.536 million.
Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the asset revaluation surplus of the appropriate class, except to 
the extent it reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense. In that case, it is recognised as income.  A 
decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus 
relating to that asset class.

Note C3-3: Categorisation of Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value
Level 2 Level 3 Total Carrying Amount

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Land 16,957 16,583 566 558 17,523 17,141
Buildings - - 403,347 474,977 403,347 474,977
Total 16,957 16,583 403,913 475,535 420,870 492,118
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PAYABLESC4

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Trade creditors
Department of Health Queensland 1,334 1,638
Other trade creditors 15,436 18,671

Accrued health service labour - Department of 
Health Queensland 9,327 7,725
Accrued employee benefits 1,621 1,205
Revenue received in advance 102 23
Total 27,820 29,262

Accounting Policy – Payables 
Payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for 
goods and services received. Trade creditors are measured at the 
agreed purchase/contract price, gross of applicable trade and 
other discounts. The amounts are unsecured and normally settled 
within 30 - 60 days. 

EQUITYC5
Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities specifies the principles for recognising contributed 
equity by CQHHS. The following items are recognised as contributed equity by CQHHS during the reporting and comparative years:

• Cash equity contributions fund purchases of equipment, furniture and fittings associated with capital work projects managed by 
CQHHS. CQHHS received no funding from the State as equity injections in 2017 (2016: $5.1 million). These outlays are paid by the 
Department of Health Queensland on behalf of the State.

• CQHHS received $31.264 million funding in 2017 (2016 $29.7 million) from the Department to account for the cost of depreciation. 
Funding for depreciation charges is via non-cash revenue. The Department retains the cash to fund future major capital replacements. 
As depreciation is a non-cash expenditure item, the Health Minister has approved a withdrawal of equity by the State for the same 
amount, resulting in a non-cash revenue amount and a corresponding non-cash equity withdrawal.

Note C5-1: Contributed Equity - Asset transfers
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Transfer in - practical completion of projects 
from the Department - 5,229
Transfer of land and buildings to the 
Department of Health - (100)

- 5,129

Note C5-2: Asset revaluation surplus by class
2017 2016

Land Buildings Total Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance 1 July - 129,491 129,491 99,278
Revaluation 
increments/(decrements) 382 (46,949) (46,567) 30,213
Balance 30 June 382 82,542 82,924 129,491

In 2014, the Minister for Health signed an enduring designation of 
transfer for property, plant and equipment between Hospital and 
Health Services (HHSs) and the Department of Health. Non-
reciprocal transfers of assets are recognised through equity when 
the Chief Finance Officers of both entities agree in writing to the 
transfer. Construction of major health infrastructure is managed 
and funded by the Department of Health. Upon practical 
completion of a project, assets are transferred from the 
Department to CQHHS. During this year a number of assets have 
been transferred under this arrangement.
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NOTES ABOUT RISKS AND OTHER ACCOUNTING UNCERTAINTIESSECTION D

FINANCIAL RISK DISCLOSURESD1

Note D1-1: Financial instrument categories
CQHHS has the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:

2017 2016
Category Notes $'000 $'000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents C1 14,107 15,246
Receivables C2-1 18,503 13,644
Total 32,610 28,890

Financial liabilities
Payables C4 27,820 29,262
Total 27,820 29,262

Note D1-2: Financial risk management

A financial instrument is defined as any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument 
of another entity. The identifiable financial instruments for CQHHS are cash and Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) investments 
excluding the funds held in trust, accounts receivable, and accounts payable.
Financial risk management is implemented pursuant to Government and CQHHS policies. These policies focus on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of CQHHS. 
CQHHS exposure to a variety of financial risks including how these risks are measured, is set out below:
Credit Risk
Credit risk in relation to a financial instrument is the risk that a customer, bank or other counterparty will not meet its obligations in accordance 
with agreed terms. CQHHS has a credit management strategy in place which includes analysing ageing accounts receivable amounts and 
identifying cash inflows at risk
CQHHS is exposed to credit risk in respect of its accounts receivables (Note C2-1). The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date is 
equal to the gross carrying amount of the accounts receivable, inclusive of any allowance for impairment.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that CQHHS will not have the resources required at a particular time to meet its obligations to settle its financial liabilities. 
CQHHS is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of its accounts payable (Note C4) and liquidity management strategies aim to reduce the exposure 
to liquidity risk by analysing accounts payable accounts and managing cash flows ensuring that sufficient funds are available to meet employee 
and supplier obligations at all times. An approved debt facility of $4.5 million under Whole-of-Government banking arrangements to manage any 
short term cash shortfalls has been established. No funds had been withdrawn against this debt facility as at 30 June 2017 (2016: Nil). 
Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market 
risk comprises: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and other price risk. 
CQHHS is not permitted to trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to commodity price changes or other market prices. Interest 
rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
CQHHS does not recognise any financial assets or liabilities at fair value. The fair value of trade receivables and payables is assumed to 
approximate the value of the original transaction, less any allowance for impairment.
CQHHS has interest rate exposure on the 24 hour call deposits; however there is no risk on its cash deposits as all interest earned on bank 
accounts that form part of the Whole-of-Government-Arrangements flow back into the Consolidated Fund (Note C1).
Interest rate sensitivity analysis shows, that the impact of interest rate fluctuations QTC cash funds have a minimal effect on the operating result 
of CQHHS.
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PAYABLESC4

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Trade creditors
Department of Health Queensland 1,334 1,638
Other trade creditors 15,436 18,671

Accrued health service labour - Department of 
Health Queensland 9,327 7,725
Accrued employee benefits 1,621 1,205
Revenue received in advance 102 23
Total 27,820 29,262

Accounting Policy – Payables 
Payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for 
goods and services received. Trade creditors are measured at the 
agreed purchase/contract price, gross of applicable trade and 
other discounts. The amounts are unsecured and normally settled 
within 30 - 60 days. 

EQUITYC5
Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities specifies the principles for recognising contributed 
equity by CQHHS. The following items are recognised as contributed equity by CQHHS during the reporting and comparative years:

• Cash equity contributions fund purchases of equipment, furniture and fittings associated with capital work projects managed by 
CQHHS. CQHHS received no funding from the State as equity injections in 2017 (2016: $5.1 million). These outlays are paid by the 
Department of Health Queensland on behalf of the State.

• CQHHS received $31.264 million funding in 2017 (2016 $29.7 million) from the Department to account for the cost of depreciation. 
Funding for depreciation charges is via non-cash revenue. The Department retains the cash to fund future major capital replacements. 
As depreciation is a non-cash expenditure item, the Health Minister has approved a withdrawal of equity by the State for the same 
amount, resulting in a non-cash revenue amount and a corresponding non-cash equity withdrawal.

Note C5-1: Contributed Equity - Asset transfers
2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Transfer in - practical completion of projects 
from the Department - 5,229
Transfer of land and buildings to the 
Department of Health - (100)

- 5,129

Note C5-2: Asset revaluation surplus by class
2017 2016

Land Buildings Total Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance 1 July - 129,491 129,491 99,278
Revaluation 
increments/(decrements) 382 (46,949) (46,567) 30,213
Balance 30 June 382 82,542 82,924 129,491

In 2014, the Minister for Health signed an enduring designation of 
transfer for property, plant and equipment between Hospital and 
Health Services (HHSs) and the Department of Health. Non-
reciprocal transfers of assets are recognised through equity when 
the Chief Finance Officers of both entities agree in writing to the 
transfer. Construction of major health infrastructure is managed 
and funded by the Department of Health. Upon practical 
completion of a project, assets are transferred from the 
Department to CQHHS. During this year a number of assets have 
been transferred under this arrangement.
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NOTES ABOUT RISKS AND OTHER ACCOUNTING UNCERTAINTIESSECTION D

FINANCIAL RISK DISCLOSURESD1

Note D1-1: Financial instrument categories
CQHHS has the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:

2017 2016
Category Notes $'000 $'000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents C1 14,107 15,246
Receivables C2-1 18,503 13,644
Total 32,610 28,890

Financial liabilities
Payables C4 27,820 29,262
Total 27,820 29,262

Note D1-2: Financial risk management

A financial instrument is defined as any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument 
of another entity. The identifiable financial instruments for CQHHS are cash and Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) investments 
excluding the funds held in trust, accounts receivable, and accounts payable.
Financial risk management is implemented pursuant to Government and CQHHS policies. These policies focus on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of CQHHS. 
CQHHS exposure to a variety of financial risks including how these risks are measured, is set out below:
Credit Risk
Credit risk in relation to a financial instrument is the risk that a customer, bank or other counterparty will not meet its obligations in accordance 
with agreed terms. CQHHS has a credit management strategy in place which includes analysing ageing accounts receivable amounts and 
identifying cash inflows at risk
CQHHS is exposed to credit risk in respect of its accounts receivables (Note C2-1). The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date is 
equal to the gross carrying amount of the accounts receivable, inclusive of any allowance for impairment.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that CQHHS will not have the resources required at a particular time to meet its obligations to settle its financial liabilities. 
CQHHS is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of its accounts payable (Note C4) and liquidity management strategies aim to reduce the exposure 
to liquidity risk by analysing accounts payable accounts and managing cash flows ensuring that sufficient funds are available to meet employee 
and supplier obligations at all times. An approved debt facility of $4.5 million under Whole-of-Government banking arrangements to manage any 
short term cash shortfalls has been established. No funds had been withdrawn against this debt facility as at 30 June 2017 (2016: Nil). 
Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market 
risk comprises: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and other price risk. 
CQHHS is not permitted to trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to commodity price changes or other market prices. Interest 
rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
CQHHS does not recognise any financial assets or liabilities at fair value. The fair value of trade receivables and payables is assumed to 
approximate the value of the original transaction, less any allowance for impairment.
CQHHS has interest rate exposure on the 24 hour call deposits; however there is no risk on its cash deposits as all interest earned on bank 
accounts that form part of the Whole-of-Government-Arrangements flow back into the Consolidated Fund (Note C1).
Interest rate sensitivity analysis shows, that the impact of interest rate fluctuations QTC cash funds have a minimal effect on the operating result 
of CQHHS.
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CONTINGENCIES D2
(a) Litigation in Progress

As at 30 June 2017, the following cases were filed in the courts naming 
the State of Queensland acting through the CQHHS as defendant:

2017 2016
Number 

of 
cases

Number 
of 

cases
Supreme Court 7 3
District Court 4 3
Magistrates Court - -
Tribunals, commissions and boards - -

11 6

Insurance cover for CQHHS’s exposure to litigation is underwritten 
by the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF) and
WorkCover Queensland. For matters managed by QGIF the 
CQHHS’s liability is limited to an excess per insurance event of 
$20,000. As at 30 June 2017, CQHHS has 43 claims currently 
managed by QGIF (some of which may never be litigated or result 
in payments to claimants). At year end, the maximum exposure 
associated with these claims is $860K.
During the financial year, 5 of these claims managed by QGIF 
were lodged with either the Supreme Court or District Court. These 
together with 6 cases lodged in previous years remain open at 
year end. 8 cases relate to Health litigation, 2 are WorkCover 
claims, and 1 relates to a general litigation matter.
CQHHS legal advisers and management believe it would be 
misleading to estimate the final amounts payable (if any) in respect 
of the litigation before the courts at this time.

COMMITMENTSD3
(a) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Commitments under operating leases at reporting date are as follows:

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Operating Leases
No later than 1 year 1,504 1,751
Later than 1 year but no later than 5 years 708 1,707
Later than 5 years - -
Total 2,212 3,458

CQHHS has 80 non-cancellable operating leases relating 
predominantly to office and residential accommodation (2016:105).
Lease payments are generally fixed, but with escalation clauses on 
which contingent rentals are determined. No lease arrangements 
contain restrictions on financing or other leasing activities.

(b) Capital expenditure commitments

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Property, Plant and Equipment
No later than 1 year 466 693
Later than 1 year but no later than 5 years 116 -
Later than 5 years - -
Total 582 693

Material classes of capital expenditure commitments contracted for 
at reporting date but not recognised in the accounts are disclosed; 
mostly relating to medical equipment purchases under $200K.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTYD4
The preparation of financial statements necessarily requires the determination and use of certain critical accounting estimates, assumptions and 
management judgements that have the potential to cause a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. Such estimates, judgements and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis, historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
future periods as relevant. 
Estimates and assumptions that have a potential significant effect are outlined in the following financial statement notes: 
• Activity based funding revenue – Note B1-2.  
• Property, plant and equipment – Note C3

FUTURE IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET EFFECTIVED5
Accounting standards early adopted for 2016-2017
No Australian Accounting Standards have been early adopted for the 2016-2017 financial year by the CQHHS.
Accounting Standards applied for the first time in 2016-2017
Effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016, a revised version of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosure will apply to CQHHS.
AASB 124 requires disclosures about the remuneration of key management personnel (KMP), transactions with related parties, and 
relationships between parent and controlled entities.
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D5 FUTURE IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)
CQHHS already discloses detailed information about KMP remuneration in Note G1, based on Queensland Treasury’s Financial Reporting 
Requirements for Queensland Government Agencies. Due to the additional guidance about the KMP definition in the revised AASB 124,
CQHHS has assessed that its responsible Minister should be part of its KMP from 2016-17 due to the Minister’s powers as set out in the
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. No associated remuneration figures will be disclosed by CQHHS, as it does not provide the Minister’s 
remuneration. Comparative information will continue to be disclosed in respect of KMP remuneration.
The most significant implications of AASB 124 for CQHHS are the required disclosures about transactions between the health service and its 
related parties (as defined in AASB 124). For any such transactions, from 2016-17, disclosures in Note G2 will include the nature of the related 
party relationship, as well as information about those transactions’ terms/conditions and amounts, any guarantees given/received, outstanding 
receivables/ payables, commitments, and any receivables where collection has been assessed as being doubtful. In respect of related party 
transactions with other Queensland Government controlled entities, the information disclosed will be more high level, unless a transaction is 
individually significant. No comparative information is required in respect of related party transactions in the 2016-17 financial statements.
Accounting Standards issued but with future commencement dates
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the expected impacts of new or amended Australian Accounting Standards issued, but with 
future commencement dates, are set out below:
AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2014)
These Standards will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The main impacts of these standards on 
CQHHS are that they will change the requirements for the classification, measurement, impairment and disclosures associated with CQHHS's 
financial assets. AASB 9 will introduce different criteria for whether financial assets can be measured at amortised cost or fair value.
It is expected that the measurement of cash and cash equivalents and short-term receivables and payables held by CQHHS is not likely to 
change under the new requirements. The effect of expected credit losses on impairment allowances over the lifetime of account receivables will 
be determined when the standard takes effect.
AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 Leases was issued in February 2016 and applies to annual reporting beginning on or after 1 January 2019. This standard introduces a 
single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases (both operating and finance) with a term of 
more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.  A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to 
use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligations to make lease payments.  Lessors continue to classify leases as 
operating or finance.  CQHHS has non-cancellable operating leases with a term exceeding 12 months. The impact of this accounting standard 
may be significant due to the number of leases CQHHS has entered into. 
AASB 2016-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-profit Entities (issued in December 
2016); which extends the application date of AASB 15 to 1 January 2019 for not-for-profit entities only to coincide with the application of AASB 
1058.
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This standard will become effective from reporting periods on or after 1 January 2019 for not-for-profit entities and contains much more detailed 
requirements for the accounting for certain types of revenue from customers.  Depending on the specific contractual terms, the new 
requirements may potentially result in a change to the timing of revenue from sales of CQHHS’s goods and services, such that some revenue 
may need to be deferred to a later reporting period to the extent that CQHHS has received cash but has not met its associated obligations (such 
amounts would be reported as a liability - unearned revenue in the meantime).  
CQHHS is yet to complete its analysis of current arrangements for sale of its goods and services, but at this stage does not expect a significant 
impact on its present accounting practices.
AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit-Entities
AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit-Entities was issued in December 2016 and applies to annual reporting on or after 1 January 2019 and 
includes the amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards as a consequence of issuing AASB 1058.
The introduction of this standard will impact on AASB 1004 Contributions in that most income recognition requirements for not-for-profit entities 
that were previously in AASB 1004 are replaced with AASB 1058. AASB 1004 will thereafter only address certain contributions not covered by 
either AASB 15 or AASB 1058 (e.g. contributions from owners and forgiveness of liabilities).
Initially, relevant accounting standards are to be applied when recognising transactions resulting from contracts with customers as is set out in 
AASB 15. The requirements of AASB 1058 more closely reflect the economic reality of transactions such as grants that are not contracts with 
customers. The timing of income recognition depends on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability or other performance obligations (a 
promise to transfer a good or service), or a contribution by owners, related to an asset (such as cash or another asset) received.
AASB 1058 then applies to transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset, including cash is significantly less than the fair value of the 
asset, and the difference is principally to enable CQHHS to further its objectives.
The standard also applies to volunteer services that largely have the same scope and accounting treatment as currently applies under AASB 
1004 for services received below fair value. That is, revenue is recognised when volunteer services would have been purchased if they had not 
been donated.
AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities (issued in 
December 2016) which amends:

• AASB 9 by inserting an Appendix C that provides guidance as to whether particular transactions or other events are within the scope 
of AASB 9 or AASB 1058; and

• AASB 15 by inserting an Appendix F that provides guidance as to whether particular transactions or other events are within the scope 
of AASB 15 or AASB 1058 relating to identifying a contract and identifying performance obligations.

All other Australian accounting standards and interpretations with new or future commencement dates are either not applicable to CQHHS's 
activities, or have no material impact on CQHHS.
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CONTINGENCIES D2
(a) Litigation in Progress

As at 30 June 2017, the following cases were filed in the courts naming 
the State of Queensland acting through the CQHHS as defendant:

2017 2016
Number 

of 
cases

Number 
of 

cases
Supreme Court 7 3
District Court 4 3
Magistrates Court - -
Tribunals, commissions and boards - -

11 6

Insurance cover for CQHHS’s exposure to litigation is underwritten 
by the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF) and
WorkCover Queensland. For matters managed by QGIF the 
CQHHS’s liability is limited to an excess per insurance event of 
$20,000. As at 30 June 2017, CQHHS has 43 claims currently 
managed by QGIF (some of which may never be litigated or result 
in payments to claimants). At year end, the maximum exposure 
associated with these claims is $860K.
During the financial year, 5 of these claims managed by QGIF 
were lodged with either the Supreme Court or District Court. These 
together with 6 cases lodged in previous years remain open at 
year end. 8 cases relate to Health litigation, 2 are WorkCover 
claims, and 1 relates to a general litigation matter.
CQHHS legal advisers and management believe it would be 
misleading to estimate the final amounts payable (if any) in respect 
of the litigation before the courts at this time.

COMMITMENTSD3
(a) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Commitments under operating leases at reporting date are as follows:

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Operating Leases
No later than 1 year 1,504 1,751
Later than 1 year but no later than 5 years 708 1,707
Later than 5 years - -
Total 2,212 3,458

CQHHS has 80 non-cancellable operating leases relating 
predominantly to office and residential accommodation (2016:105).
Lease payments are generally fixed, but with escalation clauses on 
which contingent rentals are determined. No lease arrangements 
contain restrictions on financing or other leasing activities.

(b) Capital expenditure commitments

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Property, Plant and Equipment
No later than 1 year 466 693
Later than 1 year but no later than 5 years 116 -
Later than 5 years - -
Total 582 693

Material classes of capital expenditure commitments contracted for 
at reporting date but not recognised in the accounts are disclosed; 
mostly relating to medical equipment purchases under $200K.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTYD4
The preparation of financial statements necessarily requires the determination and use of certain critical accounting estimates, assumptions and 
management judgements that have the potential to cause a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. Such estimates, judgements and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis, historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
future periods as relevant. 
Estimates and assumptions that have a potential significant effect are outlined in the following financial statement notes: 
• Activity based funding revenue – Note B1-2.  
• Property, plant and equipment – Note C3

FUTURE IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET EFFECTIVED5
Accounting standards early adopted for 2016-2017
No Australian Accounting Standards have been early adopted for the 2016-2017 financial year by the CQHHS.
Accounting Standards applied for the first time in 2016-2017
Effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016, a revised version of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosure will apply to CQHHS.
AASB 124 requires disclosures about the remuneration of key management personnel (KMP), transactions with related parties, and 
relationships between parent and controlled entities.
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D5 FUTURE IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)
CQHHS already discloses detailed information about KMP remuneration in Note G1, based on Queensland Treasury’s Financial Reporting 
Requirements for Queensland Government Agencies. Due to the additional guidance about the KMP definition in the revised AASB 124,
CQHHS has assessed that its responsible Minister should be part of its KMP from 2016-17 due to the Minister’s powers as set out in the
Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011. No associated remuneration figures will be disclosed by CQHHS, as it does not provide the Minister’s 
remuneration. Comparative information will continue to be disclosed in respect of KMP remuneration.
The most significant implications of AASB 124 for CQHHS are the required disclosures about transactions between the health service and its 
related parties (as defined in AASB 124). For any such transactions, from 2016-17, disclosures in Note G2 will include the nature of the related 
party relationship, as well as information about those transactions’ terms/conditions and amounts, any guarantees given/received, outstanding 
receivables/ payables, commitments, and any receivables where collection has been assessed as being doubtful. In respect of related party 
transactions with other Queensland Government controlled entities, the information disclosed will be more high level, unless a transaction is 
individually significant. No comparative information is required in respect of related party transactions in the 2016-17 financial statements.
Accounting Standards issued but with future commencement dates
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the expected impacts of new or amended Australian Accounting Standards issued, but with 
future commencement dates, are set out below:
AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2014)
These Standards will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The main impacts of these standards on 
CQHHS are that they will change the requirements for the classification, measurement, impairment and disclosures associated with CQHHS's 
financial assets. AASB 9 will introduce different criteria for whether financial assets can be measured at amortised cost or fair value.
It is expected that the measurement of cash and cash equivalents and short-term receivables and payables held by CQHHS is not likely to 
change under the new requirements. The effect of expected credit losses on impairment allowances over the lifetime of account receivables will 
be determined when the standard takes effect.
AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 Leases was issued in February 2016 and applies to annual reporting beginning on or after 1 January 2019. This standard introduces a 
single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases (both operating and finance) with a term of 
more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.  A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to 
use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligations to make lease payments.  Lessors continue to classify leases as 
operating or finance.  CQHHS has non-cancellable operating leases with a term exceeding 12 months. The impact of this accounting standard 
may be significant due to the number of leases CQHHS has entered into. 
AASB 2016-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-profit Entities (issued in December 
2016); which extends the application date of AASB 15 to 1 January 2019 for not-for-profit entities only to coincide with the application of AASB 
1058.
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This standard will become effective from reporting periods on or after 1 January 2019 for not-for-profit entities and contains much more detailed 
requirements for the accounting for certain types of revenue from customers.  Depending on the specific contractual terms, the new 
requirements may potentially result in a change to the timing of revenue from sales of CQHHS’s goods and services, such that some revenue 
may need to be deferred to a later reporting period to the extent that CQHHS has received cash but has not met its associated obligations (such 
amounts would be reported as a liability - unearned revenue in the meantime).  
CQHHS is yet to complete its analysis of current arrangements for sale of its goods and services, but at this stage does not expect a significant 
impact on its present accounting practices.
AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit-Entities
AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit-Entities was issued in December 2016 and applies to annual reporting on or after 1 January 2019 and 
includes the amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards as a consequence of issuing AASB 1058.
The introduction of this standard will impact on AASB 1004 Contributions in that most income recognition requirements for not-for-profit entities 
that were previously in AASB 1004 are replaced with AASB 1058. AASB 1004 will thereafter only address certain contributions not covered by 
either AASB 15 or AASB 1058 (e.g. contributions from owners and forgiveness of liabilities).
Initially, relevant accounting standards are to be applied when recognising transactions resulting from contracts with customers as is set out in 
AASB 15. The requirements of AASB 1058 more closely reflect the economic reality of transactions such as grants that are not contracts with 
customers. The timing of income recognition depends on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability or other performance obligations (a 
promise to transfer a good or service), or a contribution by owners, related to an asset (such as cash or another asset) received.
AASB 1058 then applies to transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset, including cash is significantly less than the fair value of the 
asset, and the difference is principally to enable CQHHS to further its objectives.
The standard also applies to volunteer services that largely have the same scope and accounting treatment as currently applies under AASB 
1004 for services received below fair value. That is, revenue is recognised when volunteer services would have been purchased if they had not 
been donated.
AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities (issued in 
December 2016) which amends:

• AASB 9 by inserting an Appendix C that provides guidance as to whether particular transactions or other events are within the scope 
of AASB 9 or AASB 1058; and

• AASB 15 by inserting an Appendix F that provides guidance as to whether particular transactions or other events are within the scope 
of AASB 15 or AASB 1058 relating to identifying a contract and identifying performance obligations.

All other Australian accounting standards and interpretations with new or future commencement dates are either not applicable to CQHHS's 
activities, or have no material impact on CQHHS.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTSD6
Economic Dependency
CQHHS’s primary source of income is from the Department for the provision of public hospital, health and other services in accordance with a 
service agreement with the Department. CQHHS’s ability to continue viable operations is dependent on this funding. At the date of this report, 
management has no reason to believe that this financial support will not continue, particularly as the current service agreement covers the 
period from 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2019.
Other matters
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2017 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the Health Services’ 
operations, the results of those operations, or the Health Services’ state of affairs in future financial years.
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NOTES ON OUR PERFORMANCE COMPARED TO BUDGETSECTION E

BUDGETARY REPORTING DISCLOSURESE1
This section discloses CQHHS’s original published budgeted figures for 2016-17 compared to actual results, with explanations of major 
variances, in respect of CQHHS’s Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows.

E1.1 BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARISON – STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Variance

Original 
SDS Budget Actual

Original SDS Budget V 
Actual

2017 2017 Variance Variance % 
of original 

budgetNotes $'000 $'000 $'000
OPERATING RESULT

Income from Continuing Operations
User charges and fees 1 36,587 45,027 8,440 23%
Funding public health services 2 478,227 504,457 26,230 5%
Grants and other contributions 14,004 17,741 3,737 27%
Other revenue 2,728 3,852 1,124 41%
Total Revenue 531,546 571,077 39,531

Total Income from Continuing Operations 531,546 571,077 39,531 

Expenses from Continuing Operations
Employee expenses 3 41,881 46,169 4,288 9%
Health service employee expenses 4 277,948 290,861 12,913 5%
Supplies and services 5 169,384 189,504 20,120 12%
Depreciation 39,635 31,264 (8,371) (21%)
Revaluation decrement 731 - (731) (100%)
Other expenses 1,967 6,992 5,025 255%
Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 531,546 564,790 33,244

Operating Results from Continuing Operations - 6,287 6,287

Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss
Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus 6 (46,567) (46,567)
Other comprehensive income for the year - (46,567) (46,567)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (40,280) (40,280)

Note: 
Original Published Budget from the Service Delivery Statement (SDS) has been revised to improve transparency and analysis with
comparatives by remapping particular budgeted transactions on the same basis as reported in actual financial statements (revised SDS 
Budget). Reclassification for the Statement of Comprehensive Income has occurred for: 

• User charges and fees in the original SDS have been dissected into User charges and Funding public health services. 
• Interest revenue has been rolled into Other revenue as immaterial by size for individual reporting. 
• Gains on sale/revaluation of assets have been rolled into Other revenue as immaterial by size for individual reporting. 
• Department of Health contract staff has been moved from under Supplies and services and is presented as a labour expense along 

with Employee expenses.
• Grants and subsidies have been rolled into Other expenses as immaterial by size for individual reporting. 
• Losses on sale/revaluation of assets are rolled into Other expenses as immaterial for actual reporting. 
• Insurance expenses have been budgeted in the original SDS as Supplies and services, however have been included in Other 

expenses for Actual reporting in accordance with Queensland Treasury’s financial reporting requirements. 
• Any account groups displayed on the SDS with a zero balance have not been included in the statement.

Materiality for Notes commentary is based on the calculation of the line item’s actual value percentage of the group total. If the percentage is 
greater than 5%, the line item variance from budget to actual is reviewed. A note is provided for where this percentage is 5% or greater for
Employee expenses, Supplies and services, and Property, plant and equipment and 10% or greater for others.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTSD6
Economic Dependency
CQHHS’s primary source of income is from the Department for the provision of public hospital, health and other services in accordance with a 
service agreement with the Department. CQHHS’s ability to continue viable operations is dependent on this funding. At the date of this report, 
management has no reason to believe that this financial support will not continue, particularly as the current service agreement covers the 
period from 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2019.
Other matters
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2017 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the Health Services’ 
operations, the results of those operations, or the Health Services’ state of affairs in future financial years.
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NOTES ON OUR PERFORMANCE COMPARED TO BUDGETSECTION E

BUDGETARY REPORTING DISCLOSURESE1
This section discloses CQHHS’s original published budgeted figures for 2016-17 compared to actual results, with explanations of major 
variances, in respect of CQHHS’s Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows.

E1.1 BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARISON – STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Variance

Original 
SDS Budget Actual

Original SDS Budget V 
Actual

2017 2017 Variance Variance % 
of original 

budgetNotes $'000 $'000 $'000
OPERATING RESULT

Income from Continuing Operations
User charges and fees 1 36,587 45,027 8,440 23%
Funding public health services 2 478,227 504,457 26,230 5%
Grants and other contributions 14,004 17,741 3,737 27%
Other revenue 2,728 3,852 1,124 41%
Total Revenue 531,546 571,077 39,531

Total Income from Continuing Operations 531,546 571,077 39,531 

Expenses from Continuing Operations
Employee expenses 3 41,881 46,169 4,288 9%
Health service employee expenses 4 277,948 290,861 12,913 5%
Supplies and services 5 169,384 189,504 20,120 12%
Depreciation 39,635 31,264 (8,371) (21%)
Revaluation decrement 731 - (731) (100%)
Other expenses 1,967 6,992 5,025 255%
Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 531,546 564,790 33,244

Operating Results from Continuing Operations - 6,287 6,287

Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss
Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus 6 (46,567) (46,567)
Other comprehensive income for the year - (46,567) (46,567)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (40,280) (40,280)

Note: 
Original Published Budget from the Service Delivery Statement (SDS) has been revised to improve transparency and analysis with
comparatives by remapping particular budgeted transactions on the same basis as reported in actual financial statements (revised SDS 
Budget). Reclassification for the Statement of Comprehensive Income has occurred for: 

• User charges and fees in the original SDS have been dissected into User charges and Funding public health services. 
• Interest revenue has been rolled into Other revenue as immaterial by size for individual reporting. 
• Gains on sale/revaluation of assets have been rolled into Other revenue as immaterial by size for individual reporting. 
• Department of Health contract staff has been moved from under Supplies and services and is presented as a labour expense along 

with Employee expenses.
• Grants and subsidies have been rolled into Other expenses as immaterial by size for individual reporting. 
• Losses on sale/revaluation of assets are rolled into Other expenses as immaterial for actual reporting. 
• Insurance expenses have been budgeted in the original SDS as Supplies and services, however have been included in Other 

expenses for Actual reporting in accordance with Queensland Treasury’s financial reporting requirements. 
• Any account groups displayed on the SDS with a zero balance have not been included in the statement.

Materiality for Notes commentary is based on the calculation of the line item’s actual value percentage of the group total. If the percentage is 
greater than 5%, the line item variance from budget to actual is reviewed. A note is provided for where this percentage is 5% or greater for
Employee expenses, Supplies and services, and Property, plant and equipment and 10% or greater for others.
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E1.1 Explanation of Major Variances - Statement of Comprehensive Income

1. User charges and fees
User charges and fees was $8.440 million above budget mainly due to Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) reimbursements associated with 
the high cost drugs (refer to ‘Supplies and services’ below).  The remaining increase is attributable to increased private patient activities and 
activities that could be reimbursed through third parties. 
2. Funding public health services
Funding public health services were $26.230 million over the original budget. Increased activities during the financial year contributed $13.551 
million to the increase. The remaining increase is associated with once-off specific purpose funding.
3. Employee expenses
Employee expenses were $4.288 million over budget compared to the SDS budget. During the year additional specialist medical staff (8.5 FTE) 
were recruited to the Health Service.  

4. Health service employee expenses
Health service employee expenses were over budget by $12.913 million due to an increase of staff (114 FTE) as a result of 9% increase in 
activity during the year. Refer to ‘funding public health services’ above.
5. Supplies and services
Supplies and services were above original budget by $20.120 million partly due to increased expenditure associated with the high cost drugs 
(which were fully reimbursed to the Health Service) and the operational costs associated with the increased activities especially around 
Outsourced Medical Imaging charges, Clinical Supplies, Consultancies, Electricity and Repairs and Maintenance.
6. Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus 
The variance reflects the outcome of the building and land improvement revaluations which resulted in a net decrement of $46.567 million.
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E1.2 BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARISON – STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Variance

Original 
SDS Budget Actual

Original SDS Budget V 
Actual

2017 2017 Variance Variance % 
of original 

budgetNotes $'000 $'000 $'000
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 11,135 14,107 2,972 27%
Receivables 8 10,871 18,503 7,632 70%
Inventories 9 3,171 3,804 633 20%
Other 1,142 2,126 984 86%
Total Current Assets 26,319 38,540 12,221

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 480,102 451,840 (28,262) (5.9)%
Total Non-Current Assets 480,102 451,840 (28,262)

Total Assets 506,421 490,380 (16,041)

Current Liabilities
Payables 11 30,576 27,820 (2,756) (9%)
Total Current Liabilities 30,576 27,820 (2,756)

Total Liabilities 30,576 27,820 (2,756)

Net Assets 475,845 462,560 (13,285)

Equity
Contributed equity 356,377 369,986 13,609 4%
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (2,357) 9,650 12,007 (509%)
Asset revaluation surplus 12 121,825 82,924 (38,901) (32%)
Total Equity 475,845 462,560 (13,285)

Note: 
The Original Published Budget from the Service Delivery Statement (SDS) has been revised to improve transparency and analysis with 
comparatives by remapping particular budgeted transactions on the same basis as reported in actual financial statements (revised SDS 
Budget). Reclassification in relation to the Statement of Financial Position has occurred for: 

• GST payable has been offset with GST receivable to align with the treatment required in the reporting of actual under Queensland 
Treasury’s Financial Reporting Requirements. 

• Accrued employee benefits and Unearned revenue in original SDS have been aggregated into Payables due to immateriality in size. 
• Any account groups displayed on the SDS with a zero balance have not been included in the statement.
• Equity has been dissected into Contributed equity, Accumulated surplus/deficit and Asset revaluation surplus for improved 

transparency.

Materiality for Notes commentary is based on the calculation of the line item’s actual value percentage of the group total. If the percentage is 
greater than 5%, the line item variance from budget to actual is reviewed. A note is provided for where this percentage is 5% or greater for 
Property, plant and equipment and 10% or greater for others.

E1.2 Explanation of Major Variances - Statement of Financial Position
7. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents have increased by $2.972 million over the original budgeted amount. This is due to higher than expected net cash 
inflows.
8. Receivables
Receivables have increased by $7.632 million above the original budget. These increases relate to revenues receivable from the Department of 
Health Queensland in relation to increased patient services provided, enhanced maternity services funding and enterprise bargaining wage 
increases.
9. Inventories
Inventories have increased by $0.633 million above the original budget. These increases have been in relation to an increase in non-imprest 
stock holdings partially offset by a decrease in Pharmaceuticals imprest holdings.
10. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment reduced by $28.262 due to the impact of the building valuation decrement.
11. Payables
Payables have decreased by $2.756 million in relation to the original budget. This predominately relates to lower than expected accrued 
expenses for several creditors including outsourced radiology services and pharmaceuticals. 
12. Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus decreased by $38.901 million, as result of comprehensive valuation on buildings.
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E1.1 Explanation of Major Variances - Statement of Comprehensive Income

1. User charges and fees
User charges and fees was $8.440 million above budget mainly due to Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) reimbursements associated with 
the high cost drugs (refer to ‘Supplies and services’ below).  The remaining increase is attributable to increased private patient activities and 
activities that could be reimbursed through third parties. 
2. Funding public health services
Funding public health services were $26.230 million over the original budget. Increased activities during the financial year contributed $13.551 
million to the increase. The remaining increase is associated with once-off specific purpose funding.
3. Employee expenses
Employee expenses were $4.288 million over budget compared to the SDS budget. During the year additional specialist medical staff (8.5 FTE) 
were recruited to the Health Service.  

4. Health service employee expenses
Health service employee expenses were over budget by $12.913 million due to an increase of staff (114 FTE) as a result of 9% increase in 
activity during the year. Refer to ‘funding public health services’ above.
5. Supplies and services
Supplies and services were above original budget by $20.120 million partly due to increased expenditure associated with the high cost drugs 
(which were fully reimbursed to the Health Service) and the operational costs associated with the increased activities especially around 
Outsourced Medical Imaging charges, Clinical Supplies, Consultancies, Electricity and Repairs and Maintenance.
6. Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus 
The variance reflects the outcome of the building and land improvement revaluations which resulted in a net decrement of $46.567 million.
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E1.2 BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARISON – STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Variance

Original 
SDS Budget Actual

Original SDS Budget V 
Actual

2017 2017 Variance Variance % 
of original 

budgetNotes $'000 $'000 $'000
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 11,135 14,107 2,972 27%
Receivables 8 10,871 18,503 7,632 70%
Inventories 9 3,171 3,804 633 20%
Other 1,142 2,126 984 86%
Total Current Assets 26,319 38,540 12,221

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 480,102 451,840 (28,262) (5.9)%
Total Non-Current Assets 480,102 451,840 (28,262)

Total Assets 506,421 490,380 (16,041)

Current Liabilities
Payables 11 30,576 27,820 (2,756) (9%)
Total Current Liabilities 30,576 27,820 (2,756)

Total Liabilities 30,576 27,820 (2,756)

Net Assets 475,845 462,560 (13,285)

Equity
Contributed equity 356,377 369,986 13,609 4%
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (2,357) 9,650 12,007 (509%)
Asset revaluation surplus 12 121,825 82,924 (38,901) (32%)
Total Equity 475,845 462,560 (13,285)

Note: 
The Original Published Budget from the Service Delivery Statement (SDS) has been revised to improve transparency and analysis with 
comparatives by remapping particular budgeted transactions on the same basis as reported in actual financial statements (revised SDS 
Budget). Reclassification in relation to the Statement of Financial Position has occurred for: 

• GST payable has been offset with GST receivable to align with the treatment required in the reporting of actual under Queensland 
Treasury’s Financial Reporting Requirements. 

• Accrued employee benefits and Unearned revenue in original SDS have been aggregated into Payables due to immateriality in size. 
• Any account groups displayed on the SDS with a zero balance have not been included in the statement.
• Equity has been dissected into Contributed equity, Accumulated surplus/deficit and Asset revaluation surplus for improved 

transparency.

Materiality for Notes commentary is based on the calculation of the line item’s actual value percentage of the group total. If the percentage is 
greater than 5%, the line item variance from budget to actual is reviewed. A note is provided for where this percentage is 5% or greater for 
Property, plant and equipment and 10% or greater for others.

E1.2 Explanation of Major Variances - Statement of Financial Position
7. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents have increased by $2.972 million over the original budgeted amount. This is due to higher than expected net cash 
inflows.
8. Receivables
Receivables have increased by $7.632 million above the original budget. These increases relate to revenues receivable from the Department of 
Health Queensland in relation to increased patient services provided, enhanced maternity services funding and enterprise bargaining wage 
increases.
9. Inventories
Inventories have increased by $0.633 million above the original budget. These increases have been in relation to an increase in non-imprest 
stock holdings partially offset by a decrease in Pharmaceuticals imprest holdings.
10. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment reduced by $28.262 due to the impact of the building valuation decrement.
11. Payables
Payables have decreased by $2.756 million in relation to the original budget. This predominately relates to lower than expected accrued 
expenses for several creditors including outsourced radiology services and pharmaceuticals. 
12. Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus decreased by $38.901 million, as result of comprehensive valuation on buildings.
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E1.3 BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARISON – STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Variance

Original 
SDS Budget Actual

Original SDS Budget V 
Actual

2017 2017 Variance Variance % 
of original 

budgetNotes $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Inflows
User charges and fees 13 33,589 46,094 12,505 37%
Funding public health services 480,734 467,304 (13,430) (3%)
Grants and other contributions 14,004 17,749 3,745 27%
GST input tax credits from ATO 12,662 12,339 (323) (3%)
GST collected from customers 674 463 (211) (31%)
Other receipts 2,686 3,805 1,119 42%

Outflows
Employee expenses 14 (41,852) (45,760) (3,908) 9%
Health service employee expenses (277,948) (289,260) (11,312) 4%
Supplies and services 15 (168,395) (193,394) (24,999) 15%
Grants and subsidies
GST paid to suppliers (12,623) (12,701) (78) 1%
GST remitted to ATO (709) (488) 221 (31%)
Other payments (1,967) (6,259) (4,292) 218%
Net cash from/(used by) operating activities 40,855 (108) (40,963)

Cash flows from investing activities
Inflows
Sales of property, plant and equipment 117 93 (24) (21%)

Outflows
Payments for property, plant and equipment 16 (3,932) (9,728) (5,796) 147%
Net cash from/(used by) investing activities (3,815) (9,635) (5,820)

Cash flows from financing activities
Inflows
Equity injections 17 3,932 8,604 4,672 119%

Outflows
Equity withdrawals (39,635) - 39,635
Net cash from/(used by) financing activities (35,703) 8,604 44,307

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,337 (1,139) (2,476)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 
year 9,798 15,246 5,448 56%
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year 11,135 14,107 2,972

Note: 
Original Published Budget from the Service Delivery Statement (SDS) has been revised to improve transparency and analysis with
comparatives by remapping particular budgeted transactions on the same basis as reported in actual financial statements (revised SDS 
Budget). Reclassification in relation to the Statement of Cash Flows has occurred for: 

• User charges in original SDS have been dissected into User charges and Funding public health services. User charges in original 
SDS included funding for depreciation of $31.264 million which is a non-cash transaction and excluded from the Statement of Cash 
Flows in audited financial statements. The other side to this transaction is an equity withdrawal of $31.264 million which has also been 
removed from SDS Cash flows from financing activities. 

• Other receipts in the original SDS has been further dissected into GST input tax credits from ATO, GST collected from customers and 
other receipts. Interest receipts have been rolled into other receipts as immaterial for actual reporting.

• Other payments in the original SDS has been further dissected into GST paid to suppliers, GST remitted to ATO and Other 
payments. 

• Grants and subsidies in original SDS have been rolled into Other expenses as immaterial by size for individual reporting. 
• Bank charges included in Other expenses in original SDS has been reclassified as Supplies and services. 
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Materiality for Notes commentary is based on the calculation of the line item’s actual value percentage of the group total. If the percentage is 
greater than 5%, the line item variance from budget to actual is reviewed. A note is provided for where this percentage is 5% or greater for 
Employee expenses, Supplies and services, and Property, plant and equipment and 10% or greater for others.

E1.3 Explanation of Major Variances - Statement of Cash Flows
13. User charges and fees
User charges and fees was $12.505 million above budget mainly due to Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) reimbursements associated 
with the high cost drugs (refer to ‘Supplies and services’ below).  The remaining increase is attributable to increased private patient activities 
and activities that could be reimbursed through third parties.
14. Employee expenses 
Employee expense outflows were $3.908 million over budget. The increase is primarily attributable to a higher increase in in-house specialist 
medical staff (8.5 FTE) than budgeted due to improved in-house recruitment of medical staff.
15. Supplies and Services 
Supplies and services were above original budget by $24.999 million partly due to increased expenditure associated with the high cost drugs 
(which were fully reimbursed to the Health Service) and the operational costs associated with the increased activates especially around 
Outsourced Medical Imaging charges, Clinical Supplies, Consultancies, Electricity and Repairs and Maintenance.
16. Payments for property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment payments were increased by $5.796 million above budget due to higher than expected payments in relation to 
completed capital projects such as the Cancer Care building at Rockhampton Hospital and the Gladstone Chiller Plant as well as works in 
progress payments such as the Gladstone Hospital Emergency project.
17. Equity injections
Equity injections have increased by $4.672 million due to higher than budgeted capital reimbursements from the Department of Health relating
to capital projects identified in Variance Note 16.
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E1.3 BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARISON – STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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Net cash from/(used by) financing activities (35,703) 8,604 44,307

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,337 (1,139) (2,476)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 
year 9,798 15,246 5,448 56%
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year 11,135 14,107 2,972

Note: 
Original Published Budget from the Service Delivery Statement (SDS) has been revised to improve transparency and analysis with
comparatives by remapping particular budgeted transactions on the same basis as reported in actual financial statements (revised SDS 
Budget). Reclassification in relation to the Statement of Cash Flows has occurred for: 

• User charges in original SDS have been dissected into User charges and Funding public health services. User charges in original 
SDS included funding for depreciation of $31.264 million which is a non-cash transaction and excluded from the Statement of Cash 
Flows in audited financial statements. The other side to this transaction is an equity withdrawal of $31.264 million which has also been 
removed from SDS Cash flows from financing activities. 

• Other receipts in the original SDS has been further dissected into GST input tax credits from ATO, GST collected from customers and 
other receipts. Interest receipts have been rolled into other receipts as immaterial for actual reporting.

• Other payments in the original SDS has been further dissected into GST paid to suppliers, GST remitted to ATO and Other 
payments. 

• Grants and subsidies in original SDS have been rolled into Other expenses as immaterial by size for individual reporting. 
• Bank charges included in Other expenses in original SDS has been reclassified as Supplies and services. 
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Materiality for Notes commentary is based on the calculation of the line item’s actual value percentage of the group total. If the percentage is 
greater than 5%, the line item variance from budget to actual is reviewed. A note is provided for where this percentage is 5% or greater for 
Employee expenses, Supplies and services, and Property, plant and equipment and 10% or greater for others.

E1.3 Explanation of Major Variances - Statement of Cash Flows
13. User charges and fees
User charges and fees was $12.505 million above budget mainly due to Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) reimbursements associated 
with the high cost drugs (refer to ‘Supplies and services’ below).  The remaining increase is attributable to increased private patient activities 
and activities that could be reimbursed through third parties.
14. Employee expenses 
Employee expense outflows were $3.908 million over budget. The increase is primarily attributable to a higher increase in in-house specialist 
medical staff (8.5 FTE) than budgeted due to improved in-house recruitment of medical staff.
15. Supplies and Services 
Supplies and services were above original budget by $24.999 million partly due to increased expenditure associated with the high cost drugs 
(which were fully reimbursed to the Health Service) and the operational costs associated with the increased activates especially around 
Outsourced Medical Imaging charges, Clinical Supplies, Consultancies, Electricity and Repairs and Maintenance.
16. Payments for property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment payments were increased by $5.796 million above budget due to higher than expected payments in relation to 
completed capital projects such as the Cancer Care building at Rockhampton Hospital and the Gladstone Chiller Plant as well as works in 
progress payments such as the Gladstone Hospital Emergency project.
17. Equity injections
Equity injections have increased by $4.672 million due to higher than budgeted capital reimbursements from the Department of Health relating
to capital projects identified in Variance Note 16.
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WHAT WE LOOK AFTER ON BEHALF OF THIRD PARTIESSECTION F

FIDUCIARY TRUST TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCESF1
The CQHHS acts in a custodial role in respect of these transactions and balances. As such, they are not recognised in the financial statements, 
but are disclosed below for information purposes. The activities of trust accounts are audited by the Queensland Audit Office (QAO) on an 
annual basis.

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Patient Trust receipts and payments
Receipts
Patient trust receipts 4,969 5,001
Total receipts 4,969 5,001

Payments
Patient trust payments 4,951 5,016
Total payments 4,951 5,016

Increase/decrease in net patient trust assets 18 (15)
Patient trust assets opening balance 1,026 1,042
Patient trust assets closing balance 1,044 1,027

Patient trust assets
Current assets
Cash at bank and on hand 661 652
Patient trust and refundable deposits 383 374
Total 1,044 1,026

GRANTED PRIVATE PRACTICEF2
Granted Private Practice permits Senior Medical Officers (SMOs) employed in the public health system to treat individuals who elect to be 
treated as private patients. SMOs receive a private practice allowance and assign practice revenue generated to the Hospital (Assignment 
arrangement). Alternatively SMOs pay a facility charge and administration fee to the Hospital and retain an agreed proportion of the private 
practice revenue (Retention arrangement) with the balance of revenue deposited into a trust account to fund research and education of clinical
staff.  In addition all SMOs engaged in private practice receive an incentive on top of their regular remuneration. Receipts and payments relating 
to both the granted private practice arrangements and right of private practice system during the financial year are as follows:

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Receipts
Billings - (Doctors and Visiting Medical Officers) 3,716 4,064
Total receipts 3,716 4,064

Payments
Payments to Senior Medical Officers and Visiting Medical Officers 9,619 8,619
Hospital and Health Service recoverable administrative costs 119 102
Hospital and Health Service education/travel fund 4 8
Total payments 9,742 8,729

2017 2016
$'000 $'000

Closing balance of bank account under a trust fund arrangement not yet disbursed and not 
restricted cash 70 58
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OTHER INFORMATIONSECTION G

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURESG1
As from 2016-17, the Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services is identified as part of the CQHHS’s KMP, consistent with 
additional guidance included in the revised version of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.
Ministerial remuneration entitlements are outlined in the Legislative Assembly of Queensland’s Members’ Remuneration Handbook. CQHHS 
does not bear any cost of remuneration of Ministers.  The majority of Ministerial entitlements are paid by the Legislative Assembly, with the 
remaining entitlements being provided by Ministerial Services Branch within the Department of the Premier and Cabinet.  As all Ministers are 
reported as KMP of the Queensland Government, aggregate remuneration expenses for all Ministers is disclosed in the Queensland General 
Government and Whole of Government Consolidated Financial Statements from 2016-17, which are published as part of Queensland 
Treasury’s Report on State Finances.
The following details for non-Ministerial KMP reflect key management personnel who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the CQHHS.
The following persons were considered key management personnel of the CQHHS during the current financial year.

Position Incumbent Contract Classification 
and Appointment 
Authority

Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of 
Resignation or 

Cessation

Non-executive Board Chair

Provide strategic leadership, guidance and effective 
oversight of management, operations and financial 
performance

Cr Paul Bell AM Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 Section 
25 (1)(a)

25 September 
2015

-

Non-executive Deputy Board Chair

Provide strategic leadership, guidance and effective 
oversight of management, operations and financial 
performance

Graeme Kanofski 
PSM

Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 Section 
25 (1)(b)

18 May 2013 -

Non-executive Board Members
Provide strategic leadership, guidance and effective 
oversight of management, operations and financial 
performance

Professor Leone 
Hinton

Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 Section 
23 (1)

29 June 2012 -

Francis Houlihan Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 Section 
23 (1)

9 November 2012 -

Karen Smith Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 Section 
23 (1)

18 May 2013 -

Elizabeth Baker Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 Section 
23 (1)

18 May 2013 -

Bronwyn 
Christensen

Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 Section 
23 (1)

29 June 2012 17 May 2017

Dr Poya 
Sobhanian

Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 Section 
23 (1)

18 May 2016 -

Dr Anna 
Vanderstaay

Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 Section 
23 (1)

18 May 2016 -

Lisa Caffery Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011 Section 
23 (1)

18 May 2016 -

Health Service Chief Executive
Responsible for the overall leadership and 
management of the CQHHS to ensure that CQHHS 
meets its strategic and operational objectives

Stephen 
Williamson

S24/s70 Appointed by 
Board under Hospital 
and Health Board Act 
2011 (Section 7 (3)).

9 January 2017 -

Jo Whitehead 
(acting)

HES 3 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

24 May 2016 8 January 2017

Deputy Health Service Chief Executive

Responsible for the overall leadership and 
management of the CQHHS to ensure that CQHHS 
meets its strategic and operational objectives

Jo Whitehead 
(acting)

HES 3 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

9 January 2017 26 February 
2017
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Position Incumbent Contract Classification 
and Appointment 
Authority

Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of 
Resignation or 

Cessation

Chief Finance Officer, Assets, and Commercial 
Services
Responsible for the management and oversight of 
the CQHHS finance framework including financial 
accounting, budget and performance management 
frameworks, assets and commercial services, 
information and technology, and corporate 
governance systems.

Mukunthan
Ganeshalingam

HES 3 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

16 August 2016 -

Sam Costanzo HES 3 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

8 July 2015 5 August 2016

Executive Director, Medical Services 
Rockhampton and Rural

Responsible for the strategic and professional 
responsibility for CQHHS medical workforce, and 
clinical governance.

Dr David Cooper MMO12  Appointed by 
CE under HHB Act 2011

1 July 2015 21 April 2017

Executive Director, Rockhampton Hospital

Responsible for the leadership, management and 
coordination of the Rockhampton Hospital Business 
Unit

Wendy Hoey HES 2 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

20 June 2016 -

Executive Director Medical Services Central 
Queensland*

Responsible for the strategic and professional 
functions for CQHHS medical workforce, and 
clinical governance.

*Previously known as Executive Director Medical 
Services Gladstone and Banana 

Dr Tim Smart MMOI2 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

27 June (acting 
from 9 March 

2016)

-

Executive Director, Gladstone and Banana
Responsible for the leadership, management and 
coordination of Gladstone and Banana Business 
Unit

Joanne Glover HES 2 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

29 August 2016 -

Brendan 
Docherty (acting)

HES 2 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

22 February 2016 10 July 2016

Executive Director of Nursing Midwifery Quality 
and Safety

Responsible for strategic and professional 
leadership of nursing workforce.

Sandralee Munro NRG12 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

20 July 2015 -

Executive Director, Rural District Wide Services

Responsible for the leadership, management and 
coordination of the Rural and District Wide Business 
Unit

Kieran Kinsella HES 2 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

25 November 
2016 (acting from 

4 April 2016)

-

Executive Director, Workforce
Responsible for provision of leadership and 
oversight of human resource, occupational health 
and safety functions, and Indigenous training and 
development for the Health Service.

Peter Patmore 
(seconded)

HES 2 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

5 September 2016 -

Director, Operations and Innovation

Responsible for leading development and 
implementation of a continuous service 
improvement approach across CQHHS

Steven Parnell DSO1 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

9 June 2015 -

Remuneration policy
Section 74(1) of the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 provides that each person appointed as a health executive must enter into a contract
of employment. The Health Service Chief Executive must enter into the contract of employment with the Chair of the Board for the Hospital and
Health Service and a Health Executive employed by a Hospital and Health Service must enter into a contract of employment with the Health
Service Chief Executive. The contract of employment must state the term of employment (no longer than 5 years per contract), the person’s
functions and any performance criteria as well as the person’s classification level and remuneration entitlements.

30

G1 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (continued)

Remuneration packages for key executive management personnel comprise the following components:
• Short-term employee benefits which include: Monetary benefits – consisting of base salary, allowances and leave entitlements paid 

and provided for the entire year or for that part of the year during which the employee occupied the specified position. Amounts 
disclosed equal the amount expensed in the statement of comprehensive income. Non-monetary benefits – consisting of provision 
of reportable as well as exempt benefits together with fringe benefits tax applicable to the benefit. Benefits provided to individual 
employees working for a public and non-profit hospital under a salary package arrangement where the grossed up value is equal or 
lower than $17,667 are not reported in this Note. 

• Long-term employee benefits include long service leave earned.
• Post-employment benefits include superannuation contributions. 
• Redundancy payments are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of employment provide only for 

notice periods or payment in lieu on termination, regardless of the reason for termination. 
• No performance bonuses were paid in the 2016-17 financial year (2016: $nil).

Board remuneration

Remuneration paid or owing to Board members during 2016-2017 was as follows:

Board Member

Short Term Employee Expenses

Post employee 
expenses Total ExpensesBase

Non-monetary 
expenses

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Paul Bell (AM) - Chair 92 - 8 100
Graeme Kanofski - Deputy Chair 52 - 4 56
Professor Leone Hinton 44 - 4 48
Francis Houlihan 47 - 4 51
Elizabeth Baker 49 - 5 54
Bronwyn Christensen 43 - 3 46
Dr Poya Sobhanian 48 - 5 53
Dr Anna Vanderstaay 45 - 5 50
Lisa Caffery 50 - 4 54
Karen Smith* - - - -
* Board members who are employed by either CQHHS or the Department of Health are paid board fees when approved by government

Remuneration paid or owing to Board members during 2015-16 was as follows:

Board Member

Short Term Employee Expenses

Post employee 
expenses Total ExpensesBase

Non-monetary 
expenses

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Paul Bell (AM) 39 - 4 43
Roy (Charles) Ware (cessation 16 May 16) 77 - 8 85
Graeme Kanofski (Deputy Chair) 51 - 5 56
Professor Leone Hinton 41 - 4 45
Francis Houlihan 54 - 6 60
Kurt Heidecker (cessation 16 November 15) 22 - 2 24
Elizabeth Baker 50 - 6 56
Bronwyn Christensen 46 - 5 51
Dr Poya Sobhanian 3 - - 3
Dr Anna Vanderstaay 3 - - 3
Lisa Caffery 3 - - 3
Karen Smith* - - - -

*Board members who are employed by either CQHHS or the Department of Health Queensland are paid Board fees when approved by 
government.
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Position Incumbent Contract Classification 
and Appointment 
Authority

Date of Initial 
Appointment

Date of 
Resignation or 

Cessation

Chief Finance Officer, Assets, and Commercial 
Services
Responsible for the management and oversight of 
the CQHHS finance framework including financial 
accounting, budget and performance management 
frameworks, assets and commercial services, 
information and technology, and corporate 
governance systems.

Mukunthan
Ganeshalingam

HES 3 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

16 August 2016 -

Sam Costanzo HES 3 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

8 July 2015 5 August 2016

Executive Director, Medical Services 
Rockhampton and Rural

Responsible for the strategic and professional 
responsibility for CQHHS medical workforce, and 
clinical governance.

Dr David Cooper MMO12  Appointed by 
CE under HHB Act 2011

1 July 2015 21 April 2017

Executive Director, Rockhampton Hospital

Responsible for the leadership, management and 
coordination of the Rockhampton Hospital Business 
Unit

Wendy Hoey HES 2 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

20 June 2016 -

Executive Director Medical Services Central 
Queensland*

Responsible for the strategic and professional 
functions for CQHHS medical workforce, and 
clinical governance.

*Previously known as Executive Director Medical 
Services Gladstone and Banana 

Dr Tim Smart MMOI2 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

27 June (acting 
from 9 March 

2016)

-

Executive Director, Gladstone and Banana
Responsible for the leadership, management and 
coordination of Gladstone and Banana Business 
Unit

Joanne Glover HES 2 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

29 August 2016 -

Brendan 
Docherty (acting)

HES 2 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

22 February 2016 10 July 2016

Executive Director of Nursing Midwifery Quality 
and Safety

Responsible for strategic and professional 
leadership of nursing workforce.

Sandralee Munro NRG12 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

20 July 2015 -

Executive Director, Rural District Wide Services

Responsible for the leadership, management and 
coordination of the Rural and District Wide Business 
Unit

Kieran Kinsella HES 2 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

25 November 
2016 (acting from 

4 April 2016)

-

Executive Director, Workforce
Responsible for provision of leadership and 
oversight of human resource, occupational health 
and safety functions, and Indigenous training and 
development for the Health Service.

Peter Patmore 
(seconded)

HES 2 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

5 September 2016 -

Director, Operations and Innovation

Responsible for leading development and 
implementation of a continuous service 
improvement approach across CQHHS

Steven Parnell DSO1 Appointed by CE 
under HHB Act 2011

9 June 2015 -

Remuneration policy
Section 74(1) of the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 provides that each person appointed as a health executive must enter into a contract
of employment. The Health Service Chief Executive must enter into the contract of employment with the Chair of the Board for the Hospital and
Health Service and a Health Executive employed by a Hospital and Health Service must enter into a contract of employment with the Health
Service Chief Executive. The contract of employment must state the term of employment (no longer than 5 years per contract), the person’s
functions and any performance criteria as well as the person’s classification level and remuneration entitlements.

30

G1 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (continued)

Remuneration packages for key executive management personnel comprise the following components:
• Short-term employee benefits which include: Monetary benefits – consisting of base salary, allowances and leave entitlements paid 

and provided for the entire year or for that part of the year during which the employee occupied the specified position. Amounts 
disclosed equal the amount expensed in the statement of comprehensive income. Non-monetary benefits – consisting of provision 
of reportable as well as exempt benefits together with fringe benefits tax applicable to the benefit. Benefits provided to individual 
employees working for a public and non-profit hospital under a salary package arrangement where the grossed up value is equal or 
lower than $17,667 are not reported in this Note. 

• Long-term employee benefits include long service leave earned.
• Post-employment benefits include superannuation contributions. 
• Redundancy payments are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of employment provide only for 

notice periods or payment in lieu on termination, regardless of the reason for termination. 
• No performance bonuses were paid in the 2016-17 financial year (2016: $nil).

Board remuneration

Remuneration paid or owing to Board members during 2016-2017 was as follows:

Board Member

Short Term Employee Expenses

Post employee 
expenses Total ExpensesBase

Non-monetary 
expenses

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Paul Bell (AM) - Chair 92 - 8 100
Graeme Kanofski - Deputy Chair 52 - 4 56
Professor Leone Hinton 44 - 4 48
Francis Houlihan 47 - 4 51
Elizabeth Baker 49 - 5 54
Bronwyn Christensen 43 - 3 46
Dr Poya Sobhanian 48 - 5 53
Dr Anna Vanderstaay 45 - 5 50
Lisa Caffery 50 - 4 54
Karen Smith* - - - -
* Board members who are employed by either CQHHS or the Department of Health are paid board fees when approved by government

Remuneration paid or owing to Board members during 2015-16 was as follows:

Board Member

Short Term Employee Expenses

Post employee 
expenses Total ExpensesBase

Non-monetary 
expenses

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Paul Bell (AM) 39 - 4 43
Roy (Charles) Ware (cessation 16 May 16) 77 - 8 85
Graeme Kanofski (Deputy Chair) 51 - 5 56
Professor Leone Hinton 41 - 4 45
Francis Houlihan 54 - 6 60
Kurt Heidecker (cessation 16 November 15) 22 - 2 24
Elizabeth Baker 50 - 6 56
Bronwyn Christensen 46 - 5 51
Dr Poya Sobhanian 3 - - 3
Dr Anna Vanderstaay 3 - - 3
Lisa Caffery 3 - - 3
Karen Smith* - - - -

*Board members who are employed by either CQHHS or the Department of Health Queensland are paid Board fees when approved by 
government.
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G1 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (continued)

Other key management personnel remuneration

2016-17

Position

Short Term Employee 
Expenses

Long term 
expenses

Post 
employee 
expenses

Termination 
benefits

Total 
expenses

Monetary 
expenses

Non-
monetary 
expenses

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Health Service Chief Executive  289 35 5 27 - 356
Deputy Health Service Chief Executive 36 - 1 4 - 41
Chief Finance Officer, Assets and Commercial 
Services 290 47 - 1 - 338
Executive Director Medical Service Central 
Queensland 460 38 9 34 - 541
Executive Director Medical Services Rockhampton 
and Rural 338 - 7 23 - 368
Executive Director, Rockhampton Hospital 204 - 4 16 - 224
Executive Director Gladstone and Banana 174 25 3 17 - 219
Executive Director Nursing, Midwifery, Quality and 
Safety 223 - 4 17 - 244
Executive Director Rural District Wide Services 188 - 4 16 - 208
Executive Director Workforce 158 21 3 17 - 199
Director Operations and Innovation 153 - 3 17 - 173

2015-16

Position

Short Term Employee 
Expenses

Long term 
expenses

Post 
employee 
expenses

Termination 
benefits

Total 
expenses

Monetary 
expenses

Non-
monetary 
expenses

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Health Service Chief Executive  408 7 7 38 - 460
Chief Finance Officer, Assets and Commercial 
Services 206 39 4 16 - 265
Executive Director Medical Services Rockhampton 
and Rural 502 - 10 37 - 549
Executive Director, Rockhampton Hospital 196 41 3 18 - 258
Executive Director Medical Services Gladstone 
Hospital 425 22 8 30 - 485
Executive Director Gladstone and Banana 232 20 4 21 - 277
Executive Director Nursing, Midwifery 255 - 1 4 - 260
Executive Director Quality and Safety 10 - - 2 - 12
Executive Director Rural District Wide Services 186 - 4 18 - 208
Executive Director Workforce 181 7 3 18 - 209
Director Operations and Innovation 154 6 3 18 - 181
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G1 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (continued)

Other key management personnel remuneration

2016-17

Position

Short Term Employee 
Expenses

Long term 
expenses

Post 
employee 
expenses

Termination 
benefits

Total 
expenses

Monetary 
expenses

Non-
monetary 
expenses

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Health Service Chief Executive  289 35 5 27 - 356
Deputy Health Service Chief Executive 36 - 1 4 - 41
Chief Finance Officer, Assets and Commercial 
Services 290 47 - 1 - 338
Executive Director Medical Service Central 
Queensland 460 38 9 34 - 541
Executive Director Medical Services Rockhampton 
and Rural 338 - 7 23 - 368
Executive Director, Rockhampton Hospital 204 - 4 16 - 224
Executive Director Gladstone and Banana 174 25 3 17 - 219
Executive Director Nursing, Midwifery, Quality and 
Safety 223 - 4 17 - 244
Executive Director Rural District Wide Services 188 - 4 16 - 208
Executive Director Workforce 158 21 3 17 - 199
Director Operations and Innovation 153 - 3 17 - 173

2015-16

Position

Short Term Employee 
Expenses

Long term 
expenses

Post 
employee 
expenses

Termination 
benefits

Total 
expenses

Monetary 
expenses

Non-
monetary 
expenses

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Health Service Chief Executive  408 7 7 38 - 460
Chief Finance Officer, Assets and Commercial 
Services 206 39 4 16 - 265
Executive Director Medical Services Rockhampton 
and Rural 502 - 10 37 - 549
Executive Director, Rockhampton Hospital 196 41 3 18 - 258
Executive Director Medical Services Gladstone 
Hospital 425 22 8 30 - 485
Executive Director Gladstone and Banana 232 20 4 21 - 277
Executive Director Nursing, Midwifery 255 - 1 4 - 260
Executive Director Quality and Safety 10 - - 2 - 12
Executive Director Rural District Wide Services 186 - 4 18 - 208
Executive Director Workforce 181 7 3 18 - 209
Director Operations and Innovation 154 6 3 18 - 181
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONSG2
Transactions with people/entities related to Key Management Personnel
There are no transactions with people/entities related to KMP.

Transactions with Queensland Government controlled entities
CQHHS is controlled by its ultimate parent entity, the State of Queensland. All State of Queensland controlled entities meet the definition of a 
related party in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.

Department of Health Queensland

Procurement of public hospital services

CQHHS receives funding in accordance with a service agreement with the Department. The Department receives its revenue from the 
Queensland Government (majority of funding) and the Commonwealth. CQHHS is funded for eligible services through block funding; activity 
based funding or a combination of both. Activity based funding is based on an agreed number of activities per the service agreement and a 
state-wide price by which relevant activities are funded. Block funding is not based on levels of public care activity.

The funding from Department is provided predominantly for specific public health services purchased by the Department from CQHHS in 
accordance with a service agreement between the Department and CQHHS. The service agreement is reviewed periodically and updated for 
changes in activities and prices of services delivered by CQHHS.

The signed service agreements are published on the Queensland Government website and publically available. The 2016-17 service agreement 
was for $566.341million.

Health Service employees

CQHHS is not a prescribed employer and 2,680 health service employees (average MOHRI FTE) are employed by the Department and 
contracted to work for CQHHS.

Services received below fair value

In addition, the Department provides a number of services including payroll services, accounts payable services, finance transactional services, 
taxation services, procurement services and information technology infrastructure services.  As the fair values of these services are unable to be 
reliably estimated, no associated revenue or expenditure is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Any associated CQHHS business expenses paid by Department on behalf of CQHHS for providing these services are recouped by the 
Department.

Queensland Treasury Corporation

CQHHS has accounts with the Queensland Treasury Corporation for general and fiduciary trust monies 

Department of Housing and Public Works

CQHHS pays rent to the Department of Housing and Public Works for a number of properties used for employee accommodation, offices etc. In 
addition, the Department of Housing and Public Works provides vehicle fleet management services (QFleet) to CQHHS.

Transactions between Hospital and Health Services

Payments to and receipts from other Hospital and Health Services occur to facilitate the transfer of patients, drugs, staff and other incidentals.

Other

Grants are also received from other governments departments and related parties but they are no individually significant transactions.

FEDERAL TAXATION CHARGESG3
CQHHS is a State body as defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is exempt from Commonwealth taxation with the exception 
of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods and Services Tax (GST). The Australian Taxation Office has recognised the Department of Health 
Queensland and the sixteen Hospital and Health Services as a single taxation entity for reporting purposes. 

All FBT and GST reporting to the Commonwealth is managed centrally by the Department, with payments/ receipts made on behalf of the 
Hospital and Health Services reimbursed to/from the Department on a monthly basis. GST credits receivable from, and GST payable to the 
ATO, are recognised on this basis.
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MANAGEMENT CERTIFICATE

Certificate of Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to section 62(1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009
(the Act), relevant sections of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 and other prescribed requirements. In 
accordance with section 62(1) (b) of the Act we certify that in our opinion:

a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all material respects; and

b) the statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with prescribed accounting standards, of the 
transactions of CQHHS for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 and of the financial position of the Hospital and Health Service 
at the end of that year.

c) these assertions are based on an appropriate system of internal controls and risk management processes being effective, in all
material respects, with respect to financial reporting throughout the reporting period.

 

 

 

Cr Paul Bell, AM Steve Williamson Mukunthan Ganeshalingam MBA(Exec),CPA
Chairperson Health Service Chief Executive Chief Finance Officer

9.7. Management Certificate
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

To the Board of Central Queensland Hospital and Health Services
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

To the Board of Central Queensland Hospital and Health Services

9.8. Independent Auditors report
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Appendices
Chapter 10

10. Appendices
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10.1. Compliance Checklist

Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report 
reference

Letter of compliance • A letter of compliance from the 
accountable officer or statutory body to the 
relevant Minister/s

ARRs – section 7 page i

Accessibility • Table of contents 
• Glossary

ARRs – section 9.1 page vii
page 85

• Public availability ARRs – section 9.2 inside front cover

• Interpreter service statement Queensland Government Language Services Policy

ARRs – section 9.3

inside front cover

• Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968
ARRs – section 9.4

inside front cover

• Information Licensing QGEA – Information Licensing

ARRs – section 9.5

inside front cover

General information • Introductory Information ARRs – section 10.1 page iv

• Agency role and main functions ARRs – section 10.2 page iv

• Operating environment ARRs – section 10.3 page vi

Non-financial 
performance

• Government’s objectives for the community ARRs – section 11.1 page iv

• Other whole-of-government plans/specific 
initiatives

ARRs – section 11.2 page iv

• Agency objectives and performance indicators ARRs – section 11.3 page 42

• Agency service areas and service standards ARRs – section 11.4 page 32

Financial performance • Summary of financial performance ARRs – section 12.1 page 30

Governance – 
management and 
structure

• Organisational structure ARRs – section 13.1 page 14

• Executive management ARRs – section 13.2 page 24

• Government bodies (statutory bodies and other 
entities)

ARRs – section 13.3 n/a

• Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics Act 1994

ARRs – section 13.4

page 11

• Queensland public service values ARRs – section 13.5 page 11

Governance – risk 
management and 
accountability

• Risk management ARRs – section 14.1 page 26

• Audit committee ARRs – section 14.2 page 19

• Internal audit ARRs – section 14.3 page 23

• External scrutiny ARRs – section 14.4 page 25

• Information systems and recordkeeping ARRs – section 14.5 pages 26-27

Governance – human 
resources

• Workforce planning and performance ARRs – section 15.1 pages 10-13

• Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment Directive No.11/12 Early Retirement, Redundancy 
and Retrenchment

Directive No.16/16 Early Retirement, Redundancy 
and Retrenchment (from 20 May 2016)

ARRs – section 15.2

page 13

Open Data • Statement advising publication of information ARRs – section 16 inside front cover

• Consultancies ARRs – section 33.1 inside front cover

• Overseas travel ARRs – section 33.2 inside front cover

• Queensland Language Services Policy ARRs – section 33.3 inside front cover

Financial statements • Certification of financial statements FAA – section 62
FPMS – sections 42, 43 and 50
ARRs – section 17.1

page 76

• Independent Auditor’s Report FAA – section 62
FPMS – section 50
ARRs – section 17.2

pages 77-80

FAA Financial Accountability Act 2009      FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009
ARRs Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies
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10.2. Abbreviations

Abbreviation Full Name

AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board
CE Chief Executive
CMC Crime and Misconduct Commission
CQHHS Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service
CT computed tomography
DHPW Department of Housing and Public Works
EQuIP edition of the ACHS Evaluation and Quality Improvement Program
FBT Fringe Benefit Tax
FTE Full time equivalent
GP General Practice
GST Goods and Services Tax
HARP Hospital Avoidance Risk Program
HES health executive service
HHS Hospital and Health Service
HR Human Resources
ICU Intensive Care Unit
IS Information Standards
MPHS Multi-Purpose Health Service
MRI Magnetic resonance imaging
PPE Property, Plant and Equipment
QAO Queensland Audit Office
QGIF Queensland Government Insurance Fund
RCA Root Cause Analyses
ROPP Right of Private Practice
SAC1 Severity Assessment Code 1
SVS State Valuation Service
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10.3. Glossary

Word Definition

Accessible Accessible healthcare is characterised by the ability of people to obtain appropriate healthcare at the right 
place and right time, irrespective of income, cultural background or geography.

Activity Based 
Funding (ABF)

A management tool with the potential to enhance public accountability and drive technical efficiency in the delivery 
of health services by:
• capturing consistent and detailed information on hospital sector activity and accurately measuring the costs of 

delivery
• creating an explicit relationship between funds allocated and services provided
• strengthening management’s focus on outputs, outcomes and quality
• encouraging clinicians and managers to identify variations in costs and practices so they can be managed at a 

local level in the context of improving efficiency and effectiveness
• providing mechanisms to reward good practice and support quality initiatives.

Acute Having a short and relatively severe course.

Acute care Care in which the clinical intent or treatment goal is to:
• manage labour (obstetric)
• cure illness or provide definitive treatment of injury
• perform surgery
• relieve symptoms of illness or injury (excluding palliative care)
• reduce severity of an illness or injury
• protect against exacerbation and/or complication of an illness and/or injury that could threaten life or 

normal function
• perform diagnostic or therapeutic procedures.

Admission The process whereby a hospital accepts responsibility for a patient’s care and/or treatment. It follows a 
clinical decision, based on specified criteria, that a patient requires same-day or overnight care or treatment, 
which can occur in hospital and/or in the patient’s home (for hospital-in-the-home patients).

Allied Health staff Professional staff who meet mandatory qualifications and regulatory requirements in the following areas: 
audiology; clinical measurement sciences; dietetics and nutrition; exercise physiology; leisure therapy; 
medical imaging; music therapy; nuclear medicine technology; occupational therapy; orthoptics; pharmacy; 
physiotherapy; podiatry; prosthetics and orthotics; psychology; radiation therapy; sonography; speech 
pathology and social work.

Benchmarking Involves collecting performance information to undertake comparisons of performance with similar 
organisations.

Best practice Cooperative way in which organisations and their employees undertake business activities in all key 
processes, and use benchmarking that can be expected to lead to sustainable world class positive outcomes.

Clinical governance A framework by which health organisations are accountable for continuously improving the quality of their 
services and safeguarding high standards of care by creating an environment in which excellence in clinical 
care will flourish.

Clinical practice Professional activity undertaken by health professionals to investigate patient symptoms and prevent and/or 
manage illness, together with associated professional activities for patient care.

Clinical workforce Staff who are or who support health professionals working in clinical practice, have healthcare specific 
knowledge/ experience, and provide clinical services to health consumers, either directly and/or indirectly, 
through services that have a direct impact on clinical outcomes.

e-Health Since 2007 Queensland Health has been working on an e-Health agenda that aims to create a single shared 
electronic medical record (eMR) which will be delivered through the use of information and communication 
technology.

The vision of the e-Health Program is to enable a patient-centric focus to healthcare delivery across a 
networked model of care.

e-Learning QH Online Training Environments. ELMO http://elmolearning.com.au/ and iLearn

e-plan Computerised plan storage room.

Emergency 
department waiting 
time

Time elapsed for each patient from presentation to the emergency department to start of services by the 
treating clinician. It is calculated by deducting the date and time the patient presents from the date and time 
of the service event.

Full time equivalent 
(FTE)

Refers to full-time equivalent staff currently working in a position.

Health outcome Change in the health of an individual, group of people or population attributable to an intervention or series 
of interventions.
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Word Definition

Health reform Response to the National Health and Hospitals Reform Commission Report (2009) that outlined 
recommendations for transforming the Australian health system, the National Health and Hospitals Network 
Agreement (NHHNA) signed by the Commonwealth and states and territories, other than Western Australia, 
in April 2010 and the National Health Reform Heads of Agreement (HoA) signed in February 2010 by the 
Commonwealth and all states and territories amending the NHHNA.

Hospital Healthcare facility established under Commonwealth, state or territory legislation as a hospital or a free-
standing day-procedure unit and authorised to provide treatment and/or care to patients.

Hospital and Health 
Board

The Hospital and Health Boards are made up of a mix of members with expert skills and knowledge relevant 
to managing a complex health care organisation.

Hospital and Health 
Service

Hospital and Health Service (HHS) are separate legal entities established by Queensland Government to 
deliver public hospital services.

Hospital in the 
home (HITH)

Provision of care to hospital-admitted patients in their place of residence, as a substitute for hospital 
accommodation.

Incidence Number of new cases of a condition occurring within a given population, over a certain period of time.

Indigenous health 
worker

An Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander person who holds the specified qualification and works within a 
primary healthcare framework to improve health outcomes for Indigenous Australians.

Long wait A ‘long wait’ elective surgery patient is one who has waited longer than the clinically recommended time for 
their surgery, according to the clinical urgency category assigned. That is, more than 30 days for a category 1 
patient, more than 90 days for a category 2 patient and more than 365 days for a category 3 patient.

Medicare Local Established by the Commonwealth to coordinate primary health care services across all providers in a 
geographic area. Works closely with HHSs to identify and address local health needs.

Medical practitioner A person who is registered with the Medical Board of Australia to practice medicine in Australia, including 
general and specialist practitioners.

Nurse practitioner A registered nurse educated and authorised to function autonomously and collaboratively in an advanced 
and extended clinical role. The nurse practitioner role includes assessing and managing clients using nursing 
knowledge and skills and may include, but is not limited to, direct referral of clients to other healthcare 
professionals, prescribing medications, and ordering diagnostic investigations.

Outpatient Non-admitted health service provided or accessed by an individual at a hospital or health service facility.

Outpatient service Examination, consultation, treatment or other service provided to non-admitted non-emergency patients in a 
speciality unit or under an organisational arrangement administered by a hospital.

Overnight stay 
patient

A patient who is admitted to, and separated from, the hospital on different dates (not same-day patients).

Patient flow Optimal patient flow means the patient’s journey through the hospital system, be it planned or unplanned, 
happens in the safest, most streamlined and timely way to deliver good patient care.

Performance 
indicator

A measure that provides an ‘indication’ of progress towards achieving the organisation’s objectives. Usually 
has targets that define the level of performance expected against the performance indicator.

Private hospital A private hospital or free-standing day hospital, and either a hospital owned by a for-profit company or a 
non-profit organisation and privately funded through payment for medical services by patients or insurers. 
Patients admitted to private hospitals are treated by a doctor of their choice.

Public patient A public patient is one who elects to be treated as a public patient, so cannot choose the doctor who treats 
them, or is receiving treatment in a private hospital under a contract arrangement with a public hospital or 
health authority.

Public hospital Public hospitals offer free diagnostic services, treatment, care and accommodation to eligible patients.

Registered nurse An individual registered under national law to practice in the nursing profession as a nurse, other than as a 
student.

Statutory bodies / 
authorities

A non-departmental government body, established under an Act of Parliament. Statutory bodies can include 
corporations, regulatory authorities and advisory committees/councils.

Sustainable A health system that provides infrastructure, such as workforce, facilities and equipment, and is innovative 
and responsive to emerging needs, for example, research and monitoring within available resources.

Telehealth Delivery of health-related services and information via telecommunication technologies, including: 
• live, audio and/or video inter-active links for clinical consultations and educational purposes
• store-and-forward Telehealth, including digital images, video, audio and clinical (stored) on a client 

computer, then transmitted securely (forwarded) to a clinic at another location where they are studied by 
relevant specialists

• teleradiology for remote reporting and clinical advice for diagnostic images
• Telehealth services and equipment to monitor people’s health in their home.

The Viewer The Viewer is a read-only web-based application that displays consolidated clinical information sourced from 
a number of existing Queensland Health enterprise clinical and administrative systems.

Triage category Urgency of a patient’s need for medical and nursing care.

Wayfinding Signs, maps and other graphic or audible methods used to convey locations and directions.
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